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Financial Highlights 

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS”) MEASURES:

• Revenue was RMB407.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, composed of RMB175.1 
million in sales of pharmaceutical products (avapritinib and pralsetinib), RMB204.0 million in license fee 
income and RMB28.1 million in royalty income of sugemalimab, representing a year-on-year increase 
of RMB108.3 million, or 113.1%, in license fee which was largely offset by a decrease in revenue from 
sales of pharmaceutical products, such that total revenue decreased by RMB56.6 million, or 12.2%, 
year-on-year.

• Research and development expenses were RMB134.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
representing a decrease of RMB393.1 million from RMB527.8 million for the year ended December 31, 
2023, primarily due to a decrease in milestone fee and third party contracting costs.

• Administrative expenses were RMB77.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, representing 
a decrease of RMB104.9 million from RMB182.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, 
primarily due to a decrease in employee costs.

• Selling and marketing expenses were RMB133.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
representing a decrease of RMB65.5 million from RMB199.3 million for the year ended December 31, 
2023, primarily attributable to a decrease in employee costs and others which was partially offset by an 
increase in channel service fee.

• Loss for the year was RMB91.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, representing a 
decrease of RMB276.0 million, or 75.2%, from RMB367.2 million for the year ended December 31, 
2023, primarily attributable to a substantial decrease in operating expenses.

• Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits were RMB672.9 million as of December 31, 2024.

NON-INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“NON-IFRS”) MEASURES:

• Research and development expenses excluding the share-based payment expenses were RMB124.7 
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, representing a decrease of RMB410.0 million from 
RMB534.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to a decrease in milestone fee 
and third party contracting costs.

• Administrative and selling and marketing expenses excluding the share-based payment expenses 
were RMB224.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, representing a decrease of RMB113.8 
million from RMB338.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily attributable to a 
decrease in employee costs.

• Loss for the year excluding the share-based payment expenses was RMB94.0 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2024, representing a decrease of RMB236.2 million, or 71.5%, from RMB330.2 
million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily attributable to a substantial decrease in 
operating expenses.
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As at December 31/year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Non-IFRS measures
Research and development expenses
 (excluding the share-based payment
 expenses) (124,661) (534,710) (559,147) (1,182,110) (1,245,712)
Administrative expenses & Selling and 

marketing expenses (excluding the 
share-based payment expenses) (224,387) (338,159) (489,316) (561,548) (287,607)

Loss for the year (excluding the non-IFRS
 adjustments) (94,018) (330,241) (760,616) (1,697,429) (864,976)

IFRS measures
Revenue 407,205 463,842 481,363 243,718 1,038,832
Cost of revenue (167,051) (159,547) (202,985) (106,832) (241,421)
Other income 27,058 50,608 18,722 45,773 51,671
Other gains and losses 2,985 199,544 (776) (134,188) (179,419)
Research and development expenses (134,657) (527,799) (614,162) (1,304,945) (1,404,684)
Administrative expenses (77,802) (182,714) (249,062) (297,596) (342,508)
Selling and marketing expenses (133,778) (199,349) (327,301) (363,788) (142,150)
Finance costs (15,167) (11,819) (8,477) (2,242) (1,320)
Loss for the year (91,207) (367,234) (902,678) (1,920,100) (1,220,999)
Loss per share
 Basic and diluted (RMB) (0.07) (0.29) (0.77) (1.65) (1.17)

Cash and cash equivalents and
 time deposits 672,937 1,026,671 1,042,091 1,603,444 3,383,418
Total assets 1,393,466 1,661,999 1,638,427 2,271,453 3,762,752
Total liabilities 1,029,595 1,205,169 1,189,101 1,064,445 808,292
Total equity 363,871 456,830 449,326 1,207,008 2,954,460
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Business Highlights

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and up until the date of this annual report, we advanced our 
globalization strategy, expanded our development pipeline, and strengthened our commercial footprint 
through targeted partnerships. Key milestones have been achieved across regulatory approvals, clinical 
advancements, and strategic collaborations, reinforcing our position as a leader in innovative therapeutics.

Commercial Products

• CEJEMLY® (sugemalimab), anti-PD-L1 antibody

– Global expansion and regulatory approvals

CEJEMLY® secured three new drug application (“NDA”) approvals in 2024, including its fifth 
indication in mainland China for first-l ine treatment of gastric/gastroesophageal junction 
adenocarcinoma (“GC/GEJC”). Sugemalimab also gained approvals in the European Union  
(“E.U.”) and United Kingdom (“U.K.”) for first-line treatment of stage IV non-small cell lung 
cancer (“NSCLC”), marking its entry into major international markets. We have recently completed 
the regulatory submission to the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) for the new indication 
application of sugemalimab in the treatment of stage III NSCLC.

– Strategic alliances drive global commercialization

▪ Partnered with Ewopharma AG (“Ewopharma”) in May 2024 for commercialization in 
Central and Eastern Europe (“CEE”) and Switzerland.

▪	 Collaborated with Pharmalink Store – L.L.C – O.P.C (“Pharmalink”) in November 2024 to 
expand market access across the Middle East, North Africa (“MENA”) Region and South 
Africa.

▪ Entered a collaboration agreement with SteinCares (“SteinCares”) in January 2025 for Latin 
America (“LATAM”) Region.

▪ Additional partnerships in Western Europe, Southeast Asia, and Canada are anticipated in 
2025.

– Robust clinical data reinforce efficacy

▪ GEMSTONE-304 Study: Final progression-free survival (“PFS”) and interim overall survival 
(“OS”) data for the first-line esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (“ESCC”) published in 
Nature Medicine  (February 2024).

▪ GEMSTONE-302 Study: Four-year OS data for stage IV NSCLC presented at the 2024 
Congress of European Society for Medical Oncology (“ESMO”), confirming sustained survival 
benefits.

▪ GEMSTONE-303 Study: Final PFS and OS analysis for GC/GEJC with combined positive score 
(“CPS”) ≥5 published in the top-tier medical journal – Journal of the American Medical 
Association  (February 2025).

▪ ESMO Guideline Recognition: CEJEMLY® recommended as first-line NSCLC therapy in ESMO’s 
2025 Non-Oncogene-Addicted Metastatic NSCLC Living Guidelines (February 2025).
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• AYVAKIT® (avapritinib), KIT/PDGFRA inhibitor

– Localized manufacturing in China

The National Medical Products Administration of China (“NMPA”) approved domestic production 
of AYVAKIT® tablets (300 mg and 100 mg) in June and August 2024 respectively. Full transition to 
localized supply is expected in 2025, improving cost efficiency.

– NRDL inclusion enhances accessibility

AYVAKIT® (avapritinib) has been included to China’s National Reimbursement Drug List (“NRDL”), 
effective January 1, 2024 for unresectable or metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumor (“GIST”), 
harboring the PDGFRA exon 18-mutated, including PDGFRA D842V mutations. This significantly 
improves AYVAKIT®’s affordability for eligible patients.

– Commercial partnership with Hengrui

In July 2024, we forged a new partnership with Jiangsu Hengrui Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. 
(“Hengrui”), granting them the exclusive promotion rights in mainland China to amplify 
commercial reach and profitability.

• GAVRETO® (pralsetinib), RET inhibitor

– Progress towards localized manufacturing

The NMPA’s Center for Drug Evaluation (“CDE”) accepted the manufacturing localization and 
bioequivalence (“BE”) study application in April 2024, and regulatory review is ongoing.

– Sustained collaboration with Allist

Commercial operations has been transferred to Shanghai Allist Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd (“Allist”) 
in the first half of 2024 under an exclusive agreement signed in November 2023. Collaboration 
remains strong to maximize market penetration.
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Clinical Stage Core Assets

• CS5001 (ROR1 ADC)

– Phase Ib clinical trial with registration potential

A global multicenter clinical trial of CS5001 is actively enrolling patients across the United States 
of America (“U.S.”), Australia and China. Recruitment is ongoing for monotherapy cohorts 
targeting aggressive and indolent advanced lymphomas with potential to be expanded into a 
Phase II single-arm registrational study. Additional cohorts, including CS5001 in combination with 
R-CHOP (Rituximab + Cyclophosphamide + Hydroxydaunorubicin + Vincristine + Prednisone) for 
the first-line diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (“DLBCL”), and CS5001 in combination with standard 
of cares (“SOC”) for front-line DLBCL will be initiated to expand the therapeutic potential of 
CS5001 across all DLBCL stages. CS5001 is also being studied as both a monotherapy and in 
combination with a PD-L1 inhibitor for advanced solid tumors, underscoring its versatility across 
oncology indications.

– Compelling clinical data at ASCO & ASH 2024

Phase Ia data for CS5001 presented at the 2024 American Society of Clinical Oncology (“ASCO”) 
Annual Meeting and the 66th American Society of Hematology (“ASH”) Annual Meeting 
demonstrated that CS5001 is so far the first receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 1 
(“ROR1”) antibody-drug conjugate (“ADC”) known to demonstrate clinical anti-tumor activity 
in both solid tumors and lymphomas. Clinical data of CS5001 revealed superior efficacy and 
favorable safety profile as a monotherapy for both aggressive and indolent advanced lymphomas. 
At the tentative recommended Phase II dose (“RP2D”) (125 μg/kg), CS5001 achieved an objective 
response rate (“ORR”) of 70% in non-Hodgkin lymphoma (“NHL”) and 100% in Hodgkin 
lymphoma  (“HL”). These results support its potential as a faster-to-market candidate and a 
frontline combination therapy backbone.

• CS2009 (PD-1/VEGF/CTLA-4 trispecific antibody)

– Global Phase I clinical trial initiated

A global multicenter first-in-human (“FIH”) trial among solid tumors has been launched in 
Australia in December 2024, with subsequent expansion to China and the U.S. The first patient 
was dosed in March 2025.

– Potential FIC/BIC next-generation I/O backbone

Preclinical data presented at the 39th Annual Meeting of the Society for Immunotherapy of 
Cancer (“SITC”) highlighted its first-in-class (“FIC”) or best-in-class (“BIC”) potential with 
superior antitumor activity compared to potential competitors benchmarks, including PD-1/
CTLA-4 bispecif ic antibody or PD-1/VEGF bispecif ic antibody and anti-PD-1/anti-CTLA-4 
combination therapies. Unique trispecific mechanism positions CS2009 as a next-generation 
immuno-oncology backbone with broad applicability.
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Preclinical/IND-enabling Stage Programs and ADC Platform

CStone’s preclinical pipeline includes more than nine promising candidates, each with global rights and 
focusing on FIC/BIC profiles with broad indications. These candidates include multispecific antibodies, ADCs 
and radionuclide drug conjugates (“RDC”)  covering various therapeutic fields such as oncology, autoimmune 
diseases, and metabolic disorders. CStone is dedicated to delivering clinical value through the development 
of these Pipeline 2.0 candidates, which will undergo international, multi-center clinical trials to maximize 
their global potential.

CStone has also developed an in-house ADC technology platform featuring proprietary linkers, optimized for 
diverse targets and payloads. This platform supports multiple ADC products in Pipeline 2.0, including CS5007 
(dual targeting epidermal growth factor receptor (“EGFR”) and human epidermal growth factor receptor 3 
(“HER3”)), CS5005 (targeting somatostatin receptor 2 (“SSTR2”)), CS5008 (dual targeting delta-like ligand 
3 (“DLL3”) and SSTR2) and CS5006 (targeting ITGB4).

FUTURE AND OUTLOOK

Our mission is to deliver transformative therapies through scientific excellence and technological innovation, 
making high-quality treatments accessible worldwide to benefit patients and their families.

As we look to the future, we reaffirm our commitment to advancing a robust and differentiated pipeline by 
prioritizing internal discovery capabilities and sustained R&D investments. Concurrently, we aim to maximize 
the global commercial potential of our approved drugs through strategic collaborations and localized 
manufacturing. Key growth drivers in 2025 include:

• Clinical milestones

– Progress CS5001 (ROR1 ADC) and CS2009 (PD-1/VEGF/CTLA-4 trispecific antibody) towards pivotal 
trials and in parallel pursue global partnerships to expedite development.

– Advance early-stage candidates (e.g., CS2011, CS5007, CS5005, CS5008, CS5006) into clinical 
stages within the next two years.

• Commercial excellence:

– Maximize the value of approved products through strategic collaborations and manufacturing 
localization (e.g., AYVAKIT®, GAVRETO®) to enhance profitability and market reach.

– Accelerate ex-China commercialization of sugemalimab via regional partnerships.

• Innovation and technology:

– Strengthen proprietary platforms (e.g., ADC technology) to sustain pipeline growth.

– Present key clinical data at major conferences (e.g., AACR, ESMO, ASH).

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REQUIRED BY RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE LISTING RULES: WE MAY NOT BE 
ABLE TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP OR MARKET ANY OF OUR PIPELINE PRODUCTS SUCCESSFULLY.
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Chairman’s Statement
 

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am honored to present our Group’s Annual Report for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2024. In a year marked by dynamic changes in the global biopharmaceutical landscape, 
your unwavering trust in our vision has been the cornerstone of our resilience and growth. We extend our 
deepest gratitude for your ongoing partnership in our pursuit of scientific innovation.

The year 2024 was transformative to CStone. Amidst accelerated industry consolidation, intensifying 
competition, and geopolitical uncertainties, we executed a decisive strategic pivot that has positioned us 
as a global innovation creator. By advancing our pipeline, optimizing our portfolio, and driving operational 
efficacy, we accomplished historic milestones: first-time profitability in the first half of 2024, sustained 
improvements in our financial performance in the full year of 2024, and groundbreaking progress in global 
partnerships and encouraging results for our clinical stage lead assets. These achievements underscore our 
transformation into a financially sustainable, science-driven biopharmaceutical company with a robust global 
footprint and an internationally competitive pipeline.

A defining achievement this year was the international expansion of CEJEMLY® (sugemalimab), 
which is the first anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibody developed by a Chinese biopharmaceutical company to 
secure EU and UK approvals for first-line stage IV NSCLC. We have since submitted application to the EMA 
for stage III NSCLC, positioning sugemalimab to potentially become the second PD-(L)1 antibody approved 
in Europe for this indication. In China, sugemalimab earned its fifth approval for first-line GC/GEJC, 
further solidifying its leadership. Our strategic alliances with partners such as Ewopharma, Pharmalink, and 
SteinCares now span over 40 countries, unlocking significant commercial potential and underscoring our 
global capabilities.

Our targeted therapies, AYVAKIT® (avapritinib) and GAVRETO® (pralsetinib), also demonstrated strong 
momentum. Following the inclusion in China’s NRDL and our collaboration with Hengrui, avapritinib saw 
a substantial volume increase. In addition, avapritinib’s domestic supply commenced in February 2025 in 
China, driving a significant gross margin increase. Pralsetinib’s manufacturing localization – pending NMPA 
approval – will strengthen domestic market competitiveness through cost leadership. The success of our 
Pipeline 1.0 in-market products is set to propel CStone beyond breakeven towards sustainable growth, 
generating reliable cash flow to fuel future innovation.
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Our Pipeline 2.0 is poised to forge global first-in-class or best-in-class therapies. CS5001 (ROR1 ADC), 
now among the top two global candidates in its class, presented compelling Phase Ia data at ASCO and 
ASH 2024, demonstrating superior efficacy in both aggressive and indolent lymphomas. We are expanding 
its application into solid tumors and frontline lymphoma, as monotherapy or in combination, in an ongoing 
Phase Ib global trial. Equally promising is CS2009, our PD-1/VEGF/CTLA-4 trispecific antibody with unique 
molecular design, which has entered a global Phase I trial with the potential to become a next-generation 
immuno-oncology backbone covering a wide spectrum of tumors. Our proprietary ADC platform, integrating 
high-selectivity antibodies, cleavable linkers, and optimized payloads, continues to generate novel candidates 
with global proprietary rights, including SSTR2 ADC, ITGB4 ADC, and bispecific ADCs such as EGFR/HER3, 
SSTR2/DLL3, B7H3/PD-L1, etc., reinforcing our advantage in next-generation therapeutics.

We cannot emphasize enough our gratitude to the patients who entrust us with hopes, the researchers who 
relentlessly challenge scientific boundaries, and our exceptional team members – your tireless dedication 
gives rise to transformative medicines. To our shareholders, we want to express our appreciation for your 
unwavering trust in our mission, where strategic rigor meets science to yield both meaningful human impact 
and considerable value.

As we enter 2025, we remain focused on three priorities: accelerating the global commercialization 
of CEJEMLY® (sugemalimab), advancing our clinical-stage assets toward pivotal milestones, 
and deepening strategic partnerships to amplify innovation. With a solid financial position, a 
differentiated pipeline, and a globally recognized development team, CStone is uniquely positioned 
to deliver sustained growth and value creation.

Dr. Wei Li
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Suzhou, PRC, March 27, 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUR VISION

To be a pioneer in enhancing global patient health through innovation.

OVERVIEW

CStone (HKEX: 2616), established in late 2015, is an innovation-driven biopharmaceutical company focused 
on the research and development of anti-cancer therapies. Dedicated to addressing patients’ unmet medical 
needs in China and globally, the Company has made significant strides since its inception. To date, the 
Company has successfully launched 4 innovative drugs and secured approvals for 16 NDAs covering 9 
indications. The Company’s pipeline is balanced by 16 promising candidates, featuring potentially FIC or 
BIC ADCs, multispecific antibodies, immunotherapies and precision medicines. CStone also prides itself on a 
management team with comprehensive experiences and capabilities that span the entire drug development 
spectrum, from preclinical and translational research to clinical development, drug manufacturing, business 
development, and commercialization. For details of any of the foregoing, please refer to the rest of this 
annual report and, where applicable, the Prospectus and prior announcements published on the websites of 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

Product Pipeline

The following pipeline chart demonstrates the milestone and development status of our selected assets as of 
the date of this annual report:

Drug candidate Indication POC Pivotal NDA Marketed
Approval

Partners Partnering regions
CN TW HK US EU UK

Pralsetinib (RET)

2L NSCLC

� Mainland China
1L NSCLC

1L MTC / TC

Multiple tumors

Avapritinib (KIT/PDGFRA)
PDGFRA exon 18 GIST

� Mainland China
SM1

Sugemalimab (PD-L1)

1L Stage IV NSCLC

� Mainland China

� Switzerland and Central
Eastern Europe

� Middle East and Africa

� Latin America

1L Stage IV NSCLC

Stage III NSCLC

1L GC/GEJ

1L ESCC

R/R ENKTL

R/R ENKTL

CS1003 (PD-1) 1L HCC � Mainland China

CS1002 (CTLA-4) Solid tumors � Greater China

Global RightsGreater China

Expedited registration

TCTC

= Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma, R/R = Relapsed or Refractory, NKTL = Natural KILLER/T Cell Lymphoma, HCC = Hepatocellular Carcinoma; RoW, Rest of World  
1. POC was conducted in the U.S. and no clinical trials have been conducted in China; 

Note: Assets status denotes progress in the region with rights; CN = Mainland China, TW = Taiwan, China, HK = Hong Kong SAR, China, US = United States, POC = Proof of Concept, NSCLC = Non-small Cell Lung Cancer,
MTC = Medullary Thyroid Cancer, TC = Thyroid Cancer, GIST = Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumor, SM = Systemic Mastocytosis, GC/GEJ = gastric adenocarcinoma/gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma, ESCC 
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Note: Assets status denotes progress in the region(s) noted in the column titled “Rights”; FIH = First in Human, POC = Proof of Concept,   
1. CStone obtains the exclusive global right from LigaChem Biosciences, Inc. (LCB) to lead development and commercialization of LCB71/CS5001 outside the Republic of Korea Global RightsAntibody ADC RDC

Drug candidate Right Indication Discovery Preclinical 
Development IND-Enabling FIH POC

CS50011 (ROR1 ADC) Solid tumors
hematologic malignancies

CS2009 (PD-1/VEGF/CTLA-4 trispecific antibody) Solid tumors

CS2011 (EGFR/HER3 bispecific antibody) Solid tumors

CS5007 (EGFR/HER3 bispecific ADC) Solid tumors

CS5005 (SSTR2 ADC) Solid tumors

CS5008 (SSTR2/DLL3 bispecific ADC) Solid tumors

CS5005-R (SSTR2 RDC) Solid tumors

CS5006 (ITGB4 ADC) Solid tumors

CS5009 (B7H3/PD-L1 bispecific ADC) Solid tumors

CS2013 (Bispecific antibody, undisclosed targets) Autoimmune

CS2015 (Bispecific antibody, undisclosed targets) Autoimmune

BUSINESS REVIEW

Commercial Products

Our partnerships with pharmaceutical and biotech companies are cornerstones of our near-term commercial 
plans as well as our global aspirations. In order to further improve the commercialization efficiency, we have 
established commercial collaborations with multiple companies during the year to leverage their strengths 
while enabling us to strategically focus on research and development going forward.

Details on our commercial portfolio are set out below:

• CEJEMLY® (sugemalimab) approved in China, E.U. and U.K., expanding global presence and 
commercial value

– Sugemalimab, developed by CStone using OmniRat® transgenic animal platform, is a fully human, 
full-length anti-PD-L1 immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) monoclonal antibody, which may reduce the risk 
of immunogenicity and toxicity for patients and offer a unique advantage over similar drugs.

– Approved indications in different territories.
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The NMPA has approved sugemalimab for five indications:

▪ Stage IV NSCLC: In combination with chemotherapy as first-line treatment of patients with 

metastatic non-squamous NSCLC with no EGFR or ALK genomic tumor aberrations and 

metastatic squamous NSCLC;

▪ Stage III NSCLC: For patients with unresectable Stage III NSCLC whose disease has not 

progressed following concurrent or sequential platinum-based chemoradiotherapy;

▪ NK/T-cell lymphoma: For patients with relapsed or refractory extranodal NK/T-cell 

lymphoma;

▪ ESCC: In combination with fluorouracil and platinum-based chemotherapy as first-line 

treatment of patients with unresectable locally advanced, recurrent or metastatic ESCC; and

▪ GC/GEJC: In combination with fluoropyrimidine- and platinum-containing chemotherapy 

as f i rs t - l ine t reatment for unresectable local ly advanced or metastat ic gastr ic or 

gastroesophageal junction (G/GEJ) adenocarcinoma with PD-L1 CPS≥5.

The European Commission (“EC”) and the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency 

(“MHRA”) in the U.K. have approved sugemalimab (brand name: CEJEMLY®) in combination with 

platinum-based chemotherapy for the first-line treatment of patients with metastatic NSCLC with 

no sensitizing EGFR mutations, or ALK, receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 1 (“ROS1”) 

or rearrangement during transfection (“RET”) genomic tumor aberrations. We have completed the 

submission to EMA for the new indication application of Stage III NSCLC. If approved, sugemalimab’s 

dual utility in stage III and IV NSCLC could solidify its role as a cornerstone immunotherapy in lung 

cancer. We continue to engage with health authorities in Europe and other regions for other indications 

of sugemalimab.

– Commercial collaborations

In May 2024, we successfully entered a strategic commercial collaboration with Ewopharma. 

Under the terms of the licensing and commercialization agreement, Ewopharma will gain the 

commercial rights for sugemalimab in Switzerland and 18 CEE countries. CStone will receive up 

to US$51.3 million consisting of an upfront payment and additional considerations payable upon 

the achievement of certain regulatory and sales milestones. In addition, CStone will book revenues 

from sales of drug supply to Ewopharma and its affiliates. Ewopharma will be in charge of pricing, 

reimbursement, sales & marketing, and distribution, while CStone will be responsible for product 

supply and providing necessary training and support for the brand.
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In November 2024, we entered another strategic commercial collaboration with Pharmalink, a 

prominent pharmaceutical company based in the United Arab Emirates (“UAE”). Under the license 

and commercialization agreement, Pharmalink will gain the commercial rights for sugemalimab in 

the MENA region and South Africa. CStone will receive upfront and regulatory milestone payments 

from Pharmalink and also be entitled to royalties on net sales of sugemalimab in the MENA region 

and South Africa. Pharmalink will be responsible for the regulatory activities and commercialization 

of sugemalimab in the abovementioned regions, while CStone will be responsible for the supply 

of sugemalimab.

In January 2025, we formed a strategic commercialization partnership with SteinCares for 10 
LATAM countries, including Brazil, Argentina, Mexico, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Panama, Peru, 
Guatemala and Ecuador. We will receive upfront, regulatory and commercial milestone payments, 
and book revenue from sales of drug supply to SteinCares and its affiliates. SteinCares will be 
responsible for all regulatory and commercialization activities of sugemalimab in their territory, 
while CStone will be responsible for product supply.

Additional partnerships are expected in regions including Western Europe, Southeast Asia and 
Canada, further supporting global commercialization. We continue collaboration with Pfizer to 
drive the commercialization of CEJEMLY® (sugemalimab) in mainland China.

– Guideline and academic recognition

▪ 2024 Guidelines and Consensus: In 2024, CEJEMLY® (sugemalimab) as a treatment of 
HER2-negative advanced gastric cancer (CPS ≥5) has been included in the 2024 Chinese 
Society of Clinical Oncology (“CSCO”) guideline for gastric cancer as a Level 1 (1A 
evidence) recommendation, as a treatment of advanced ESCC in the 2024 CSCO guideline 
for esophageal cancer as a Level 1 (1A evidence) recommendation and as a treatment of 
HER2-negative esophageal adenocarcinoma in 2024 CSCO guideline for esophageal cancer as 
a Level 1 (1A evidence) recommendation in China. In addition, CEJEMLY® (sugemalimab) as 
a treatment of R/R extranodal NK/T cell lymphoma (“ENKTL”) has been included in the 2024 
CSCO Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor Clinical Practice Guidelines as a Level 1 recommendation 
and the 2024 Chinese Expert Consensus on Immunotherapy of Lymphoma in China. In 
February 2025, CEJEMLY® (sugemalimab) has been included in the ESMO Guideline and is 
recommended as a Level [I, A] first-line combination therapy for both non-oncogene-addicted 
metastatic squamous and non-squamous NSCLC.

▪ Publications and Presentations: In February 2024, the results of the PFS final analysis and 
the OS interim analysis in the registrational GEMSTONE-304 study (first-line ESCC) were 
published in a prestigious medical journal – Nature Medicine . In July 2024, the results of the 
long-term OS analysis in the GEMSTONE-302 study (first-line Stage IV NSCLC) were presented 
at the 2024 Congress of ESMO. In February 2025, the results of the PFS and OS final analysis 
in the registrational GEMSTONE-303 study (first-line GC/GEJC with CPS ≥5) were published 
in a top-tier medical journal – Journal of the American Medical Association .
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• GAVRETO® (pralsetinib) commercialization collaboration progresses smoothly

– GAVRETO® (pralsetinib), a FIC rearranged during transfection (“RET”) inhibitor in China, has been 
approved by the NMPA for the first-line treatment of adults with locally advanced or metastatic 
RET fusion-positive NSCLC, the treatment of adults with locally advanced or metastatic RET 
fusion-positive NSCLC previously treated with platinum-based chemotherapy; and the treatment 
of patients with advanced or metastatic RET-mutant medullary thyroid cancer (“MTC”) and 
RET fusion-positive thyroid cancer (“TC”). In addition, this medicine has been approved by the 
Department of Health of the Government of Hong Kong (“HK DoH”) for the treatment of patients 
with RET fusion-positive locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC and it has been approved by the 
Taiwan Food and Drug Administration (“TFDA”) for the treatment of adult patients with locally 
advanced or metastatic RET fusion-positive NSCLC and advanced or metastatic RET fusion-positive 
TC.

– The application of manufacturing localization for pralsetinib, including manufacturing and clinical 
BE study, has been submitted to the CDE and is currently under review.

– In 2024, we continue to integrate GAVRETO® (pralsetinib) into Allist’s highly synergistic lung 
cancer franchise, enabling GAVRETO® (pralsetinib) to benefit from Allist’s mature commercial team 
and broad market coverage, while simultaneously allowing us to reduce operating costs associated 
with GAVRETO® (pralsetinib) commercialization and improving overall profitability.

– GAVRETO® (pralsetinib) has been included in 11 of China’s national guidelines for testing and 
treatment in multiple therapeutic areas, such as NSCLC and TC. In 2023, GAVRETO® (pralsetinib) 
was recommended by the 2023 CSCO NSCLC guidelines, which recommended RET mutation gene 
testing and GAVRETO® (pralsetinib) in the treatment of RET positive NSCLC patients. In 2024, 
GAVRETO® (pralsetinib) as a treatment of stage IV RET fusion-positive NSCLC has been upgraded 
to a Level 1 recommendation in the 2024 CSCO NSCLC guideline.

– In February 2024, the results from the Phase I/II ARROW trial in Chinese patients with RET-mutant 
MTC were published in Endocrine-Related Cancer . Pralsetinib demonstrated broad, deep, and 
durable efficacy, as well as a manageable safety profile in Chinese patients with advanced 
RET-mutant MTC.

• AYVAKIT® (avapritinib) manufacturing localization approved and partnership with Hengrui

– AYVAKIT® (avapritinib), a FIC KIT/PDGFRA inhibitor, has been approved by the NMPA for the 
treatment of adults with unresectable or metastatic GIST harboring a PDGFRA exon 18 mutation, 
including PDGFRA D842V mutations. AYVAKIT® (avapritinib) has also been approved by the TFDA 
and the HK DoH for the treatment of patients with unresectable or metastatic PDGFRA D842V 
mutant GIST.

– The manufacturing localization application for avapritinib tablets has been approved by NMPA.
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– In July 2024, we entered into a commercial partnership with Hengrui to grant the exclusive 
promotion rights of precision therapy AYVAKIT® (avapritinib) in mainland China to Hengrui. 
Except for promotion, CStone retains all other rights to AYVAKIT® (avapritinib) in mainland China, 
including rights to development, registration, manufacturing and distribution, etc. This partnership 
integrates AYVAKIT® (avapritinib) into Hengrui’s extensive and robust commercial infrastructure.

– We continued to improve the accessibility and affordability of AYVAKIT® (avapritinib). In 2023, 
AYVAKIT® (avapritinib) was added to the 2023 NRDL in China, for the treatment of adults with 
unresectable or metastatic GIST harboring the PDGFRA exon 18 mutation, including PDGFRA 
D842V mutations. The updated NRDL was implemented on January 1, 2024.

– AYVAKIT® (avapritinib) is recommended by several authoritative guidelines, including the updated 
2022 CSCO GIST guideline and the 2022 Chinese Guideline for Diagnosis and Treatment of 
Systemic Mastocytosis in Adults.

Clinical Stage Core Products

As of the date of this annual report, we have made significant progress with respect to our product pipeline.

CS5001 (LCB71, ROR1 ADC) advancing into Phase 1b stage with encouraging efficacy and safety 
profile

• CS5001 is a clinical-stage ADC targeting ROR1. CS5001 has been uniquely designed with proprietary 
tumor-cleavable linker and pyrrolobenzodiazepine (“PBD”) prodrug. Only after reaching the tumor, the 
linker and prodrug are cleaved to release the PBD toxin, resulting in lethal DNA cross-links in cancer 
cells. The use of the linker plus PBD prodrug effectively helps address toxicity associated with traditional 
PBD payloads, leading to a better safety profile. CS5001 has demonstrated complete tumor suppression 
in several preclinical cancer models and demonstrated favorable serum half-life and pharmacokinetic 
characteristics. CS5001 is a promising candidate drug with precision treatment potential in both 
hematologic tumors and malignant solid tumors. Additionally, CS5001 utilizes site-specific conjugation 
for a precise drug antibody ratio of which enables homogeneous production and large-scale 
manufacturing. CS5001 is so far the first ROR1 ADC known to demonstrate clinical anti-tumor activity 
in both solid tumors and lymphomas.
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• A global multicenter clinical trial of CS5001 is actively enrolling patients across the U.S., Australia and 
China. Recruitment is ongoing for monotherapy cohorts targeting aggressive and indolent advanced 
lymphomas with potential to be expanded into a Phase II single-arm registrational study. Other cohorts 
in Phase Ib includes:

– CS5001 + R-CHOP: First-line treatment for DLBCL patients who have not received prior systemic 
therapy.

– CS5001 + SoC: For patients with relapsed or refractory DLBCL.

– CS5001 Monotherapy: Targeting ROR1-expressing solid tumors.

– CS5001 + Sugemalimab: Combination therapy for advanced solid tumors.

• In June 2024, we presented the FIH data at the ASCO annual meeting in a poster session:

– As of the data cut-off date in poster, dose-limiting toxicity (“DLT”) evaluation for the first nine 
dose levels (7 to 156 μg/kg) in Phase 1a has been completed. No DLTs were observed, and the 
maximum tolerated dose was not reached. Most treatment-related adverse events observed 
were Grade 1 or 2 (per NCI-CTCAE v5.0), indicating that CS5001 was well tolerated by heavily 
pretreated patients with advanced solid tumors and lymphomas.

– Pharmacokinetics (“PK”) data suggested dose-proportional exposure of CS5001, with similar 
exposure for ADC and total antibody, demonstrating excellent stability of CS5001 ADC in 
circulation.

– Encouraging anti-tumor activity has been observed in various solid tumors (per RECIST v1.1) and 
hematologic malignancies (per Lugano 2014):

▪ Hodgkin Lymphoma: Objective responses were observed from dose level 5 (50 μg/kg) 
and above, including 1 complete response (“CR”) and 4 partial response (“PR”) among 9 
evaluable patients at dose levels 5-9, achieving an ORR of 55.6%.

▪ DLBCL: Objective responses were observed from dose level 7 (100 μg/kg) and above, 
including 1 CR and 2 PRs among 6 evaluable patients at dose levels 7-9, achieving an ORR of 
50.0%.

▪ In solid tumors, multiple PRs and stable diseases (“SDs”) with reduced tumor burden were 
emerging from dose level 7 (100 μg/kg) and above, notably in NSCLC (1 PR and 3 SDs), 
pancreatic cancer (1 PR), Triple Negative Breast Cancer (1 SD), and ovarian cancer (1 SD). 
Based on the efficacy trends observed, more potent anti-tumor activity is expected in solid 
tumors as the dose increases.
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• In December 2024, we presented the latest clinical data in lymphomas at the 66th ASH Annual Meeting 
in a poster session:

– As of the data cut-off date in poster, dose escalation has been completed and no DLT has been 
reported up to DL10 (195 μg/kg) so far, indicating that CS5001 was well tolerated by heavily 
pretreated patients with advanced B-cell lymphomas.

– A total of 33 patients with advanced B-cell lymphoma were enrolled, including 17 DLBCL, 11 
HL, 2 follicular lymphoma (“FL”), 1 mantle cell lymphoma (“MCL”), 1 marginal zone lymphoma 
(“MZL”), and 1 high-grade B-cell lymphoma (“HGBCL”). Among them, 84.8% were Asian, and 
the rest were non-Asian. 81.8% of the patients had received at least 3 prior lines of systemic 
anti-tumor therapy. In the DL8 cohort, patients who had previously received Chimeric Antigen 
Receptor T-Cell Immunotherapy (“CAR-T”) and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation therapy 
each accounted for over 20%.

– CS5001 demonstrated encouraging anti-tumor activity in B-cell lymphomas, with an ORR of 48.4% 
across all dose levels; a notably higher ORR of 76.9% was observed at DL8 (125 μg/kg) among 13 
evaluable patients.

▪ HL: objective responses were observed from effective dose of DL5 (50 μg/kg) and above, 
including 3 CRs and 3 PRs among 10 evaluable patients at DLs 5-9 (ORR: 60.0%). 2 CRs and 
1 PR were observed at DL8 (125 μg/kg) among 3 evaluable patients.

▪ NHL: objective responses were observed from effective dose of DL7 (100 μg/kg) and above, 
including 3 CRs (2 DLBCL and 1 MCL) and 6 PRs (3 DLBCL, 1 MZL, 1 HGBCL and 1 FL) 
among 16 evaluable patients at DLs 7-9 (ORR: 56.3%). A notably higher ORR of 70.0% was 
observed at DL8 (125 μg/kg) among 10 evaluable patients.

CS2009 (PD-1/VEGF/CTLA-4) launched a global Phase I clinical trial, with potential to be the 
next-generation I/O backbone

• CS2009, a leading asset from the Company’s Pipeline 2.0, is a trispecific antibody targeting 
PD-1, VEGFA and CTLA-4 with the potential to be FIC or BIC for major tumor types. CS2009 has 
a differentiated molecular design that combines three clinically validated targets, preferentially 
invigorating exhausted tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes (“TILs”) and demonstrating VEGF neutralization 
comparable to existing anti-VEGF antibodies. It covers a wide range of cancers, including non-small cell 
lung cancer, ovarian cancer, renal cell carcinoma, cervical cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, and gastric 
cancer.
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• CS2009 features an innovative molecular design that simultaneously targets PD-1, VEGFA and CTLA-4, 
with balanced affinity for PD-1 and CTLA-4. This design enables preferential blocking of both PD-1 and 
CTLA-4 on double-positive tumor-infiltrating TILs whilst sparing CTLA-4 on single-positive peripheral T 
cells, potentially reducing systematic toxicity without compromising efficacy. CS2009 also induces high 
and rapid internalization, thereby down-regulating PD-1 & CTLA-4 expression on the TIL cell membrane. 
Additionally, CS2009 retains full VEGFA inhibitory function; preclinical data have also demonstrated 
that CS2009’s anti-VEGFA activity exhibits significant synergistic effects with its immune checkpoint 
inhibitory functions-crosslinking with VEGFA markedly enhances both anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 
activities.

• In November 2024, we presented the preclinical data of CS2009 at the 39th SITC Annual Meeting. 
The results demonstrated superior anti-tumor activity of CS2009 compared to potential competitors, 
including PD-1/CTLA-4 or PD-1/VEGF bispecific antibody and PD-1/CTLA-4 or PD-1/VEGF combination 
therapies.

• We have submitted a global, multicenter, FIH clinical trial application in Australia for CS2009 (PD-1/
VEGF/CTLA-4 trispecific antibody) to address various solid tumors, with subsequent expansion to China 
and the U.S. anticipated in 2025. We successfully dosed the first patient in March 2025, with no 
infusion reactions or other adverse events observed.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REQUIRED BY RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE LISTING RULES: WE MAY NOT BE 
ABLE TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP AND MARKET ANY OF OUR PIPELINE PRODUCTS, SUCCESSFULLY.

Nofazinlimab (CS1003, PD-1 antibody)

• In March 2024, we completed a prespecified interim analysis for the global phase II I trial of 
nofazinlimab in combination with LENVIMA® (lenvatinib) for the first-line treatment of patients with 
unresectable or metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma (“HCC”). No new or unexpected safety signals 
were observed; and the independent Data Monitoring Committee (“iDMC”) recommended a continued 
follow-up, without protocol modification, until the final assessment of OS.

• In September 2024, the results from the Phase I trial in Chinese patients with advanced solid tumors or 
lymphomas were published in Targeted Oncology .

CS1002 (CTLA-4 antibody)

• In January 2024, our partner Hengrui received an IND approval from the NMPA for evaluating CS1002/
SHR-8068 in combination with adebrelimab and chemotherapy as the first-line treatment of patients 
with advanced or metastatic non-squamous NSCLC.

• In February 2024, the results of CS1002 in combination with nofazinlimab from the Phase I trial in 
patients with advanced solid tumors were published in Cancer .

• In October 2024, our partner Hengrui initiated a Phase III clinical study of CS1002/SHR-8068 in 
combination with adebrelimab and bevacizumab for the first-line treatment of advanced HCC.
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Preclinical/IND enabling candidates

The Company has developed a strong competitive edge in immunology and oncology with advanced 
molecular design technology. We continue to focus on innovation in next-generation antibodies and 
antibody-based therapies, including multispecific antibodies, ADCs, and RDC, etc. We have also expanded 
our early research efforts into non-oncology therapeutic areas, such as autoimmune and metabolic diseases.

We have actively and efficiently advanced our innovative candidates with several initiatives:

• In-house proprietary ADC technology platform: CStone is actively advancing the development of 
next-generation proprietary linkers to enhance systematic stability and tumor selectivity of ADCs. The 
beta-glucuronide linker is designated to enhance hydrophilicity to improve circulating stability of the 
ADCs, while the overexpression of beta-glucuronidase in tumor microenvironment (“TME”) facilitates 
efficient tumor-selective release of toxin. Semi-stochastic conjugation with maleimide function group 
is clinically validated and easy to manufacture. The in-house proprietary ADC technology platform 
facilitates to optimize ADC safety and efficacy, increases compatibility with diverse targets, and 
supports multiple upcoming ADC projects in CStone’s Pipeline 2.0, including CS5005 (targeting 
SSTR2), CS5006 (targeting ITGB4), CS5007 (dual targeting EGFR&HER3), and CS5008 (dual targeting 
DLL3&SSTR2).

• CS5007 (EGFR/HER3 bispecific ADC) and its antibody backbone CS2011 (EGFR/HER3 bispecific 
antibody): CS5007 is a potential BIC molecule, exhibiting a potent and synergistic blocking activity 
against both EGFR and HER3 signaling. This ADC molecule targets a range of solid tumor indications, 
including NSCLC, squamous cell carcinoma of head and neck (“SCCHN”), colorectal cancer (“CRC”), 
etc.

• CS5005 (SSTR2 ADC) and CS5008 (SSTR2/DLL3 ADC): CS5005 is a SSTR2-targeting ADC with FIC 
potential, using CStone’s proprietary high-affinity and selective anti-SSTR2 antibody and linker payload 
platform. CS5008 is a novel DLL3/SSTR2 dual-targeting ADC using CStone’s proprietary antibodies and 
linker payload. These two ADC molecules are designated to address SCLC and neuroendocrine tumors.

• CS5006 (ITGB4 ADC): CS5006 is a FIC ADC with a novel therapeutic target-integrin β4 (ITGB4). ITGB4 
is a transmembrane protein that pairs exclusively with integrin α6 (ITGA6) to form the heterodimer 
α6β4. Both in vitro and in vivo studies demonstrated robust evidence for clinical development. This 
molecule targets a wide range of indications including NSCLC, SCCHN, CRC, etc.

• Autoimmune multi-specifics: CS2013, a bispecific molecule targeting two critical pathways in B-cell 
development, is in drug discovery stage and designed to address unmet needs in treating systemic lupus 
erythematosus (“SLE”), IgA nephropathy (“IgAN”), and other B-cell mediated autoimmune diseases. 
CS2015, a bispecific molecule simultaneously blocking two complementary and synergistic pathways, 
provides enhanced suppression of Th2-mediated immune responses. CS2015 aims to address diseases 
such as atopic dermatitis (“AD”), asthma, systemic sclerosis (“SS”), hidradenitis suppurativa (“HS”), 
etc.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REQUIRED BY RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE LISTING RULES: WE MAY NOT BE 
ABLE TO ULTIMATELY DEVELOP AND MARKET ANY OF OUR PIPELINE PRODUCTS, SUCCESSFULLY.

Business Development and Strategic Partnerships

Our business development team plays a pivotal role in driving strategic growth for our organization. This 
encompasses expanding the commercialization of our in-market drugs, strengthening our clinical-stage 
pipeline with potential FIC and BIC molecules, and acquiring innovative technologies that enhance our 
research and development efforts. As of the date of this annual report, we have established strong strategic 
partnerships with leading companies, including Pfizer, Hengrui, 3SBio Inc., Allist, Ewopharma, Pharmalink, 
SteinCares and others.

In relation to the commercialization of our in-market drugs, AYVAKIT®, we entered into a strategic 
partnership with Hengrui in July 2024. This agreement grants Hengrui exclusive promotion rights for 
AYVAKIT® in mainland China, while CStone retains all other rights, including development, registration, 
manufacturing, and distribution, etc. Under the terms of the agreement, CStone received an upfront 
payment of RMB35 million and continues to book AYVAKIT®’s sales revenue from mainland China in its 
financial reports, with Hengrui charging a service fee for its promotional activities.

Additionally, we signed an exclusive commercialization agreement for GAVRETO® with Allist in November 
2023. During the first half of 2024, we transitioned our commercial activities for pralsetinib to Allist and are 
now collaborating with them on its commercialization in mainland China.

As part of our ongoing efforts to globally commercialize our PD-L1 product, sugemalimab (CEJEMLY®), we 
remain committed to establishing strategic partnerships across key regions. In May 2024, we successfully 
entered a commercial collaboration with Ewopharma, covering Switzerland and 18 CEE countries. In 
November 2024, we further expanded our global footprint by forming a strategic alliance with Pharmalink 
for MENA Region, as well as South Africa. In January 2025, we formed a strategic commercialization 
partnership with SteinCares for LATAM Region.

Beyond these initiatives, we remain actively engaged with potential partners to explore a range of 
opportunities aimed at accelerating value creation. These include in-licensing, out-licensing, and strategic 
partnerships.

Trademarks: Blueprint Medicines, AYVAKIT® and associated logos are trademarks of Blueprint Medicines Corporation. GAVRETO® and associated 
logos are trademarks of Blueprint Medicines Corporation outside of the U.S..
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31, 2024 Compared to Year ended December 31, 2023

For the year
ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited)
 

Revenue 407,205 463,842
Cost of revenue (167,051) (159,547)

 

Gross profit 240,154 304,295
Other income 27,058 50,608
Other gains and losses 2,985 199,544
Research and development expenses (134,657) (527,799)
Selling and marketing expenses (133,778) (199,349)
Administrative expenses (77,802) (182,714)
Finance costs (15,167) (11,819)

 

Loss for the year (91,207) (367,234)
 

Other comprehensive income (expense):
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
 Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 985 (770)

 

Total comprehensive expense for the year (90,222) (368,004)
 

Non-IFRS measures:
Adjusted loss for the year (94,018) (330,241)

 

Revenue.  Our revenue was RMB407.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, composed of 
RMB175.1 million in sales of pharmaceutical products (avapritinib and pralsetinib), RMB204.0 million in 
license fee income and RMB28.1 million in royalty income of sugemalimab, representing a year-on-year 
increase of RMB108.3 million, or 113.1%, in license fee which was largely offset by a decrease in revenue 
from sales of pharmaceutical products, such that total revenue decreased by RMB56.6 million, or 12.2%, 
year-on-year.

Other Income.  Our other income decreased by RMB23.5 million from RMB50.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to RMB27.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. This was primarily due to 
less bank and other interest income and government grants.
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Other Gains and Losses. Our other gains and losses decreased by RMB196.5 million from RMB199.5 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The high 
level of other gains in 2023 was primarily due to an one-off gain of RMB179.5 million related to the transfer 
of license for the ivosidenib business.

Research and Development Expenses.  Our research and development expenses decreased by RMB393.1 
million from RMB527.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB134.7 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2024. This decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease of RMB351.3 million 
in milestone fee and third party contracting cost for different phases of our clinical trials from RMB361.7 
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB10.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

For the year
ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

 

Milestone fee and third party contracting cost 10,383 361,691
Employee cost 84,791 103,051
Depreciation and others 39,483 63,057

 

Total 134,657 527,799
 

Administrative Expenses.  Our administrative expenses decreased by RMB104.9 million from RMB182.7 
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB77.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
This decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease of RMB80.9 million in employee cost from RMB111.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB30.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

For the year
ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

 

Employee cost 30,498 111,436
Professional fees 25,179 31,955
Depreciation and amortization 10,233 19,049
Rental expenses 3,906 3,513
Others 7,986 16,761

Total 77,802 182,714



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 25

Management Discussion and Analysis

Selling and Marketing Expenses.  Our selling and marketing expenses decreased by RMB65.5 million from 
RMB199.3 million for the for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB133.8 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2024. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in employee cost by RMB109.5 
million and others by RMB53.2 million, which was partially offset by an increase of RMB113.2 million in 
channel service fee.

For the year
ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

 

Channel service fee 118,643 5,484
Employee cost 13,613 123,098
Professional fees 264 16,353
Others 1,258 54,414

 

Total 133,778 199,349
 

Finance Costs.  The finance costs increased by RMB3.4 million from RMB11.8 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to RMB15.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to an increase 
in interest expense in relation to deferred payment arrangement on account payables.

Non-IFRS Measures

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements, which are presented in accordance with the 
IFRS, the Company also uses adjusted loss for the year and other adjusted figures as additional financial 
measures, which are not required by, or presented in accordance with, the IFRS. The Company believes that 
these adjusted measures provide useful information to shareholders and potential investors in understanding 
and evaluating the Group’s consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help the 
Company’s management.

Adjusted loss for the year represents the loss for the year excluding the effect of certain non-cash items 
and onetime events, namely the share-based payment expenses. The term adjusted loss for the year is not 
defined under the IFRS. The use of this non-IFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and you 
should not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of, the Group’s results of operations 
or financial condition as reported under IFRS. The Company’s presentation of such adjusted figure may not 
be comparable to a similarly titled measure presented by other companies. However, the Company believes 
that this and other non-IFRS measures are reflections of the Group’s normal operating results by eliminating 
potential impacts of items that the management does not consider to be indicative of the Group’s operating 
performance, and thus facilitate comparisons of operating performance from year to year and company to 
company to the extent applicable.
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The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the loss to adjusted loss during the years indicated:

For the year
ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited)
 

Loss for the year (91,207) (367,234)
Added:
Share-based payment expenses (2,811) 36,993

Adjusted loss for the year (94,018) (330,241)

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the research and development expenses to adjusted research 
and development expenses during the years indicated:

For the year
ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited)
 

Research and development expenses for the year (134,657) (527,799)
Added:
Share-based payment expenses 9,996 (6,911)

Adjusted research and development expenses for the year (124,661) (534,710)

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the administrative and selling and marketing expenses to 
adjusted administrative and selling and marketing expenses during the years indicated:

For the year
ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited)
 

Administrative and selling and marketing expenses for the year (211,580) (382,063)
Added:
Share-based payment expenses (12,807) 43,904

Adjusted administrative and selling and marketing  
 expenses for the year (224,387) (338,159)
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Employees and Remuneration Policies

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our employees as of December 31, 2024 by function:

Function
Number of
employees

% of total
number of
employees

Research and Development 83 61.48
Sales, General and Administrative 52 38.52

Total 135 100.0  

As of December 31, 2024, we had 94 employees in Shanghai, 12 employees in Beijing, 20 employees in 
Suzhou and 9 employees in other regions of the PRC and overseas. Our employees’ remuneration comprises 
salaries, bonuses, employee provident fund, social security contributions and other welfare payments. In 
accordance with applicable Chinese laws, we have made contributions to social security insurance funds 
(including pension plans, medical insurance, work-related injury insurance, unemployment insurance and 
maternity insurance) and housing funds for our employees.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group has always adopted a prudent treasury management policy. The Group has taken a multi-source 
approach to fund our operations and meet development demands for capital, including service and milestone 
and upfront payments from our collaboration partners, bank borrowings, investments from other third 
parties and proceeds from our listing on the Stock Exchange.

On February 26, 2019, 186,396,000 Shares of US$0.0001 each were issued at a price of HK$12.00 per 
Share in connection with the Company’s IPO on the Stock Exchange. The proceeds of HK$146,294.76 
representing the par value, were credited to the Company’s share capital. The remaining proceeds of 
RMB2,090.16 million (before deduction of the expenses relating to the Company’s IPO) were credited to the 
share premium account. The translation from US$ to HK$ is made at the exchange rate set forth in the H.10 
weekly statistical release of the Federal Reserve System of the United States as of February 26, 2019.

On September 30, 2020 (before trading hours), the Company entered into the share subscription agreement 
with Pfizer, pursuant to which Pfizer has conditionally agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of 115,928,803 
subscription shares at the subscription price of approximately HK$13.37 per Share. The gross proceeds 
from the allotment and issue of the subscription shares were approximately US$200.0 million (equivalent to 
approximately RMB1,355.9 million).

On February 15, 2023, the Company completed the placing of 84,800,000 placing shares by a placing 
agent to not less than six placees at the placing price of HK$4.633 per placing share, representing 6.61% 
of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the placing shares 
immediately upon completion of the placing. The Company received net proceeds from the placing, after 
deducting the placing commission and other related expenses and professional fees, of approximately 
HK$389.07 million (equivalent to approximately RMB338.12 million).
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At December 31, 2024, our cash and cash equivalents and time deposits were RMB672.9 million, as 
compared to RMB1,026.7 million as of December 31, 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the payment of 
research and development expenses, payroll and purchase of inventories. The cash and cash equivalents were 
mainly denominated in RMB and USD.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated using total liabilities divided by total assets and multiplied by 100%. At December 
31, 2024, our gearing ratio was 73.9% (December 31, 2023: 72.5%).

Charge on Assets

At December 31, 2024, the Group did not pledge any assets (December 31, 2023: RMB101,936,000).

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals

As at December 31, 2024, we did not hold any significant investments and there had been no material 
acquisitions and disposals by the Group. As at the date of this annual report, we have no specific future 
plan for material investments or capital assets, as well as material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Our financial statements are expressed in RMB, but certain of our cash and cash equivalents, time deposits, 
other receivables, financial assets measured at FVTPL and trade and other payables are denominated in 
foreign currencies, and are exposed to foreign currency risk. We currently do not have a foreign currency 
hedging policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will 
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Bank Borrowings

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings were RMB318,200,000, all bank borrowings 
denominated in RMB. In 2024, the Group obtained a new bank loan facility of RMB100 million for 
replenishing working capital and has withdrawn RMB50 million. As at December 31, 2024, RMB50 million 
remained available for drawdown under this bank facility.

Contingent Liabilities

As at December 31, 2024, we did not have any material contingent liabilities (as at December 31, 2023: Nil).
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DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Dr. Jianxin Yang (楊建新), M.D., Ph.D., aged 61, is our Chief Executive Officer, executive Director, 
president of research and development, chairman of the Strategy Committee and an authorized 
representative of the Company and was re-elected as an executive Director on June 21, 2023. Dr. Yang was 
our senior vice president and Chief Medical Officer from December 2016 to August 2022. Currently, he is 
responsible for the overall operation strategic planning and business operation of our Group. Dr. Yang also 
acts as a director in certain of our subsidiaries.

Dr. Yang has over 25 years of experience in biomedical research and clinical development of oncology 
drugs in the U.S. and China. Prior to joining us, he served as the Senior Vice President and Head of Clinical 
Development at BeiGene, Ltd. (NASDAQ: BGNE, HKSE: 6160, the Star Market of SHSE: 688235) from July 
2014 to December 2016. He led BeiGene, Ltd.’s clinical team in clinical development of its oncology pipeline, 
and led the development and management of over ten clinical trials worldwide, including the first anti-PD-1 
mAb originated in China, BTK inhibitors and PARP inhibitors.

Prior to joining BeiGene, Ltd., Dr. Yang served as a Medical Director at Covance Inc. from September 
2011 to July 2014. He served as Senior Chief Scientist for tumor biomarkers in Pfizer Inc., and served as a 
Research Scientist in the cancer genomics division at Tularik Inc. (acquired by Amgen Inc. in 2004).

Throughout his career, Dr. Yang has made significant contributions to the successful development of several 
anticancer drugs. He is also the author of over 60 publications and the inventor of 15 patents.

Dr. Yang received a bachelor’s degree in medicine from Xianning Branch of Hubei Medical College (湖北
醫學院咸寧分院), (currently known as Hubei Institute of Science and Technology (湖北科技學院)) in Hubei, 
China in July 1985 and a master’s degree in pathophysiology from Nanjing Medical College (南京醫學院), 
(currently known as Nanjing Medical University (南京醫科大學)) in Nanjing, China in July 1988. He then 
received his Ph.D. training in molecular biology with Nobel Laureates Drs. Michael S. Brown and Joseph L. 
Goldstein at the University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas, U.S. in June 1995. He conducted 
his postdoctoral training in chemical biology with Dr. Stuart L. Schreiber at Harvard University in the United 
States from 1995 to 1998.

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Wei Li (李偉), Ph.D. aged 53, is our Chairman of Board. He has been our Director since December 
2015 and was re-designated as a non-executive Director on October 29, 2018, and was re-elected as a 
non-executive Director on June 21, 2023. Dr. Li took up the role of Chairman and the chairman of the 
Nomination Committee on May 31, 2022. Dr. Wei Li is also a member of the Compensation Committee. Dr. 
Li also acts as a director in certain of our subsidiaries.

Dr. Li has over 20 years of experience in the biotech industry. He serves as a partner of Creacion Ventures 
since April 2020 and the managing partner of 6 Dimensions Capital, L.P. since October 2017 and is a 
founding partner and the managing partner of WuXi Healthcare Ventures II, L.P. since July 2015. Dr. Li 
served as an executive director of Ocumension Therapeutics (歐康維視生物), a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 1477), from April 2018 to July 2021 and re-designated as a non-executive director 
from July 2021 to January 2025.
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During his scientific research career, Dr. Li has first-authored numerous scientific publications in journals 
including Science, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, and Journal of Biological Chemistry.

Dr. Li received a Ph.D. in chemistry from Harvard University in the United States in November 1998, and 
master’s degree in business administration (“MBA”) from the J. L. Kellogg School of Management at 
Northwestern University in the United States in June 2003. He graduated with a bachelor of science in 
chemical physics from the University of Science and Technology of China (中國科學技術大學) in Anhui, China 
in July 1993.

Mr. Kenneth Walton Hitchner III, aged 65, was appointed as our non-executive Director with effect from 
December 10, 2021 and was re-elected as a non-executive Director on June 18, 2024. Mr. Hitchner is a 
member of the Investment Committee.

Mr. Hitchner has more than 30 years of experience in corporate finance. He had served as the Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. in Asia Pacific Ex-Japan before his retirement 
in 2019. He was also a member of Goldman Sachs’ Management Committee and co-chaired its Asia Pacific 
Management Committee.

Mr. Hitchner has served as an independent non-executive director of Provident Acquisition Corp., a company 
listed on NASDAQ (stock code: PAQC), from January 2021 to October 2022. He ceased to serve as a senior 
advisor to a leading global life sciences investor Valiance Asset Management in December 2022. During the 
period from 2013 to 2017, Mr. Hitchner had served as President of Goldman Sachs in Asia Pacific Ex-Japan. 
Prior to relocating to Hong Kong, he was global head of Goldman Sachs’ Healthcare Banking Group and 
global co-head of its Technology, Media and Telecom Group. He was named managing director in 2000 and 
partner in 2002. He became head of the global medical device banking practice in 1998 and head of the 
global pharmaceutical banking practice in 2001. He began his career with Goldman Sachs’ Corporate Finance 
Department in 1991.

Mr. Hitchner has been serving as an independent non-executive director of WuXi Biologics (Cayman) Inc., a 
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2269), since June 2020. Mr. Hitchner 
has been serving as a director of the alternative investment management firm Elements Advisors SPV since 
May 2020. He has joined Global Advisory Board of the global early-stage venture capitalist Antler since 
January 2021. He has also been serving as a senior advisor of WuXi AppTec Co., Ltd.* (無錫藥明康德新藥
開發股份有限公司), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603259) and the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2359) (“WuXi AppTec”), since February 2020. Mr. Hitchner has 
also been serving as the chairman of the board of HH&L Acquisition Co., a company listed on the New 
York Stock Exchange (stock code: HHLA), since February 11, 2021. Mr. Hitchner has also been serving as 
the chairman of the board of two UK private healthcare companies, Cydar Medical and Sphere Fluidics, 
since February 2023 and May 2023, respectively. He has also been serving as an independent non-executive 
director of WuXi XDC Cayman Inc., a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 
2268), since November 2024.

Mr. Hitchner obtained a bachelor’s degree in arts from the University of Colorado in 1982 and a master’s 
degree in MBA as a merit fellow from Columbia University Business School in 1992.
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Mr. Xianghong Lin (林向紅), aged 54, was appointed as our non-executive Director with effect from 
November 30, 2020, and was re-elected as a non-executive Director on June 21, 2023.

Mr. Lin has been the chairman of the board of directors and a member of the investment committee of 
Kaiyuan Guochuang Capital Management Co., Ltd. (開元國創資本管理有限公司) since March 2017; and the 
chief executive officer of Suzhou Private Capital Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. (蘇州民營資本投資控股有限
公司) since April 2016. Mr. Lin was the chairman of the board of directors and a member of the investment 
committee of Suzhou Equity Investment Fund Management Co. Ltd. (蘇州股權投資基金管理有限公司) from 
December 2017 to October 2024; the president of Suzhou Oriza Holdings Corporation (蘇州元禾控股股份有
限公司) from October 2015 to March 2016 and the chairman of the board of directors and the president of 
Suzhou Oriza Holdings Ltd. (蘇州元禾控股有限公司) from September 2007 to October 2015. Prior to that, 
he served as the chairman of the board of directors and the president of China-Singapore Suzhou Industrial 
Park Ventures Co., Ltd. (中新蘇州工業園區創業投資有限公司) from November 2001 to September 2007. 
From April 2000 to November 2001, he served as various positions of China-Singapore Suzhou Industrial 
Park Development Co., Ltd. (中新蘇州工業園區開發有限公司), including the deputy general manager of the 
finance department and the general manager of the investment department.

Mr. Lin has been a non-executive director of Lepu Biopharm Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 2157) from April 2020 to January 2024. Mr. Lin has been a member of the venture 
capital fund professional committee of Asset Management Association of China (中國證券投資基金業協會創
業投資基金專業委員會) since June 2015, a member of the first session of Science and Technology Innovation 
Advisory Committee (科技創新諮詢委員會) of the Shanghai Stock Exchange since April 2019, a member of 
the investment decision committee of the China Integrated Circuit Industry Investment Fund (國家集成電路產
業投資基金) since 2014, and a director of the Xi’an Jiaotong University Education Foundation (西安交通大學
教育基金會) since 2011.

Mr. Lin obtained bachelor’s degree in auditing from the Xi’an Jiaotong University in July 1992, a master 
degree in agricultural economic management from the University of Suzhou in June 1999 and a doctorate 
degree in management science and engineering from Xi’an Jiaotong University in June 2009.
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Mr. Edward Hu (胡正國), aged 62, was appointed as our non-executive Director on July 9, 2021 and was 
re-elected as a non-executive Director on June 18, 2024. He is a member of the Strategy Committee and the 
chairman of the Investment Committee.

Mr. Hu is the vice chairman, the global chief investment officer and an executive director of WuXi AppTec. 
Mr. Hu is primarily responsible for the overall business and management of WuXi AppTec. Mr. Hu joined 
WuXi AppTec in August 2007 and was appointed as an executive director in March 2017. Mr. Hu served as 
a co-chief executive officer of WuXi AppTec from August 2018 to May 2020. He served as the chief financial 
officer from March 2016 to January 2019.

• From July 2022 to September 2024, he served as a non-executive director of CANbridge Pharmaceuticals 
Inc., a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1228).

• From July 2022 to February 2023, he served as a director of Ambrx Biopharma Inc., a company listed 
on NASDAQ (stock code: AMAM).

• From February 2014 to June 2021, he served as a non-executive director of WuXi Biologics (Cayman) 
Inc., a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2269) and was primarily 
responsible for providing guidance on the business strategy and financial management.

• From May 2018 to March 2021, he served as a director of Viela Bio Inc., a company listed on NASDAQ 
(stock code: VIE).

• From August 2007 to December 2015, he served as the chief financial officer and chief operating 
officer of WuXi PharmaTech (Cayman) Inc., a company previously listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange and was responsible for the financial and operational management.

• From October 2000 to July 2007, he served on various roles to become a senior vice president and 
chief operating officer of Tanox Inc., a biopharmaceutical company previously listed on NASDAQ (stock 
code: TNOX, acquired by Genentech Inc. in August 2007) and primarily engaged in discovering and 
developing antibody therapeutic drugs, and was responsible for company operations, quality control, 
finance and information technology.

• From April 1998 to October 2000, he served as a business planning manager of Biogen Inc., a global 
biotechnology company listed on NASDAQ (stock code: BIIB) and primarily engaged in developing, 
marketing and sales of biopharmaceuticals for neurologic and immune diseases, and was responsible 
for business planning and budget management of its research and development division.

• From May 1996 to December 1998, he served as a senior financial analyst of Merck, and was 
responsible for financial planning and analysis.

Mr. Hu obtained a bachelor’s degree in physics from Hangzhou University, currently known as Zhejiang 
University (浙江大學) in the PRC in July 1983. He also obtained a master’s degree in chemistry and a master’s 
degree of business administration from Carnegie Mellon University in the United States in May 1993 and 
May 1996, respectively.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Paul Herbert Chew, M.D., aged 73, has been an INED since February 14, 2019, and was re-elected as 
an INED on June 21, 2023. Dr. Chew is a member of the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, 
the Nomination Committee and the Strategy Committee.

Dr. Chew is currently the adviser chief medical officer and he is on the board of directors for Phesi, an 
innovative firm that optimizes clinical trial design with novel technology. Dr. Chew is also the adviser 
chief medical officer for CorMedix, Inc, utilizing a taurolidine-based platform to prevent infection in high 
risk patients. Dr. Chew serves on the advisory boards at the Center for Public Health, George Washington 
School of Public Health as well as ArisGlobal, a leading life sciences software provider that speeds drug 
development. He has served as a member of the board of trustees for the U.S. Pharmacopeia that sets quality 
standards for U.S. drugs, foods and dietary supplements, enforced by the U.S. FDA but whose standards are 
also followed by more than 140 countries.

From 2013 to 2016, Dr. Chew served as the global chief medical officer for Sanofi, overseeing medical 
affairs, regulatory affairs, drug safety, and pharmaco-economics. From 2016 to 2018, Dr. Chew has also 
been the chief medical officer for Omada Health, a premier Bay area company in digital therapeutics for 
the management of chronic disease. Dr. Chew has been on the board of external advisors for the University 
of North Carolina School of Public Health. He has served as a member of the Institute of Medicine Value & 
Science-Driven Healthcare Roundtable. He is board certified in Internal Medicine and Cardiovascular Disease. 
Dr. Chew was also a member of the Cardiology and Radiology faculty at the Johns Hopkins Hospital and 
he holds a doctor of medicine and a bachelor of arts degree from the Johns Hopkins University School of 
Medicine in the United States.

Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu (胡定旭), GBS, JP, aged 70, has been an INED since February 14, 2019, and 
was re-elected as an INED on June 18, 2024. Mr. Wu is the chairman of the Compensation Committee and a 
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Wu has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Hui Xian Real Estate Investment 
Trust (匯賢產業信託) (stock code: 87001) since November 2022. Since March 2019, Mr. Wu has been the 
chairman and a non-executive director of Clarity Medical Group Holding Limited (清晰醫療集團控股有限公
司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1406) on February 18, 2022. Mr. Wu has been 
an independent non-executive director of Sing Tao News Corporation Limited (星島新聞集團有限公司), a 
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1105) since June 2021. He has been an independent 
non-executive director of China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (華潤醫療控股有限公司), a 
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1515) since August 2018 and chairman of the board of 
directors from August 2018 to April 2021. He has been an independent non-executive director of Power 
Assets Holdings Limited (電能實業有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0006) 
since June 2014. He has been an independent non-executive director and chairman of the board of Venus 
Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc. (杭州啟明醫療器械股份有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock 
code: 2500) since July 2019 and December 2023, respectively. He has been an independent non-executive 
director of Ocumension Therapeutics (歐康維視生物), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 
1477) since June 2020.
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Between March 2015 and August 2018, Mr. Wu was the chairman and an executive director at Sincere Watch 
(Hong Kong) Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0444), where he also acted as 
deputy chairman from October 2016 to August 2018. Between July 2011 and September 2014, he served 
as a director of Fidelity Funds. He served as an independent non-executive director of Agricultural Bank of 
China Limited (中國農業銀行股份有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1288), 
Guangdong Investment Ltd. (粵海投資有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0270), 
and China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited (中國太平保險控股有限公司), a company listed on 
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0966), from January 2009 to June 2015, from August 2012 to June 2022  
and from August 2013 to December 2024, respectively. Mr. Wu joined the Hong Kong Hospital Authority 
(醫院管理局) in 1999 and was formerly its chairman from 2004 to 2013. Between 2010 and 2012, he was 
and the chairman of the Chamber Council and is now a member of the consultation committee of the Hong 
Kong General Chamber of Commerce. He was a partner of Ernst & Young from July 1985 to December 2005 
and served as chairman of Ernst & Young Far East and China Practice from January 2000 to December 2005.

Mr. Wu was admitted as a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in 
November 1979 and became a fellow in October 1990. He was also admitted as a member of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. Wu was appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as Justice of the Peace and awarded Gold Bauhinia 
Star in 2004 and 2008, respectively. Mr. Wu finished a Foundation Course in Accountancy in Teesside 
Polytechnic in the United Kingdom in July 1975. Mr. Wu has also served in different capacities in the 
following organizations:

• as the honorary chairman of The Institute of Certified Management Accountants (Australia) Hong Kong 
Branch since January 2016

• as a member of the Chief Executive’s Council of Advisers on Innovation and Strategic Development 
from March 2018 to June 2022

• as a member of the 12th and 13th Standing Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative 
Conference National Committee

• as an expert advisor of the 2nd Chinese Medicine Reform and Development Advisory Committee of the 
State Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine (國家中醫藥管理局第二屆中醫藥改革發展專家諮詢
委員會) since December 2017

• as a board member of West Kowloon Cultural District Authority since November 2024
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Mr. Hongbin Sun (孫洪斌), aged 50, has been an INED since February 14, 2019, and was re-elected as an 
INED on June 21, 2023. Mr. Sun is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination 
Committee and the Investment Committee.

Mr. Sun has over 20 years of finance experience. He has been an independent non-executive director of 
New Century Healthcare Holding Co., Limited (新世紀醫療控股有限公司), a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 1518), since December 2016. He has been as an independent non-executive director 
of Mobvista Inc. (匯量科技有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1860) since July 
2020. He has been an independent non-executive director of Abbisko Cayman Limited (和譽開曼有限責任
公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2256), since September 2021. He has been the 
chief financial officer of MicroPort Scientific Corporation (微創醫療科學有限公司), a company listed on the 
Stock Exchange (stock code: 0853), since September 2010 and served as its executive director from July 
2010 to September 2012. Mr. Sun was appointed as a director of Shanghai MicroPort MedBot (Group) Co., 
Ltd. (上海微創醫療機器人(集團)股份有限公司), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2252, 
“MedBot”) in April 2020, and re-designated as a non-executive director from June 2021. He has also served 
as chairman of the board of MedBot. He was the deputy financial director of Otsuka (China) Investment Co., 
Ltd. (大冢(中國)投資有限公司) from January 2004 to December 2005 and then worked as its general manager 
from January 2006 to August 2010. From August 1998 to January 2004, he was an assistant manager in the 
audit department of KPMG Huazhen (畢馬威華振會計師事務所) in Shanghai.

Mr. Sun has been a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (中國註冊會計師協會) 
since December 2009 and also a chartered financial analyst in September 2009.

He received his bachelor’s degree in accounting from Shanghai Jiao Tong University (上海交通大學) in China 
in July 1998.

Ms. Yip Betty Ho (何曄), aged 56, has been an INED since December 30, 2024.

Ms. Ho has extensive experience in public companies, healthcare, merger and acquisitions, private equity 
across a wide range of industries. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Ho served as chief strategy officer at 
DHgate Holdings Limited, a company principally engaged in cross-border e-commerce in China from April 
2020 to March 2024. Ms. Ho also served as an independent non-executive director at Ezisurg Medical Co., 
Ltd. from May 2022 to September 2023.

Ms. Ho served as chief financial officer and director of Phoenix New Media Limited, a company listed on the 
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: FENG), from October 2013 to November 2019 and from November 2017 to 
November 2019, respectively, preceded by her role as chief financial officer at Rock Mobile Corporation since 
January 2012. Ms. Ho served as chief financial officer at A8 New Media Group Limited (formerly known as 
A8 Digital Music Holdings Limited), a company formerly listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(HKEX: 800), from July 2007 to January 2011. Ms. Ho was appointed as executive director and redesignated 
as non-executive director of the board of A8 New Media Group Limited from November 2007 to December 
2010 and from December 2010 to May 2011, respectively.
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Prior to that, Ms. Ho held various management positions in audit and investment, including chief financial 
officer and vice president of corporate development at Lorenzo Jewelry Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of LJ International, Inc. (NASDAQ: JADE), from 2001 to 2007. Before that, she was an auditor at Arthur 
Andersen & Co.

Ms. Ho obtained her bachelor’s degree in commerce from the University of Toronto in Canada in June 1993. 
She also completed the Stanford Executive Leadership Program and the Stanford Director’s College in the 
United States through a hybrid of classes in person and distance learning in May 2018. Ms. Ho has been a 
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants since September 1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Jianxin Yang (楊建新), M.D., Ph.D., aged 61, has been our CEO and president of research and 
development since August 25, 2022 and March 27, 2024, respectively. For further details, please refer to 
“Directors – Executive Director” in this section.

Mr. Michael J. Choi, MBA, aged 50, joined our Company in May 2021 and he has been our Chief Business 
and Strategy Officer since September 2022. In this role, he is responsible for business development, alliance 
management and corporate strategy.

Mr. Choi is an accomplished business executive with over 25 years of experience in the life science industry. 
Prior to joining us Mr. Choi was VP, Head of Business Development at Sun Pharma Advanced Research 
Corporation (SPARC) from September 2019 to April 2021. In this role, he led business development, 
commercial strategy and investor relations and oversaw the strategy and operations of SPARC as a 
member of the Executive Leadership Team. From March 2011 to July 2019, Mr. Choi served at Pfizer, Inc. 
in various business development roles including most recently as Business Alliance Lead for China, Japan, 
Asia Pacific, Latin-America and Canada at Pfizer Essential Health. While at Pfizer, Mr. Choi completed 
over 40 transactions across 6 continents. From April 2009 to March 2011, Mr. Choi served as the Strategy 
Leader for the Molecular and Cell Biology business unit at Life Technologies (now Thermo Fisher). Mr. Choi 
started his career as a Research Associate at the Columbia University College of Physicians and Surgeons 
before starting his business career as a strategy focused Management Consultant at various firms such as 
PricewaterhouseCoopers – Management Consulting Services, Envision Consulting Group (now IQVIA), and 
Frankel Group (now Oliver Wyman).

Mr. Choi obtained his MBA in Finance and Economics from Columbia Business School in New York City in 
May 2004 and Bachelor of Arts in History with a pre-medical concentration from Columbia College in New 
York City in May 1996.
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Dr. Qingmei Shi (史青梅), M.D., Ph.D., aged 49, joined our Company in May 2019, and currently is our 
senior vice president and Chief Medical Officer. In her current role, Dr. Shi oversees the clinical development 
of our assets from IND until NDA approval. Additionally, she leads the medical/science, pharmacovigilance, 
regulatory affairs, quality assurance and biometrics functions to support progression of clinical development. 
Prior to this role, Dr. Shi was our head of clinical development and mainly responsible for the clinical 
development of our late-stage assets. Dr. Shi also acts as a director in one of our subsidiary.

With over 20 years of experience in clinic and the pharmaceutical industry, Dr. Shi brings extensive expertise 
in oncology and hematology therapeutic areas. Prior to joining our company, she served as a senior medical 
director at Covance Pharmaceutical Research and Development (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from 2018 to 2019, 
where she was the lead physician in charge of multiple global and regional oncology and haematology 
studies.

From January 2007 to January 2018, Dr. Shi worked as a medical director at the Singapore and China offices 
of PAREXEL International China Pte. Ltd., where she led the Asia Pacific medical and pharmacovigilance 
functions and supported drug development for both global and China-pharmaceutical companies.

Dr. Shi obtained a Ph.D. in microbiology from the National University of Singapore in 2006. She obtained her 
medical doctor degree and a master of science in otolaryngology from Shan Dong Medical University in 1998 
and 2001, respectively.

Dr. Yujuan La (喇玉娟), Ph.D., aged 47, joined us in May 2021 and is our senior vice president of Product 
Development. In her role, she has overall responsibilities for supervising IND applications, overseeing 
technology transfer and business collaborations, leading chemistry, manufacturing, and controls (CMC) 
development projects covering the entire life cycle of product development, including upstream and 
downstream process development, analytical method development and validation, manufacturing scaling-up, 
clinical sample production and quality assurance management.

Dr. La has 19 years of extensive experience in the biopharmaceutical field, specializing in the research and 
development, production, quality management, and project management of therapeutic antibody drugs. 
She successfully advanced multiple IND applications, technology transfers and business collaborations and 
led various CMC development projects. Prior to joining us, Dr. La worked at Startup Biotech Co., Ltd. 
as an executive director of preclinical development from September 2020 to April 2021, where she was 
mainly responsible for handling bispecific antibody drug related research and development, CMC project 
management and formulating portfolio strategy. Dr. La worked at CRO/CDMO Biopharm Co., Ltd. from 
October 2018 to August 2020 and her last position held was the vice president and senior director. She 
was mainly responsible for leading CMC projects (including maintaining service delivery), providing business 
development and sales support, and planning on marketing and resources strategies. From June 2008 to 
October 2018, Dr. La worked at Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and she served successively as the Senior 
Director of Process Development and Quality Assurance Management. She was responsible for (i) establishing 
the process development team and platform, including product process development and manufacturing, 
process optimization and scale-up; (ii) building the quality system; and (iii) establishing a continuous 
improvement quality assurance system to ensure that the quality of drugs from research and development 
to clinical trials meets the corresponding quality specification. From June 2006 to May 2008, Dr. La was a 
research associate at Bio-X Centre of Shanghai Jiaotong University, where she was responsible for research 
and teaching.

Dr. La obtained a Ph.D. in biochemistry and molecular biology from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in 2006. 
She obtained her bachelor’s degree in biology from Inner Mongolia University in 2000.
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Ms. Weicong Ni (倪維聰), aged 34, joined us in August 2018 and currently serves as Chief Financial 
Officer and one of our joint company secretaries. In her role, she has overall responsibilities for financial 
management and control, corporate finance, investor relations and board related matters. Prior to her 
current roles, Ms. Ni served various roles within the company including head of capital markets and chief 
of staff to CEO, reporting directly to our chief executive officer. Ms. Ni also acts as a director in one of our 
subsidiaries.

Ms. Ni has more than 10 years of experience in capital markets and corporate financial management with 
exposure in both sell side and buy side in public and private markets. Prior to joining us, from July 2013 to 
May 2016, Ms. Ni worked at Deutsche Bank Hong Kong branch as an investment banker advising public and 
private companies in Asia on equity and debt financing, investments, and merger and acquisition, across a 
few industries from healthcare to internet and technology. Ms. Ni also gained experience as a public market 
investor in the United States in 2017.

Ms. Ni received her bachelor’s degree in finance and economics from Hong Kong University of Science 
and Technology in 2013 and an MBA degree from Harvard Business School in 2018. Ms. Ni is a Chartered 
Financial Analyst.

Ms. Yinghua Zhang (張英華), aged 46, joined us in August 2016. She currently is our senior vice 
president and head of operations. In her role, she oversees the development and implementation of our 
talent management and strategic workforce planning. She also provides oversight for legal & compliance, 
government and administration affairs, and the project management office. Upon joining CStone, she 
worked as the role of HR and Administration Lead, establishing this department from the ground up and 
progressively extending her management responsibilities to encompass more enabling functions. Ms. Zhang 
also acts as a director in certain of our subsidiaries.

Ms. Zhang has more than 20 years’ working experience in the life science industry. Prior to joining us, Ms. 
Zhang was the HR lead at Simcere-MSD (Shanghai) Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. She was actively involved in 
the initial planning and establishment of a joint venture company, and she was responsible for orchestrating 
the foundational organizational framework and overseeing personnel recruitment during the nascent stages 
of the company’s inception. From December 2002 to August 2011, Ms. Zhang worked at the various 
subsidiaries of Simcere Pharmaceutical (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2096) and her 
last position was the HR head of the Shanghai subsidiary. From July 2000 to November 2002, she was the 
administration assistant at Jiangsu Scottwilson Engineering Consulting Co., Ltd.

Ms. Zhang obtained her master’s degree in applied psychology from Nankai University and bachelor’s degree 
in business management from Inner Mongolia University of Finance and Economics.

Other than the working relationships in the Company, there was no other relationship between any of 
the Directors or senior management of the Company in respect of finance, business and family or in other 
material aspects.
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The Directors present their report and the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the Report ing Per iod, the pr incipal act iv i t ies of the Group included the developing and 
commercializing of innovative immuno-oncology and molecularly targeted drugs to address significant unmet 
medical needs in cancer treatment. There was no significant change in the nature of the Group’s principal 
activities during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at December 31, 2024 are set out in Note 35 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group, the outlook of future development of the business of the 
Group as well as a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the Reporting Period and the 
material factors underlying its financial performance and financial position as required by section 388(2) and 
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and 
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report. The financial risk management objectives and policies 
of the Group are set out in Note 33b to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Details of the consolidated loss of the Group for the Reporting Period and the Group’s financial position as 
at December 31, 2024 are set out in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Board does not recommend payment of a dividend for the year ended December 31, 2024. No dividend 
was paid or declared by the Company or other members of the Group during the year ended December 31, 
2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group endeavours to comply with the 
relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve 
efficient use of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house facilities of the 
Group operate in compliance with the relevant environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its 
environmental policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide contained 
in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s environmental, social and governance report will be 
published and made available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company together with this 
report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, some of which 
are beyond its control:

• We may require additional capital to meet our operating cash requirement, and we may need to obtain 
additional financing to fund our operations. If we are unable to obtain such financing, we may be 
unable to complete the development and commercialization of our primary drug candidates;

• We depend substantially on the success of our drug candidates, majority of which are in pre-clinical or 
clinical development. If we are unable to successfully complete clinical development, obtain regulatory 
approval and commercialize our drug candidates, or experience significant delays in doing so, our 
business could be adversely affected;

• If clinical trials of our drug candidates fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of 
regulatory authorities or do not otherwise produce positive results, we may incur additional costs 
or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development and 
commercialization of our drug candidates;

• All material aspects of the research, development and commercialization of pharmaceutical products 
are heavily regulated. Any failure to comply with existing regulations and industry standards or any 
adverse actions by the drug approval authorities against us could negatively impact our reputation and 
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects;

• We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing 
competing drugs before or more successfully than we do;

• We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world or prevent unfair 
competition by third parties;

• We rely on third parties to conduct our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials and we must work 
effectively with collaborators to develop our drug candidates. If these third parties do not successfully 
carry out their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory 
approval for or commercialize our drug candidates and our business could be substantially affected;

• We may rely on third parties to manufacture or import our clinical and commercial drug supplies. Our 
business could be affected if those third parties fail to provide us with sufficient quantities of product 
or fail to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices; and

• We have entered into collaborations and may form or seek collaborations or strategic alliances or 
enter into additional licensing arrangements in the future, and we may not realize the benefits of such 
alliances or licensing arrangements.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to make their own judgment or consult 
their own investment advisors before making any investment in the Shares.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period are:

Executive Director

Dr. Jianxin Yang (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Wei Li (Chairman)
Mr. Kenneth Walton Hitchner III
Mr. Xianghong Lin
Mr. Edward Hu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Paul Herbert Chew
Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu
Mr. Hongbin Sun
Ms. Yip Betty Ho (appointed on December 30, 2024)

In accordance with article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general meeting of the 
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of 
three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided 
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation 
at least once every three years. Director appointed pursuant to article 16.2 or article 16.3 of the Articles 
of Association shall not be taken into account in determining which Directors are to retire by rotation. 
Accordingly, Dr. Wei Li, Mr. Xianghong Lin and Dr. Paul Herbert Chew will retire from office by rotation 
at the forthcoming AGM. Ms. Yip Betty Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 
December 30, 2024. She will hold office until the AGM and is eligible for re-election at the AGM pursuant 
to article 16.2 of the Articles of Association.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Company are set out in the section 
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

So far as the Directors are aware and save as disclosed in this report, there has been no other change of 
information of Directors during the Reporting Period pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual confirmation in writing of his/her independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that, during the Reporting Period and up 
to the date of this report, all of the INEDs are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

For more information about the service contract entered into by the Company, please see the Corporate 
Governance Report in this report for further details.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Pursuant to Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing 
Rules, the Company has established the Compensation Committee to formulate remuneration policies. The 
remuneration is determined and recommended based on the experience, qualification, position and seniority 
of each Director and senior management. As for the independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration 
is determined by the Board based on the recommendation from the Compensation Committee to ensure that 
INEDs are adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company’s affairs, including 
their participation in Board committees. The remuneration for the executive Director mainly comprises basic 
salaries, pensions and discretionary bonuses. The remuneration for the non-executive Directors and INEDs 
mainly comprises Director’s fee which is determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities by the 
Board. The Directors and the senior management are eligible participants of the applicable share incentive 
plans.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals are set 
out in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this report.

None of the Directors or five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and 
there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors or five highest paid individuals as an 
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors’ fees and other emoluments are supervised by the Compensation Committee and determined 
by the Board with reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the 
Company as well as the prevailing market conditions. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in 
Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Details of the remuneration by band (including share-based payments) of senior management of the 
Company (except for details of the remuneration of Directors which are set out in Note 10 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements), whose biographies are set out in the section headed “Directors and 
Senior Management – Senior Management” of this report, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
are set out below:

HKD

2024
(members
of senior

management)

2023
(members
of senior

management)

2,000,000 – 3,000,000 1 –
4,000,000 – 5,000,000 1 1
5,000,001 – 6,000,000 2 2
6,000,001 – 7,000,000 1 –
7,000,001 – 8,000,000 – 1
9,000,000 – 10,000,000 – 1
20,000,000 – 21,000,000 – 1

5 6

Certain members of senior management and Directors were granted share options or restricted share units 
in respect of their services to the Group. Details of the share-based payment transactions are set out in Note 
29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION AND DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors or other officers of the Company are entitled to be 
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses and liabilities which he/she may sustain or 
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that 
such indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any 
of the Directors. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage 
for the Directors and officers of the Company during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report 
of Directors. The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by 
section 470 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance when the Report of the Board of the Directors prepared 
by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director nor an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in 
any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract of significance concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial 
part of business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into or subsisted during the Reporting 
Period.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report and by way of public announcements from time to time, at no time during 
the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable a 
Director to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any 
other body corporate.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 
13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, save as disclosed in this report, none of the 
Directors is considered to have interests in businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly 
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules.

From time to time our non-executive Directors may serve on the boards of both private and public companies 
within the broader healthcare and biopharmaceutical industries. However, as these non-executive Directors 
are neither our controlling shareholders nor members of our executive management team, we believe 
their holding of offices in such companies would not compromise our ability to carry on our business 
independently from the other companies in which they may hold directorships from time to time.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

There is no non-competition undertaking during the Reporting Period between the Company and the largest 
shareholders of the Company, namely, WuXi Healthcare Ventures II, L.P. and WuXi Healthcare Management, 
LLC.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF 
THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

Interests and Short Positions of our Directors in the Share Capital of the Company

As of December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of 
the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of the associated 
corporations of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a) to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO 
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of 
the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) 
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are as follows:

Long Position in the Shares of the Company

Name of Director or chief executive Nature of interest
Number and

class of securities

Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Company(1)

Dr. Jianxin Yang, CEO and
 executive Director Beneficial Owner 69,524,256 Shares(2) 5.41%
Mr. Kenneth Walton Hitchner III,
 non-executive Director Beneficial Owner 2,613,481 Shares(3) 0.20%
Dr. Wei Li, Chairman of Board and 
 non-executive Director Beneficial Owner 2,000,000 Shares(4) 0.16%
Mr. Edward Hu, non-executive Director Beneficial Owner 2,921,000 Shares(5) 0.23%

Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 1,284,237,212 Shares in issue as of December 31, 2024.

(2) Includes (1) 16,304,256 Shares beneficially held by Dr. Jianxin Yang; (2) Dr. Yang’s entitlement to receive up to 3,000,000 Shares pursuant 
to the exercise of options granted to him under the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan, subject to the vesting and other conditions of those 
options; (3) share options to subscribe for 48,230,000 Shares granted to him under the Post-IPO ESOP, subject to the vesting and other 
conditions of those options; and (4) Dr. Yang’s entitlement to restricted share units equivalent to 1,990,000 Shares granted to him under 
the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to vesting conditions.

(3) Includes (1) 2,597,485 Shares beneficially held by Mr. Hitchner; and (2) Mr. Hitchner’s entitlement to restricted share units equivalent to 
15,996 Shares granted to him under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to vesting conditions.

(4) Includes (i) share options to subscribe for 1,000,000 Shares granted to Dr. Wei Li under the Post-IPO ESOP, subject to the vesting and 
other conditions of those options; and (ii) Dr. Wei Li’s entitlement to restricted share units equivalent to 1,000,000 Shares granted to him 
under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to vesting conditions.

(5) Includes (i) share options to subscribe for 1,000,000 Shares granted to Mr. Edward Hu under the Post-IPO ESOP, subject to the vesting and 
other conditions of those options; (ii) Mr. Edward Hu’s entitlement to restricted share units equivalent to 1,000,000 Shares granted to him 
under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, subject to vesting conditions; and (iii) Mr. Edward Hu’s purchase of 921,000 Shares on October 25, 2024.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or the chief 
executive of the Company has or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying 
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as of December 31, 2024.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE 
COMPANY

Interests and Short Positions Discloseable under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO

As of December 31, 2024, the following are the persons, other than the Directors or the chief executive of 
the Company, who had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the 
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Position in the Shares of the Company

Substantial Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest

Total number of
Shares/underlying

Shares

Approximately
percentage of
interest in our

Company(1)

WuXi Healthcare Ventures II, L.P.(2) Beneficial interest 293,381,444 22.84%
WuXi Healthcare Management, LLC(2) Interest in controlled corporation 293,381,444 22.84%
Graceful Beauty Limited(3) Beneficial interest 142,560,448 11.10%
Boyu Capital Fund II, L.P.(3) Interest in controlled corporation 142,560,448 11.10%
Boyu Capital General Partner II, L.P.(3) Interest in controlled corporation 142,560,448 11.10%
Boyu Capital General Partner II, Ltd.(3) Interest in controlled corporation 142,560,448 11.10%
Boyu Capital Holdings Limited(3) Interest in controlled corporation 142,560,448 11.10%
Pfizer Corporation Hong Kong Limited(4) Beneficial interest 115,928,803 9.03%
Pfizer Inc.(4) Interest in controlled corporation 115,928,803 9.03%
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Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 1,284,237,212 Shares in issue as of December 31, 2024.

(2) As of December 31, 2024, WuXi Healthcare Ventures II, L.P. directly held 293,381,444 Shares. To the best knowledge of us, WuXi 
Healthcare Ventures II, L.P. is a limited partnership established under the laws of Cayman Islands managed by its sole general partner, 
WuXi Healthcare Management, LLC, a Cayman Islands exempted company in which each of its five members holds an equal share of 
equity interest. For the purpose of the SFO, WuXi Healthcare Management, LLC is deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by WuXi 
Healthcare Ventures II, L.P.

(3) As of December 31, 2024, Graceful Beauty Limited, an exempted company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of Cayman 
Islands, directly held 142,560,448 Shares. For the purpose of the SFO, each of Boyu Capital Fund II, L.P. (as the sole shareholder of 
Graceful Beauty Limited), Boyu Capital General Partner II L.P. (as the general partner of Boyu Capital Fund II, L.P.), Boyu Capital General 
Partner II Ltd. (as the general partner of Boyu Capital General Partner II L.P.), and Boyu Capital Holdings Ltd. (as the sole shareholder of 
Boyu Capital General Partner II Ltd.) is deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by Graceful Beauty Limited.

(4) As of December 31, 2024, Pfizer Corporation Hong Kong Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, directly held 
115,928,803 Shares. For the purpose of the SFO, Pfizer Inc., a Delaware-incorporated company listed on the New York Stock Exchange 
and indirectly holding 100% of the shares in Pfizer Corporation Hong Kong Limited is deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by 
Pfizer Corporation Hong Kong Limited.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as of December 31, 2024, the Company 
is not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company) who had 
an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be 
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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LARGEST SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

At no time during the Reporting Period had the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and its largest 
shareholders of the Company or any of their subsidiaries (as the case may be) entered into any contract of 
significance or any contract of significance for the provision of services by any such largest shareholders or 
their subsidiaries (as the case may be) to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

SHARE INCENTIVIZATION SCHEMES

We have adopted three share incentivization schemes, collectively referred to as the Share Incentivization 
Schemes.

Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan

We have adopted the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan by the resolutions in writing of the Board passed on July 
7, 2017 and as amended and restated on August 14, 2018 and as further amended and restated on January 
26, 2019 and as further amended and restated on January 7, 2020. No options and RSUs will be granted 
under the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan after completion of the Listing.

During the Reporting Period, pursuant to the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan, no options or RSUs were granted 
to Directors, other related entity participants, other service providers or other employee participants of the 
Group. As of December 31, 2024, no further options or RSUs were available for grant under the Pre-IPO 
Incentivization Plan. All options granted to Directors and other employee participants of the Group under 
the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan will continue to remain valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of 
the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan. All RSUs granted to Directors and other employee participants of the Group 
under the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan had been fully vested.
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Movement of the options, which were granted under the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan, during the Reporting 
Period is as follows:

Name of 
Participant or
Category of 
Participant

Date of 
grant

Number of
options
held at

January 1,
2024

Number 
of

options
granted

Number 
of

options
lapsed

Number 
of

options
cancelled

Number 
of

options
exercised

Number of
options
held at 

December 31,
2024

Exercise
Price

Exercise 
Period(1)

Vesting 
Period(2)

Weighted
average
closing

price of
the shares

immediately
before the

dates on
which the

options were
exercised

Fair 
value of

options at
the date
of grant

Director
Dr. Jianxin Yang, 
 CEO and
 executive Director

2016-12-07 3,000,000 – – – – 3,000,000 HKD0.20
-HKD0.39

10 years 4 years – US$0.33
-US$0.35

Other employee
 participants

2016-7-11 –
 2019-2-25

1,989,538 – 213,838 – 73,213 1,702,487 HKD0.20
-HKD4.65

10 years 4 years HKD1.13
-HKD1.50

US$0.24
-US$1.39

Other related 
 entity 
 participants

N/A

Other service 
 providers

N/A

Total 4,989,538 – 213,838 – 73,213 4,702,487
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Notes:

(1) The exercise period of all options in the table above shall be 10 years from the date of grant.

(2) The vesting schedule of all options in the table above shall be 25% of the shares will be vested on the first anniversary of the vesting 
commencement date, and the remaining shares will be vested with equal monthly installments over the following thirty-six months.

(3) The closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates on which the options were granted was not applicable as the Company was 
not yet listed on the dates of grant.

(4) Given no option has been granted and no more options will be granted under the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan , it is not applicable for 
the Company to set out the number of Shares that may be issued in respect of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan 
during the Reporting Period divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares).

Post-IPO ESOP

We have adopted the Post-IPO ESOP by resolutions passed by our Company on January 30, 2019, with effect 
upon completion of the Listing, and as amended and restated on March 7, 2023.

The total number of options available for grant under the Post-IPO ESOP as of January 1, 2024 and 
December 31, 2024 was 128,247,234 and 73,262,106, respectively. The total number of options available 
for grant under the Service Provider Sublimit of the Post-IPO ESOP as of January 1, 2024 and December 31, 
2024 was 12,763,640 and 12,663,640, respectively. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares 
available for issue under the Post-IPO ESOP is 78,621,058, representing approximately 6.12% of the Shares 
in issue (excluding treasury Shares).

The grant of options under the Post-IPO ESOP to Dr. Jianxin Yang, Dr. Wei Li and Mr. Edward Hu (the 
“Directors Options Grantees”) on March 28, 2024 are not subject to performance targets. Having 
considered that (i) the grant of options could bring about an immediate incentivization effect for the 
Directors Options Grantees, which was considered a more attractive motivation to the Directors Options 
Grantees for continuing to serve in such roles; (ii) the grant of options to the Directors Options Grantees 
served as a recognition of their past contributions to the Group; and (iii) the grant of options without 
performance target was consistent with the Company’s customary practice on previous grants of share 
incentives to the Directors, employees of the Company (including members of senior management) and 
service providers, the Compensation Committee considered that without performance targets, the grant 
of options to the Directors Options Grantees could align the interests of the Directors Options Grantees 
with incentive to the Directors Options Grantees to work towards the continued success of the Group, and 
reinforce their commitment to provide long-term services to the Group, which is in line with the purpose of 
the Post-IPO ESOP.
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The grant of 2,000,000 options under the Post-IPO ESOP to a member of the senior management on 
October 18, 2024 are not subject to performance targets. Having considered that (i) the grant of options 
to a member of the senior management served as a recognition of his/her past contributions to the Group; 
(ii) the grant of options can bring about an immediate incentivization effect of the grantee, which was 
considered a more attractive motivation to the grantee; and (iii) the grant of options without performance 
target was consistent with the Company’s customary practice on previous grants of share incentives to the 
Directors, employees of the Company (including members of senior management) and service providers, the 
Compensation Committee considered that without any performance targets, the grant of the 2,000,000 
options to a member of the senior management could align the interests of the relevant grantee with 
incentive to the relevant grantee to work towards the continued success of the Group, and reinforce his/her 
commitment in providing long-term services to the Group, which is in line with the purpose of the Post-IPO 
ESOP.

Movement of the options, which were granted under the Post-IPO ESOP, during the Reporting Period is as 
follows:

Name of
Participant
or Category
of Participant

Date
of grant

Closing price
of shares

immediately
before

the date
on which

the options
were

granted

Number
of options

held at
January 1,

2024

Number
of 

options
granted

Number
of 

options
lapsed

Number
of 

options
cancelled

Number
of 

options
exercised

Number
of options

held at
December 

31,
2024

Exercise
Price

Exercise 
Period(1) Vesting Period

Weighted
average
closing

price of
the shares

immediately
before the

dates on
which the

options were
exercised

Fair value of
options at the
date of grant

Directors
Dr. Jianxin Yang, 
 CEO and executive
 Director

2022-08-30 HKD4.77 28,000,000 – – – – 28,000,000 HKD4.660 10 years 4 years(4) – HKD1.49-HKD3.12
2023-01-06 HKD4.92 4,340,000 – – – 4,340,000 HKD4.900 10 years 4 years(5) – HKD3.26
2023-11-08 HKD2.28 14,000,000 – – – 14,000,000 HKD2.350 10 years 4 years(6) – HKD1.11-HKD1.16
2024-03-28 HKD0.96 – 1,890,000 – – – 1,890,000 HKD0.944 10 years 4 years(9) – HKD0.67

Dr. Wei Li, Chairman
 and non-executive 
 Director

2024-03-28 HKD0.96 – 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 HKD0.944 10 years 4 years(9) – HKD0.58

Mr. Edward Hu, 
 non-executive 
 Director

2024-03-28 HKD0.96 – 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 HKD0.944 10 years 4 years(9) – HKD0.58
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Name of
Participant
or Category
of Participant

Date
of grant

Closing price
of shares

immediately
before

the date
on which

the options
were

granted

Number
of options

held at
January 1,

2024

Number
of 

options
granted

Number
of 

options
lapsed

Number
of 

options
cancelled

Number
of 

options
exercised

Number
of options

held at
December 

31,
2024

Exercise
Price

Exercise 
Period(1) Vesting Period

Weighted
average
closing

price of
the shares

immediately
before the

dates on
which the

options were
exercised

Fair value of
options at the
date of grant

Other employee
 participants

2019-04-01 HKD15.88 7,511 – – – – 7,511 HKD15.860 10 years 4 years(3) – HKD7.19
2019-10-11 HKD12.04 8,000 – – – – 8,000 HKD12.200 10 years 4 years(3) – HKD6.90-HKD7.02
2020-04-01 HKD8.70 721,815 – 103,125 – – 618,690 HKD8.850 10 years 4 years(3) – HKD4.58-HKD4.68
2020-11-30 HKD9.99 81,618 – 80,000 – – 1,618 HKD9.960 10 years 4 years(3) – HKD4.83-HKD5.02
2021-04-01 HKD9.25 1,516,353 – 153,704 – – 1,362,649 HKD9.850 10 years 4 years(3) – HKD5.26-HKD6.32
2021-12-10 HKD9.75 72,504 – 50,004 – – 22,500 HKD9.588 10 years 4 years(3) – HKD4.77-HKD5.15
2022-06-06 HKD5.10 4,614,750 – 1,555,248 – – 3,059,502 HKD5.274 10 years 4 years(3) – HKD2.63-HKD2.93
2022-07-21 HKD4.90 3,267,246 – 1,057,746 – – 2,209,500 HKD5.002 10 years 4 years(3) – HKD2.30-HKD2.39
2023-01-06 HKD4.92 5,814,642 – 1,625,268 – – 4,189,374 HKD4.900 10 years 4 years(3) – HKD2.63-HKD2.83
2023-03-23 HKD3.67 10,643,215 – 2,815,644 – – 7,827,571 HKD3.768 10 years 4 years(8) – HKD0.75-HKD2.01
2024-03-28 HKD0.96 – 7,262,900 642,500 – – 6,620,400 HKD0.944 10 years 4 years(9) – HKD0.45-HKD0.48
2024-10-18 HKD1.62 – 6,280,000 – – – 6,280,000 HKD1.760 10 years 4 years(10)(11)(12) – HKD0.86-HKD1.04

Other related  
entity  
participants

N/A

Other service 
 providers(7)

2023-03-23 HKD3.67 59,840 – – – – 59,840 HKD3.768 10 years 4 years(8) – HKD1.86
2024-03-28 HKD0.96 – 50,000 – – – 50,000 HKD0.944 10 years 4 years(9) – HKD0.55

Total 73,147,494 17,482,900 8,083,239 – – 82,547,155
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Notes:

(1) The exercise period of all options in the table above shall be 10 years from the date of grant.

(2) All options granted are subject to any of the individual performance result and other requirements as set out in the grant letters to be 
entered into between each of the grantees and the Company.

(3) The vesting schedules of the grant of options shall vest in accordance with either of the followings:

• 25% of shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant and the remaining shares shall vest with equal monthly installments 
over the thirty-six months immediately following the first anniversary of the date of grant;

• 25% shall vest on each of the first to fourth anniversary of the date of grant; or

• 25% shall vest on each of the first to fourth anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone.

(4) The vesting schedules of the grant of 28,000,000 options to Dr. Jianxin Yang shall be as follows:

• 14,000,000 options granted to Dr. Yang shall vest as follows:

25% shall vest on the first anniversary of August 25, 2022 (rounding to the nearest whole option);

25% shall vest on the second anniversary of August 25, 2022 (rounding to the nearest whole option);

25% shall vest on the third anniversary of August 25, 2022 (rounding to the nearest whole option); and

25% shall vest on the fourth anniversary of August 25, 2022 (rounding to the nearest whole option).

• The remaining 14,000,000 options granted to Dr. Yang are divided into various batches of options. Upon satisfaction of the 
performance target milestone specified for each batch of options, the respective batch of options shall vest as follows:

25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to the 
nearest whole option);

25% shall vest on the second anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to 
the nearest whole option);

25% shall vest on the third anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to the 
nearest whole option); and

25% shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to the 
nearest whole option).

(5) The vesting schedules of the grant of 4,340,000 options to Dr. Jianxin Yang shall be as follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant (rounding to the nearest whole option); and

• 75% shall vest monthly in equal installments over the 36 months (rounding to the nearest whole option) immediately following the 
first anniversary of the date of grant.

(6) The vesting schedules of the grant of 14,000,000 Options to Dr. Jianxin Yang shall be as follows:

Upon satisfaction of the performance target milestone specified for each batch of Options, the respective batch of Options shall vest as 
follows:

• 25% of Share Options corresponding to the relevant performance target milestone shall vest on the first anniversary of the 
respective the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone; and

• the remaining 75% of Share Options corresponding to the relevant performance target milestone shall vest monthly in equal 
installments over the 36 months immediately following the first anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance 
target milestone.
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(7) According to the relevant scheme rules, Service Providers means any persons (nature person or corporate entity) who provide services 
to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis in the ordinary course of business of the Group which are in the interests of the 
long term growth of the Group, including independent contractor, consultant and/or advisors for the research & development, product 
commercialization, marketing, innovation upgrading, strategic/commercial planning on corporate image and investor relations in 
investment environment of the Company (excluding any placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory services for fundraising, 
mergers or acquisition, and service providers such as auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or are required to perform their services 
with impartiality and objectivity).

(8) The vesting commencement date of the 12,721,120 options out of the total of 14,321,120 options granted to other employee participants 
and service providers on March 23, 2023 (the “March 2023 Grant”) was April 1, 2023 (the “Vesting Commencement Date”). No 
performance targets were attached to the 12,721,120 options granted. The 12,721,120 options shall commence vesting as follows:

480,000 options granted under the March 2023 Grant shall vest as follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole option);

• 25% shall vest on the second anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole option);

• 25% shall vest on the third anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole option); and

• 25% shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole option).

12,241,120 options granted under the March 2023 Grant shall vest as follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole option); and

• 75% shall vest monthly in equal installments over the 36 months (rounding to the nearest whole option) immediately following the 
first anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date.

The remaining 1,600,000 options out of the March 2023 Grant shall commence vesting upon satisfaction of the performance target 
milestone (including individual performance based on periodic performance assessment and annual review results by the Company) as 
follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to the 
nearest whole option);

• 25% shall vest on the second anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to 
the nearest whole option);

• 25% shall vest on the third anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to the 
nearest whole option); and

• 25% shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to the 
nearest whole option).

(9) The vesting commencement date of the total of 11,202,900 options granted to Directors, other employee participants and other service 
providers on March 28, 2024 was April 1, 2024 (the “Vesting Commencement Date”). The grant of such options is not subject to 
performance targets and shall vest as follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole option); and

• 75% shall vest monthly in equal installments over the 36 months (rounding to the nearest whole option) immediately following the 
first anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date.
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(10) The vesting commencement date of the 2,000,000 options granted to a member of the senior management shall commence on October 
18, 2024 (the “Senior Manager Options Vesting Commencement Date”) and shall vest as follow:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the Senior Manager Options Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole 
option); and

• 75% shall vest monthly in equal instalments over the 36 months (rounding to the nearest whole option) immediately following the 
first anniversary of the Senior Manager Options Vesting Commencement Date.

(11) Among the aggregate of 6,280,000 options granted to the grantees, the vesting period of the 4,000,000 options granted shall commence 
on the dates upon which the relevant employee participant having fulfilled the following performance target milestones (the “Milestone 
Vesting Commencement Dates”):

• Vesting period of 1,000,000 options shall commence on the date of fulfilment of the first performance target milestone;

• Vesting period of 2,500,000 options shall commence on the date of fulfilment of the second performance target milestone; and

• Vesting period of 500,000 options shall commence on the date of fulfilment of the third performance target milestone.

Subject to fulfilment of the respective performance target milestones, 4,000,000 options granted shall vest as follows:

• 25% of options corresponding to the relevant performance target milestone shall vest on the first anniversary of the respective 
Milestone Vesting Commencement Dates;

• 25% of options corresponding to the relevant performance target milestone shall vest on the second anniversary of the respective 
Milestone Vesting Commencement Dates;

• 25% of options corresponding to the relevant performance target milestone shall vest on the third anniversary of the respective 
Milestone Vesting Commencement Dates; and

• 25% of options corresponding to the relevant performance target milestone shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the respective 
Milestone Vesting Commencement Dates.
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(12) Among the 280,000 options granted to the employee participants, the vesting period of 80,000 options shall commence on June 13, 
2024 and the vesting period of 200,000 options shall commence on October 9, 2024 (the “Employee Options Vesting Commencement 
Dates”). The 280,000 options shall vest as follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the respective Employee Options Vesting Commencement Dates (rounding to the nearest 
whole option);

• 25% shall vest on the second anniversary of the respective Employee Options Vesting Commencement Dates (rounding to the 
nearest whole option);

• 25% shall vest on the third anniversary of the respective Employee Options Vesting Commencement Dates (rounding to the nearest 
whole option); and

• 25% shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the respective Employee Options Vesting Commencement Dates (rounding to the 
nearest whole option);

The options granted to the grantees shall vest in several batches, with a total vesting period of more than 12 months. Due to 
administrative reasons, the periods between the date of grant and the first vesting periods for the 280,000 options granted to two of the 
grantees (none of which is a member of senior management) are less than 12 months to reflect the time from which the options would 
have been granted as permitted under specific circumstances as set out in the Post-IPO ESOP. In any event, the Board has the discretion to 
accelerate the above vesting schedules of the options, subject to compliance with the requirements of Rule 17.03F of the Listing Rules as 
and when appropriate. The Board was of the view that the grant of options and the relevant vesting periods were appropriate and in line 
with the market practice and the purposes of the Post-IPO ESOP.

(13) The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options granted under the Post-IPO ESOP during the Reporting Period divided by 
the weighted average number of Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares) for the period was 1.37%.

(14) For details of the basis of measurement for the fair value of options granted, please refer to note 29 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

Post-IPO RSU Scheme

We have adopted the Post-IPO RSU Scheme by resolutions passed by our Company on March 22, 2019 and 
restated and amended by our Company on December 10, 2019, January 7, 2020 and March 7, 2023, as 
amended from time to time.

The total number of RSUs available for grant under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme as of January 1, 2024 and 
December 31, 2024 was 128,247,234 and 73,262,106, respectively. The total number of RSUs available for 
grant under the Service Provider Sublimit of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme as of January 1, 2024 and December 
31, 2024 was 12,763,640 and 12,663,640, respectively. As at the date of this report, the total number of 
shares available for issue under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme was 12,524,548, representing approximately 0.98% 
of the Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares).

The grant of RSUs under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme to Dr. Jianxin Yang, Dr. Wei Li and Mr. Edward Hu (the 
“Directors RSUs Grantees”) on March 28, 2024 are not subject to performance targets. Having considered 
that (i) the grant of RSUs could bring about an immediate incentivization effect for the Directors RSUs 
Grantees, which was considered a more attractive motivation to the Directors RSUs Grantees for continuing 
to serve in such roles; (ii) the grant of RSUs to the Directors RSUs Grantees served as a recognition of their 
past contributions to the Group; and (iii) the grant of RSUs without performance target was consistent with 
the Company’s customary practice on previous grants of share incentives to the Directors, employees of the 
Company (including members of senior management) and service providers, the Compensation Committee 
considered that without performance targets, the grant of RSUs to the Directors RSUs Grantees could align 
the interests of the Directors RSUs Grantees with incentive to the Directors RSUs Grantees to work towards 
the continued success of the Group, and reinforce their commitment to provide long-term services to the 
Group, which is in line with the purpose of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme.
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Details of RSUs granted under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, during the Reporting Period are as follows:

Name of Participant
or Category
of Participant

Date
of grant

Closing price
of shares

immediately
before

the date
on which
the RSUs

were
granted

Number
of RSUs
held at

January 1,
2024

Number
of RSUs
granted

Number
of RSUs

lapsed

Number
of RSUs

cancelled

Number
of RSUs
vested

Number
of RSUs
held at

December 
31,

2024
Vesting 

Period
Exercise 
Period(8)

Purchase 
Price(7)

Weighted
average
closing

price of
the shares

immediately
before the

dates on
which the

RSUs were
vested

Fair value of
RSUs at the
date of grant

Directors
Dr. Jianxin Yang, CEO
 and executive Director

2021-04-01 HKD9.25 400,000 – – – 300,000 100,000 4 years(1) N/A Nil HKD1.48 HKD9.85
2024-03-28 HKD0.96 – 1,890,000 – – – 1,890,000 4 years(2) N/A Nil – HKD0.94

Dr. Wei Li, Chairman and
 non-executive Director

2024-03-28 HKD0.96 – 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 4 years(2) N/A Nil – HKD0.94

Mr. Edward Hu, 
 non-executive Director

2024-03-28 HKD0.96 – 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 4 years(2) N/A Nil – HKD0.94

Kenneth Walton Hitchner III, 
 non-executive Director

2021-12-10 HKD9.75 31,991 – – – 15,995 15,996 4 years(1) N/A Nil HKD2.30 HKD9.33

Other employee
 participants

2019-10-11 HKD12.04 1,151 – – – – 1,151 4 years(1) N/A Nil – HKD12.20
2020-04-01 HKD8.70 5,500 – – – 5,500 – 4 years(1) N/A Nil HKD0.91 HKD8.60
2020-07-13 HKD11.10 30,000 – 30,000 – – – 4 years(1) N/A Nil – HKD10.78
2020-11-30 HKD9.99 156,000 – 153,000 – 3,000 – 4 years(1) N/A Nil HKD2.24 HKD9.53
2021-04-01 HKD9.25 390,450 – 54,950 – 194,250 141,250 4 years(1) N/A Nil HKD1.09 HKD9.85
2021-07-02 HKD17.10 508,000 – 10,500 – 232,500 265,000 4 years(1) N/A Nil HKD1.10 HKD16.20
2021-12-10 HKD9.75 302,456 – 70,344 – 116,056 116,056 4 years(1) N/A Nil HKD1.54 HKD9.33
2022-06-06 HKD5.10 251,250 – 172,500 – 78,750 – 4 years(1) N/A Nil HKD1.01 HKD5.09
2023-03-23 HKD3.67 2,495,020 – 632,590 – 583,121 1,279,309 4 years(4)(5) N/A Nil HKD1.25 HKD3.57
2024-03-28 HKD0.96 – 7,257,900 640,500 – – 6,617,400 4 years(2) N/A Nil – HKD0.94
2024-10-18 HKD1.62 – 200,000 – – – 200,000 4 years(6) N/A Nil – HKD1.76

Other related entity  
participants

N/A

Other service 
 providers(3)

2023-03-23 HKD3.67 14,960 – – – 3,740 11,220 4 years(4)(5) N/A Nil HKD1.42 HKD3.57
2024-03-28 HKD0.96 – 50,000 – – – 50,000 4 years(2) N/A Nil – HKD0.94

Total 4,586,778 11,397,900 1,764,384 – 1,532,912 12,687,382
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Notes:

(1) The vesting schedules of the grant of RSUs shall vest in accordance with either of the followings:

• 25% of the shares shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant and the remaining shares shall vest with equal monthly 
installments over the thirty-six months immediately following the first anniversary of the date of grant; or

• 25% shall vest on each of the first to fourth anniversary of the date of grant;

• 25% shall vest on each of the first to fourth anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone.

(2) The vesting commencement date of the 1,890,000 RSUs granted to Dr. Jianxin Yang, 1,000,000 RSUs granted to Dr. Wei Li and 1,000,000 
RSUs granted to Mr. Edward Hu, 7,257,900 RSUs granted to other employee participants and 50,000 RSUs granted to other service 
providers on March 28, 2024 (the “March 2024 RSU Grant”) was April 1, 2024 (the “Vesting Commencement Date”). No performance 
targets were attached to the March 2024 RSU Grant. The total of 11,197,900 RSUs granted to Directors, other employee participants and 
other service providers shall vest as follows:

925,500 RSUs out of the 11,197,900 RSUs granted under the March 2024 RSU Grant shall vest as follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the RSU Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU);

• 25% shall vest on the second anniversary of the RSU Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU);

• 25% shall vest on the third anniversary of the RSU Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU); and

• 25% shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the RSU Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU).

10,272,400 RSUs out of the 11,197,900 RSUs granted under the March 2024 RSU Grant shall vest as follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the RSU Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU); and

• 75% shall vest monthly in equal instalments over the 36 months (rounding to the nearest whole RSU) immediately following the 
first anniversary of the RSU Vesting Commencement Date.

(3) According to the relevant scheme rules, service providers means any persons (nature person or corporate entity) who provide services 
to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis in the ordinary course of business of the Group which are in the interests of the 
long term growth of the Group, including independent contractor, consultant and/or advisors for the research & development, product 
commercialization, marketing, innovation upgrading, strategic/commercial planning on corporate image and investor relations in 
investment environment of the Company (excluding any placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory services for fundraising, 
mergers or acquisition, and service providers such as auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or are required to perform their services 
with impartiality and objectivity).

(4) The vesting commencement date of the 2,979,180 RSUs out of the total of 3,379,180 RSUs granted to other employee participants and 
service providers on March 23, 2023 (the “March 2023 RSU Grant”) was April 1, 2023 (the “Vesting Commencement Date”). No 
performance targets were attached to the 2,979,180 RSUs granted.

The remaining 400,000 RSUs granted under the March 2023 RSU Grant to one employee amongst the other employee participants shall 
commence vesting upon certain performance target (including individual performance based on periodic performance assessment and 
annual review results by the Company) and other requirements as set out in the grant letter entered into between the employee and the 
Company have been met.
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(5) 1,059,180 RSUs granted under the March 2023 RSU Grant shall vest as follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU);

• 25% shall vest on the second anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU);

• 25% shall vest on the third anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU); and

• 25% shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU).

1,920,000 RSUs granted under the March 2023 RSU Grant shall vest as follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU); and

• 75% shall vest monthly in equal installments over the 36 months (rounding to the nearest whole RSU) immediately following the 
first anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date.

400,000 RSUs granted under the March 2023 RSU Grant shall vest as follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to the 
nearest whole RSU);

• 25% shall vest on the second anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to 
the nearest whole RSU);

• 25% shall vest on the third anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to the 
nearest whole RSU); and

• 25% shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone (rounding to the 
nearest whole RSU).

(6) The vesting commencement date of the 200,000 RSUs granted on October 18, 2024 was October 9, 2024. The 200,000 RSUs shall vest as 
follows:

• 25% shall vest on the first anniversary of the RSU Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU);

• 25% shall vest on the second anniversary of the RSU Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU);

• 25% shall vest on the third anniversary of the RSU Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU); and

• 25% shall vest on the fourth anniversary of the RSU Vesting Commencement Date (rounding to the nearest whole RSU).

The RSUs granted to the grantee shall vest in several batches, with a total vesting period of more than 12 months. Due to administrative 
reasons, the period between the date of grant and the first vesting period for the RSUs granted to the grantee is less than 12 months to 
reflect the time from which the RSUs would have been granted as permitted under specific circumstances as set out in the Post-IPO RSU 
Scheme. In any event, the Board has the discretion to accelerate the above vesting schedules of the RSUs, subject to compliance with 
the requirements of Rule 17.03F of the Listing Rules as and when appropriate. The Board was of the view that the grant of RSUs and the 
relevant vesting periods were appropriate and in line with the market practice and the purposes of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme.

A time-based vesting schedule is applicable to the grant of RSUs with no performance target attached.

(7) The RSUs under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme were granted to the grantees at nil consideration and were or will be transferred to the grantees 
upon vesting at nil consideration.

(8) Exercise period is not applicable to RSUs. 

(9) The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of RSUs granted under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme during the Reporting Period divided 
by the weighted average number of Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares) for the period was 0.89%.

(10) For details of the basis of measurement for the fair value of RSUs granted, please refer to note 29 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.
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For further details of the Share Incentivization Schemes, including the fair value of the options and RSUs 
granted under the Share Incentivization Schemes, please refer to note 29 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

SUMMARY OF THE SHARE INCENTIVIZATION SCHEMES

The major terms and details of the Share Incentivization Schemes are set out below:

Details
Pre-IPO
Incentivization Plan Post-IPO ESOP Post-IPO RSU Scheme

1. Purpose To attract, motivate and/or 
to reward eligible employees, 
officers, directors, contractor, 
advisors and consultants of our 
Group.

To attract and retain employees, to 
reward eligible participants for their past 
contribution to the Company, to provide 
incentives to the eligible participants 
to further contribute to the Group 
and to align their interests with the 
best interests of the Company and the 
Shareholders as a whole.

To:

• recognize the contributions by 
certain selected participants with an 
opportunity to acquire a proprietary 
interest in the Company;

• encourage and retain such 
individuals for the continual 
operation and development of the 
Group;

• provide additional incentives for 
them to achieve performance goals;

• attract suitable personnel for further 
development of the Group; and

• motivate the selected participants to 
maximize the value of the Company 
for the benefits of both the selected 
participants and the Company, with 
a view to achieving the objectives 
of increasing the value of the Group 
and aligning the interests of the 
selected participants directly to 
the Shareholders of the Company 
through ownership of Shares.
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Details
Pre-IPO
Incentivization Plan Post-IPO ESOP Post-IPO RSU Scheme

2. Participants Eligible employees include any 
employee, officer, director, 
contractor, advisor or consultant 
of the Group who is notified 
by the Board that he or she 
is eligible by reason of their 
contribution to the Group.

Eligible employees include any employee, 
officer, director, contractor, advisor or 
consultant of the Group who is notified 
by the Board that he or she is an 
employee eligible by reason of his or her 
contribution to the Group, to the extent 
that an offer of an award to or a receipt 
of such award by him or her is permitted 
under the applicable laws, rules and 
regulations or accounting or tax rules 
and regulations. In the amended rules 
of the Post-IPO ESOP as adopted on the 
Amendment Date, eligible participants 
include (i) employee participant: any 
employee (whether fulltime or part-time), 
a director (including executive directors, 
non-executive directors and independent 
non-executive directors) of any member 
of the Group, and any persons who are 
granted awards under this plan as an 
inducement to enter into employment 
contracts with any member of the Group, 
in each case until such employee shall 
cease to be an employee with effect from 
(and including) the date of termination 
of his or her employment; and (ii) service 
provider: any persons (nature person or 
corporate entity) who provide services 
to the Group on a continuing and 
recurring basis in the ordinary course 
of business of the Group which are in 
the interests of the long term growth 
of the Group, including independent 
contractor, consultant and/or advisors 
for the R&D, product commercialization, 
marketing, innovation upgrading, 
strategic/commercial planning on 
corporate image and investor relations in 
investment environment of the Company 
(excluding any placing agents or financial 
advisers providing advisory services for 
fundraising, mergers or acquisition, and 
service providers such as auditors or 
valuers who provide assurance, or are 
required to perform their services with 
impartiality and objectivity).

Eligible persons include any employee 
of any member of the Group and any 
consultant, adviser or agent of any 
member of the Group (including the 
connected persons (as defined in the 
Listing Rules) of the Company), who 
have contributed or will contribute to the 
growth and development of the Group. 
In the amended rules of the Post-IPO RSU 
Scheme as adopted on the Amendment 
Date, eligible participants include (i) 
employee participant: any employee 
(whether full-time or part-time), a 
director (including executive directors, 
non-executive directors and independent 
non-executive directors) of any member 
of the Group, and any persons who are 
granted awards under this scheme as an 
inducement to enter into employment 
contracts with any member of the Group, 
in each case until such employee shall 
cease to be an employee with effect from 
(and including) the date of termination 
of his or her employment; and (ii) service 
provider: any persons (nature person or 
corporate entity) who provide services 
to the Group on a continuing and 
recurring basis in the ordinary course 
of business of the Group which are in 
the interests of the long term growth 
of the Group, including independent 
contractor, consultant and/or advisors 
for the R&D, product commercialization, 
marketing, innovation upgrading, 
strategic/commercial planning on 
corporate image and investor relations in 
investment environment of the Company 
(excluding any placing agents or financial 
advisers providing advisory services for 
fundraising, mergers or acquisition, and 
service providers such as auditors or 
valuers who provide assurance, or are 
required to perform their services with 
impartiality and objectivity).
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Details
Pre-IPO
Incentivization Plan Post-IPO ESOP Post-IPO RSU Scheme

3. Maximum 
number of 
Shares that can 
be awarded

The maximum number of 
Shares in respect of which 
awards may be granted under 
the plan shall not, subject to 
any reorganisation of capital 
structure and other corporate 
events, exceed 130,831,252 
Shares in the aggregate (taken 
into account of the capitalization 
issue on the Listing Date).

The maximum number of Shares in 
respect of which awards may be granted 
or delivered in satisfaction of awards 
under the plan shall not, subject to 
any reorganisation of capital structure 
and other corporate events, exceed 
98,405,153 (taken into account of the 
capitalization issue on the Listing Date), 
being 10% of the Shares in issue as 
of the adoption date. The limit on the 
number of Shares which may be issued 
upon exercise of all outstanding options 
granted and yet to be exercised under 
the plan and any other schemes must 
not exceed 30% of the relevant class of 
Shares in issue from time to time. In the 
amended rules of the Post-IPO ESOP as 
adopted on the Amendment Date, the 
Company shall not make any further 
grant of options which will result in the 
aggregate number of Shares underlying 
all grants of (i) new Shares or restricted 
share units or restricted shares of the 
Company; or (ii) options over new Shares 
made pursuant to this Plan and other 
share schemes adopted by the Company 
from time to time to exceed 128,384,401 
Shares, representing 10% of the total 
number of issued Shares as of the 
Amendment Date without Shareholders’ 
approval (the “Scheme Mandate 
Limit”). Within the Scheme Mandate 
Limit, the total number of Awards which 
may be granted under this plan and 
grants made under other share schemes 
of the Company to service providers 
shall not exceed 12,838,440 Shares, 
representing 1% of the total number of 
Shares in issue on the Amendment Date 
(the “Service Provider Sublimit”).

The Board may not make any further 
award which will result in the aggregate 
number of the Shares awarded by the 
Board under the scheme exceeding, 
initially, 7,650,000 Shares (being 
approximately 0.78% of the issued 
share capital of the Company as at the 
adoption date), which was subsequently 
increased to 38,010,316 Shares (being 
approximately 2.96% of the issued 
share capital of the Company as at 
December 31, 2024) pursuant to a 
board meeting dated July 15, 2019. In 
the amended rules of the Post-IPO RSU 
Scheme as adopted on the Amendment 
Date, the Company shall not make any 
further grant of restricted new share 
award which will result in the aggregate 
number of Shares underlying all grants 
of (i) new Shares of the Company; or (ii) 
options over new Shares made pursuant 
to this scheme and other share schemes 
adopted by the Company to exceed 
the Scheme Mandate Limit. Within the 
Scheme Mandate Limit, the total number 
of restricted new shares which may be 
granted under this scheme and grants 
made under other share schemes of the 
Company to service providers shall not 
exceed the Service Provider Sublimit. The 
maximum number of grant of restricted 
existing shares under this scheme is 
5% of the total issued Shares of the 
Company as at the Amendment Date 
(excluding any restricted existing shares 
lapsed in accordance with term of this 
scheme).
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Details
Pre-IPO
Incentivization Plan Post-IPO ESOP Post-IPO RSU Scheme

4. Maximum 
entitlement of 
each participant

No employee shall be granted 
an award which, if exercised 
or settled in full, would result 
in such employee becoming 
entitled to subscribe for such 
number of shares as, when 
aggregated with the total 
number of shares already issued 
under all the awards previously 
granted to him which have 
been exercised, and, issuable 
or settled under all the awards 
previously granted to him which 
for the time being subsisting and 
unexercised, would exceed 10% 
of the aggregate number of 
Shares for the time being issued 
and issuable under the plan.

Except with the approval of the 
Shareholders in general meeting, no 
option may be granted to any one 
person which, if exercised or settled in 
full, such that the total number of Shares 
issued and to be issued upon exercise of 
options and any other option over the 
Shares (including exercised, cancelled 
and outstanding options) granted and 
to be granted to such person in any 
12-month period up to the date of the 
latest grant exceeds 1% of the Shares in 
issue from time to time. In the amended 
rules of the Post-IPO ESOP as adopted 
on the Amendment Date, for any 
12-month period up to and including 
the grant date, the aggregate number 
of Shares issued and to be issued in 
respect of all options granted to any 
eligible participant under this plan and 
any grants made under any other share 
scheme(s) of the Company (excluding 
any options or awards lapsed under any 
share scheme of the Company) shall 
not exceed 1% of the total number of 
the Shares in issue as at the grant date 
without Shareholders’ approval.

In the amended rules of the Post-IPO RSU 
Scheme as adopted on the Amendment 
Date, for any 12-month period up to and 
including the grate date, the aggregate 
number of Shares issued and to be issued 
in respect of all restricted new shares 
granted to any selected participant and 
all grants made under any other share 
scheme(s) of the Company (excluding 
any options and/or awards lapsed in 
accordance with the share schemes of 
the Company) shall not exceed 1% of 
the total number of the Shares in issue as 
at the grate date without Shareholders’ 
approval. Where any grant of awards to 
a substantial shareholder of the Company 
or an independent non-executive 
Director, or their respective associates, 
would result in the total number of 
Shares issued and to be issued in respect 
of all awards or options granted and 
to be granted to such person in the 
12-month period up to and including 
the date of such grant (excluding any 
awards or options lapsed in accordance 
with the terms of the share schemes of 
the Company), representing in aggregate 
over 0.1% of the total number of Shares 
in issue, such further grant of awards 
must be approved by the Shareholders in 
general meeting.

5. Option period The period during which the 
option can be exercised as set 
forth in the relevant offer letters 
in accordance with the plan.

The period during which the option can 
be exercised as set forth in the relevant 
offer letters in accordance with the plan, 
which, in any event, must end on or 
before the tenth anniversary of the date 
of the grant of such option.

In the amended rules of the Post-IPO 
ESOP as adopted on the Amendment 
Date, the option must be held by the 
grantee for at least 12 months before 
the option can be vested save for the 
exceptional circumstances prescribed in 
the plan.

The vesting of the awarded Shares 
is subject to the selected participant 
remaining at all times after the grant 
date and on the date of vesting, an 
eligible person, subject to the rules of 
the scheme.

Save for the circumstances prescribed in 
the scheme, the vesting period of the 
restricted new shares granted shall not 
be less than 12 months.
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Details
Pre-IPO
Incentivization Plan Post-IPO ESOP Post-IPO RSU Scheme

6. Acceptance of 
offer

Awards granted must be accepted within the period as stated in the offer of the grant, upon payment of exercise price 
as set out in the relevant offer letter per grant, if any. There is no amount payable solely for application or acceptance 
of the option or awards.

7. Exercise price The subscription price shall be 
approved by the Board and shall 
be set out in the offer letter.

The exercise prices of the 
options granted between the 
adoption date and the Listing 
Date include US$0.1, US$0.2, 
US$0.57 and US$2.37 (without 
taking into account the effect of 
the capitalisation issue).

The subscription price shall be approved 
by the Board and shall be set out in the 
offer letter. The subscription price per 
Share of each award requiring exercise 
must be determined in accordance with 
the Fair Market Value of the Shares 
subject to the award, determined as of 
the date of grant.

“Fair Market Value” means the higher 
of (a) the closing price of a Share on the 
date of grant, which must be a business 
day, on the principal stock market or 
exchange on which the Shares are 
quoted or traded, and (b) the average 
closing price of a Share for the five 
trading days immediately preceding the 
date of grant, on the principal stock 
market or exchange on which the Shares 
are quoted or traded, or if Shares are 
not so quoted or traded, the fair market 
value of a Share as determined by the 
Compensation Committee.

–

8. Remaining life of 
the scheme

The plan shall be valid and 
effective for the period of 
ten years commencing on the 
adoption date until July 7, 2027 
after which period no further 
awards will be granted, but 
the provisions of the plan shall 
in all other respects remain 
in full force and effect and 
the grantees may exercise the 
options in accordance with the 
terms upon which the options 
are granted. The remaining life 
of the plan is approximately two 
years and three months as at the 
date of this report.

The plan shall be valid and effective for 
the period of ten years commencing 
on the adoption date until February 
26, 2029 after which period no 
further awards will be granted, but 
the provisions of the plan shall in all 
other respects remain in full force and 
effect and the grantees may exercise 
the options in accordance with the 
terms upon which the options are 
granted. The remaining life of the plan 
is approximately three years and ten 
months as at the date of this report.

The scheme remains valid and effective 
from the adoption date until March 22, 
2029, being the tenth anniversary of the 
adoption date, after which period no 
further awards will be granted, but the 
provisions of the scheme will in all other 
respects remain in full force and effect 
and awards that are granted from the 
adoption date until the tenth anniversary 
of the adoption date may continue to 
be exercisable in accordance with their 
terms of issue. The remaining life of the 
scheme is approximately three years and 
eleven months as at the date of this 
report.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

None of the related parties transactions as disclosed in Note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
constitute connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules. During the Reporting Period, there were no connected transactions nor continuing connected 
transactions of the Group which has to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by geographical areas of the operations for 
the Reporting Period is set out in Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Reporting Period 
are set out in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the Shares issued by the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 28 and Note 
29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. No placing or fund raising activities took place during the 
Reporting Period.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not have any distributable reserves.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS

On September 30, 2020 (before trading hours), the Company entered into the share subscription agreement 
with Pfizer, pursuant to which Pfizer has conditionally agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of 115,928,803 
subscription shares at the subscription price of approximately HK$13.37 per Share (the closing price of the 
Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on September 30, 2020 was HK$9.84 per Share) (the “Share 
Subscription”). Pfizer applies science and its global resources to improve health and well-being at every 
stage of life, and was a third party independent of the Company or any of its connected person at the time 
of the Share Subscription. The gross proceeds from the allotment and issue of the subscription shares were 
approximately US$200.0 million (equivalent to approximately RMB1,355.9 million), which will be used for 
the funding of the development activities under the collaboration agreement dated September 30, 2020 (the 
“Collaboration Agreement”). The Company entered into the Share Subscription and the Collaboration 
Agreement to advance the Company’s strategic, commercial and financial objectives as it transitions into 
a fully integrated biopharma company. All the conditions of the subscription have been fulfilled and the 
closing of the subscription took place on October 9, 2020. The use of these proceeds is in line with the 
planned use and there is no significant change.

The table below sets out the planned applications of the proceeds and actual usage up to December 31, 
2024:

% of use of
proceeds

Proceeds
from the

subscription

Unutilized
net proceeds

as of
December 31,

2023

Actual usage
during

the Reporting
Period

Unutilized
net proceeds

as of
December 31,

2024
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)

Fund the development activities under 
the collaboration agreement 100% 1,355.9 409.3 – 409.3

Note: The unutilized net proceeds are planned to be put into use by December 31, 2025. Please refer to the 2023 annual report of the 
Company for details.
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On February 8, 2023 (before trading hours), the Company entered into a placing agreement with Morgan 
Stanley Asia Limited (the “Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to place, through 
the Placing Agent, an aggregate of 84,800,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at a price 
of HK$4.633 per placing share (the closing price of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 
February 8, 2023 was HK$4.68 per Share). The placees are professional, institutional, or other investors, 
and together with their ultimate beneficial owners, are third parties independent of the Company and 
any of its connected persons. The placing would enlarge the Shareholder base and the capital base of the 
Company, and strengthen the Group’s financial position for its future development. The net proceeds from 
the placing, after deducting the placing commission and other related expenses and professional fees, were 
approximately HK$389.07 million (equivalent to approximately RMB338.12 million). The Company intends to 
use the net proceeds for purposes as stated below. All the conditions of the placing were fulfilled and the 
closing of the placing took place on February 15, 2023. The use of these proceeds is in line with the planned 
use and there is no significant change or delay.

The table below sets out the planned applications of the proceeds and actual usage up to December 31, 
2024:

% of use of
proceeds

Proceeds
from

the placing

Unutilized
net proceeds

as of
December 31,

2023

Actual
usage during

the Reporting
Period

Unutilized
net proceeds

as of
December 31,

2024
(RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)

Commercialization and indication expansion 
of marketed products such as pralsetinib, 
avapritinib, and ivosidenib, as well as 
technology transfer to reduce drug supply 
cost and improve profitability 20% 67.62 – – –

Development of pipeline products including but 
not limited to CS5001 (a potentially best-in-
class ROR1 ADC) 50% 169.06 53.47 53.47 –

Business development activities to enrich the 
Company’s pipeline and fully utilize the 
Company’s proven clinical capabilities 20% 67.62 52.31 52.31 –

General corporate purposes 10% 33.82 19.11 19.11 –

Total 100% 338.12 124.89 124.89 –

Note: The net proceeds have been fully utilized by December 31, 2024.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, 
the Company had maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period 
and up to the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 
securities (including any sale of treasury Shares (as defined in the Listing Rules)) during the Reporting Period. 
As at December 31, 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury Shares as defined in the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman 
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If any of the Shareholders is unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, 
dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares, he or she is advised to consult an expert. 
The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings 
of the Shares.

BANK BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings were RMB318,200,000, all bank borrowings 
denominated in RMB. In 2024, the Group obtained a new bank loan facility of RMB100 million for 
replenishing working capital and has withdrawn RMB50 million. As at December 31, 2024, RMB50 million 
remaining available for drawdown under this bank facility. For details on the maturity profile of our 
borrowings, please see Note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Revenue decreased by RMB56.6 million from RMB463.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 
RMB407.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Other gains and losses decreased by RMB196.5 million gains from RMB199.5 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to RMB3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Research and development expenses decreased by RMB393.1 million from RMB527.8 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB134.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Administrative expenses decreased by RMB104.9 million from RMB182.7 million for the year ended December 
31, 2023 to RMB77.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Selling and marketing expenses decreased by RMB65.5 million from RMB199.3 million for the for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB133.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

As a result of the above factors, the loss for the year decreased by RMB276.0 million from RMB367.2 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB91.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had made charitable contributions of approximately RMB4.58 
million.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group derived substantially its revenues from sales of 
pharmaceutical products, license fee and royalty. For the year ended December 31, 2024, revenue from the 
five largest customers and the largest customer accounted for approximately 95.9% and 38.8%, respectively, 
of the Group’s total revenue. For further details, please see Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
of this report.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers and the largest 
supplier accounted for approximately 71.4% and 50.7%, respectively, of the Groups total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders 
(whom, to the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s total issued 
share capital (excluding treasury Shares)) had a material interest in the Group’s five largest customers or the 
Group’s five largest suppliers during the Reporting Period.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules 
and regulations, in particular, those that have a significant impact on the operation of the Group, including 
the requirements under the Companies Ordinance, the Listing Rules, the SFO and the CG Code for, among 
other things, the disclosure of information and corporate governance. For details of the applicable laws and 
regulations, please refer to the section headed “Regulatory Environment” in the Prospectus for details. The 
Group would seek professional legal advice from its legal advisers to ensure that transactions and business 
to be performed by the Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. Save as disclosed 
in this annual report, during the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance 
with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.
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MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration during the Reporting Period. The 
Directors are also not aware of any material litigation or claims that were pending or threatened against the 
Group during the Reporting Period.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S EMPLOYEES

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable assets. The Group will provide trainings for 
employees to enhance their knowledge in corporate values and culture and to implement them thoroughly. 
Meanwhile, the Group encourages staff on continued studies by giving subsidy to recognized development 
courses. The Group also aims to provide competitive and attractive remuneration packages to retain its 
employees. Management reviews the remuneration package offered to the employees of the Group on 
an annual basis. Meanwhile, for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants 
who have contributed to the success of the Group’s operations, the Company has adopted the Pre-IPO 
Incentivization Plan, the Post-IPO ESOP and the Post-IPO RSU Scheme. Details of such schemes are set out in 
the section headed “Share Incentivization Schemes” in this report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement 
benefit scheme operated by the relevant local government authority in the PRC. The subsidiaries are required 
to contribute, based on a certain percentage of the payroll costs of its employees, to the retirement benefit 
scheme and has no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits 
beyond the annual contributions. The total amount provided by the Group to the scheme in the PRC and 
charged to profit or loss are approximately RMB21,388,000 (2023: RMB46,498,000) for the year ended 
December 31, 2024.

During the Reporting Period, there were no forfeited contributions under the defined contributions plans of 
the Group, and there were no forfeited contributions had been used by the Group to reduce the existing 
level of contributions.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S SUPPLIERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group values long-standing relationships with its suppliers, customers, medical experts, and other 
business associates are key to the Group’s success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability 
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationships with them. The Group aims at 
delivering high quality products to its potential customers and developing mutual trust and enhancing 
communication and commitment between the Group and its suppliers to maintain sustainable growth. 
For details of an account of the Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers 
and others that have a significant impact on the Company is set out in the “Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report” of the Company which will be published and made available on the websites of the 
Stock Exchange and the Company together with this report.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On April 10, 2025, the Company completed the placing of 80,000,000 placing shares by a placing agent 
to not less than six placees at the placing price of HK$2.933 per placing share, representing 5.86% of the 
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the placing shares immediately 
upon completion of the placing. The Company received net proceeds from the placing, after deducting the 
placing commission and other related expenses and professional fees, of approximately HK$232.29 million 
(equivalent to RMB214.33 million). Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated April 2, 2025 
and April 10, 2025 for more details.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the section headed “Corporate 
Governance Report” of this report.

EQUITY-LINK AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Incentivization Schemes” in this report, there was no equity-
link agreement entered into by the Company during the Reporting Period.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr. Hongbin Sun, Dr. Paul Herbert Chew and 
Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the Company the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the Reporting Period.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the Reporting Period have been audited by Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu. Having been approved by the Board upon the Audit Committee’s recommendation, a resolution 
for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Independent Auditor for the ensuing year will be 
put forward at the forthcoming AGM for Shareholder’s approval.

In the preceding three years, the auditors of the Company have not changed.

On Behalf of the Board

Dr. Wei Li
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Suzhou, PRC, March 27, 2025
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The Board hereby presents to the Shareholders the Corporate Governance Report of the Group for the year 
ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Company is firmly committed to a high level of corporate governance and adherence to the governance 
principles and practices emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and fairness. 
These principles and practices are reviewed and revised regularly as appropriate to reflect the ever changing 
regulatory requirements and corporate governance development. The Board believes that the high standards 
of corporate governance is the essential core for sustaining the Group’s long term performance and value 
creation for our Shareholders, the investing public and the other stakeholders.

The Company also recognises the importance of integrity, ethical conduct, and responsible business practices, 
which are instilled and continually reinforced across the Group. It strives to foster a culture of compliance, 
good corporate governance, and ethical behaviour with its stakeholders to build trust and credibility.

The Board has established the Company’s purpose, values, and strategy, and has satisfied itself that the 
Company’s culture is aligned. By acting with integrity and leading by example, the Directors will further and 
continue to promote the desired culture within the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance standards.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG Code contained 
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance practices.

The Company has adopted and applied the principles as set out in the CG Code. The Board is of the view 
that during the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the applicable principles and code 
provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG Code, save for the deviation as disclosed herein.

Pursuant to code provision C.6.2 of the CG Code, a board meeting should be held to discuss the 
appointment of the company secretary and the matter should be dealt with by a physical board meeting 
rather than a written resolution. The appointment of the new joint company secretary was dealt with by 
a written resolution of the Board. Prior to the execution of the written resolution, all Directors were well 
informed of the new joint company secretary’s educational background and working experiences and were 
satisfied that she possesses the required qualifications and expertise of the position without any dissenting 
opinion, and as such it was considered that a physical board meeting was not necessary for approving the 
said appointment.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance 
with the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

We have also adopted our own code of conduct, the Securities Transactions Code, which applies to all 
Directors on terms not less exacting than the required standard indicated by the Model Code as set out in 
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiries have been made of all the Directors and they have confirmed that they have complied with 
the Securities Transactions Code throughout the Reporting Period.

The Group’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the Group, 
are subject to the Model Code. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the employees of the 
Group was noted by the Company as at the date of this report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and 
monitors business and performance. The Board regularly review the contribution required from a Director 
to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is spending sufficient time 
performing such responsibilities. To better manage the Group’s corporate governance performance and 
identify potential risks, the Board conduct annual review ensuring the effectiveness of Board independence.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively 
responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through 
its committees, leads and provides direction to the management by laying down strategies and overseeing 
their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound 
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable 
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

Board composition

The Board currently comprises one executive Director, four non-executive Directors and four independent 
non-executive Directors.

As at the date of this annual report, the composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Director

Dr. Jianxin Yang (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Wei Li (Chairman)
Mr. Kenneth Walton Hitchner III
Mr. Xianghong Lin
Mr. Edward Hu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Paul Herbert Chew
Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu
Mr. Hongbin Sun
Ms. Yip Betty Ho (appointed on December 30, 2024)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior 
Management” on pages 29 to 38 of this annual report.
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Apart from the foregoing, there is no change to the composition of the Board during the Reporting Period. 
As at the date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Company, there has been no financial, business, 
family, or other material/relevant relationships among members of the Board. The Company has arranged 
appropriate liability insurance in respect of legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be 
reviewed on an annual basis.

Pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, Ms. Yip Betty Ho obtained legal advice on December 12, 2024, 
and confirmed that she understood her responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

Board Meetings

During the Reporting Period, the Board held 5 meetings for discussing and approving the operation and 
business development of the Company, including without limitation, change in Directors, financial budget 
and financial statements and amendments to relevant equity incentive plans of the Company. The attendance 
of each Director at the Board and committee meetings of the Company during the Reporting Period, whether 
in person or by means of electronic communication, is detailed in the table below:

A summary of the attendance record of the Directors at Board meetings and committee meetings is set out 
in the following table below:

Attendance/No. of Meetings held during the Reporting Period

Name of Directors Board
Audit

Committee(1)

Compensation 
Committee(2)

Nomination
Committee(3)

Strategy
Committee(4)

Investment
Committee(5)

General
Meetings(6)

Executive Director
Jianxin Yang 5/5 – – – – – 2/2

Non-executive Directors
Wei Li 5/5 – 2/2 2/2 – – 2/2
Kenneth Walton Hitchner III 5/5 – – – – – 1/2
Xianghong Lin 5/5 – – – – – 1/2
Edward Hu 5/5 – – – – – 1/2

Independent Non-executive Directors
Paul Herbert Chew 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/2 – – 0/2
Ting Yuk Anthony Wu 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/2 – – 2/2
Hongbin Sun 5/5 2/2 – 2/2 – – 2/2
Yip Betty Ho(7) – – – – – – –

Notes:

(1) The Audit Committee held 2 meetings on March 26, 2024 and August 23, 2024, and all members of the Audit Committee attended the 2 
meetings.

(2) The Compensation Committee held 2 meetings on March 26, 2024 and December 19, 2024, and all members of the Compensation 
Committee attended the 2 meetings.

(3) The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings on March 26, 2024 and December 19, 2024, and all members of the Nomination Committee 
attended the 2 meetings.

(4) Although no Strategy Committee meeting was held during the Reporting Period, matters relating to long-term strategic positioning, 
development and implementation have been discussed in Board meetings.
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(5) Although no Investment Committee meeting was held during the Reporting Period, matters relating to our investment strategies and risks 
have been discussed in Board meetings.

(6) The Company held one extraordinary general meeting and one AGM on January 17, 2024 and June 18, 2024, respectively, during the 
Reporting Period.

(7) Ms. Yip Betty Ho’s appointment as an independent non-executive Director was effective from December 30, 2024.

During the Reporting Period, apart from the 5 Board meetings held, the Chairman, Dr. Wei Li held one 
meeting with three INEDs (namely Dr. Paul Herbert Chew, Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu and Mr. Hongbin Sun) 
in the absence of the non-executive Directors and senior management of the Company.

General Meeting and Extraordinary General Meeting

During the Reporting Period, the Company held one extraordinary general meeting and one AGM on January 
17, 2024 and June 18, 2024, respectively. All proposed Shareholders’ resolutions put forward at the above 
general meetings were resolved by poll vote and were duly passed. The vote tally of each of such resolutions 
was set out in the Company’s announcements released on the day of the respective general meetings.

Board Independence

During the Reporting Period, the Company has in place various measures and mechanisms underpinning a 
strong independent Board and that independent views and input are conveyed to the Board. The measures 
and mechanisms are kept under regular review to ensure their effectiveness and to uphold good corporate 
governance. The Board reviewed and considered that such mechanisms were properly implemented during 
the Reporting Period and were effective, they are as follows:

• Board and Committees’ structure. The Chief Executive Officer is the only executive Director on the 
Board, and all the remaining eight Directors, including the Chairman, are non-executive Directors or 
independent non-executive Directors. Separation of the role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive 
Officer ensures that there is a balance of power and authority. Other than Dr. Jianxin Yang being the 
chairman of the Strategy Committee, members of all governance related committees are non-executive 
Directors or independent non-executive Directors.

• Appointment of Directors. In assessing suitability of the candidates, the Nomination Committee 
will review their character and integrity; qualifications including professional experience, skills and 
knowledge; diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background; having regard to the Board’s composition, the selection criteria approved by the Board, 
the nomination policy and the board diversity policy.

• Conflict management. A Director who has a material interest in any transaction, contract or 
arrangement shall not vote (nor shall be counted in the quorum) on any Board resolution approving the 
same.

• Professional advice. To facilitate proper discharge of their duties, all Directors have full and timely 
access to all the information of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional 
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the 
Company.

• Board evaluation. The quality and efficiency of discussions at Board meetings are assessed during the 
annual evaluation of the Board’s performance.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period, the Board’s composition has met the requirement under Rule 3.10A of the 
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors representing 
at least one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or 
accounting or related financial management expertise. Three of the Company’s independent non-executive 
Directors (namely Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu, Mr. Hongbin Sun and Ms. Yip Betty Ho (appointed on 
December 30, 2024)) have the appropriate professional qualifications of accounting or related financial 
management expertise and provide valuable advice from time to time to the Board.

Apart from the appointment of Ms. Yip Betty Ho on December 30, 2024, the Company has received 
from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence and the 
Nomination Committee has conducted an annual review and considers that all independent non-executive 
Directors are independent, taking into account of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules in the context of the length of service of each independent non-executive Director.

The Company has established mechanism to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board, 
channels are in place through formal and informal means whereby independent non-executive Directors can 
express their views in an open and candid manner as well as in a confidential manner, should circumstances 
required; these include regular Board reviews, dedicated meeting sessions with the Chairman and interaction 
with management and other Board members including the Chairman outside the boardroom. The mechanism 
to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board is reviewed annually.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting of the 
Company. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire 
from office and be eligible for re-election at each annual general meeting of the Company, provided that 
every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. In addition, any new 
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the first 
annual general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election 
at that meeting.

Accordingly, Dr. Wei Li, Mr. Xianghong Lin, Dr. Paul Herbert Chew and Ms. Yip Betty Ho will be subject to 
retirement at the forthcoming AGM of the Company, and eligible for re-election at the AGM pursuant to the 
Articles of Association. All the retiring Directors, except Mr. Xianghong Lin and Dr. Paul Herbert Chew, offer 
themselves for re-election.

Directors with letters of appointment with the Company serve a term of two to three years (subject to 
retirement as and when required under the Articles of Association) or until terminated in accordance with 
the terms and conditions of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not less than one 
month’s prior notice in writing.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any service contract with any of its Directors. 
None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one 
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation), and no remunerations have 
been paid to Directors by the Company in the capacity of them as Directors in the Company.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and making recommendations 
to the Board on the appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, the 
Nomination Committee, the Strategy Committee and the Investment Committee. The committees operate in 
accordance with their respective terms of reference established by the Board.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 
3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraphs A.2 and D.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists of 
three INEDs, namely, Dr. Paul Herbert Chew, Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu and Mr. Hongbin Sun. Mr. Hongbin 
Sun, being the chairman of the Audit Committee, holds the appropriate professional qualifications as 
required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to, (i) review and monitor the 
external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with 
applicable standards; (ii) review the Company’s financial and accounting policies and practices; (iii) assist 
the Board by providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal 
control and risk management systems of the Group, overseeing the audit process and performing other 
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board; and (iv) perform corporate governance duties delegated 
by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee scheduled 2 meetings and all the members of the Audit 
Committee attended the meetings to, among other things, review the interim and annual results, review 
the financial statements, the risk management and internal control systems and the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal audit function.

Compensation Committee

The Company has established the Compensation Committee with written terms of reference in compliance 
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. The Compensation Committee 
consists of one non-executive Director, namely Dr. Wei Li, the chairman of the Board, and two INEDs, 
namely, Dr. Paul Herbert Chew and Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu. Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu is the chairman of 
the Compensation Committee.

The primary duties of the Compensation Committee include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) making 
recommendations to the Board of Directors on our policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors 
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing the 
policy on such remuneration; (ii) determining the specific remuneration packages of all Directors and senior 
management; (iii) reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals 
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time; and (iv) reviewing and/or approving matters relating 
to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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During the Reporting Period, the Compensation Committee scheduled 2 meetings and all the members of 
the Compensation Committee attended the meetings to, among other things, review the remuneration policy 
and structure for the Directors and senior management, make recommendations to the Board on determining 
the annual remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior management and other related matters, 
assess and review performance of the Directors and senior management, and consider the director’s fee of 
Ms. Yip Betty Ho.

On March 28, 2024, 1,890,000 share options and 1,890,000 RSUs were granted to Dr. Jianxin Yang, 
1,000,000 share options and 1,000,000 RSUs were granted to Dr. Wei Li and 1,000,000 share options 
and 1,000,000 RSUs were granted to Mr. Edward Hu. Having taken into account of the number of share 
options and RSUs previously granted to Dr. Jianxin Yang, Dr. Wei Li and Mr. Edward Hu, the Board and 
the Compensation Committee considered that the grant of an aggregate of 3,890,000 share options and 
the grant of an aggregate of 3,890,000 RSUs to Dr. Jianxin Yang, Dr. Wei Li and Mr. Edward Hu were to 
provide incentives for Dr. Jianxin Yang, Dr. Wei Li and Mr. Edward Hu to exert maximum efforts and reward 
their continued efforts for the success of the Group, which is in line with purpose of the Post-IPO ESOP of 
the Company, among other things, to encourage, motivate and provide additional incentives to selected 
participants in achieving performance goals and align their interests directly with the best interests of the 
Company and the Shareholders through ownership of Shares.

On October 18, 2024, among an aggregate of 6,280,000 share options granted to 3 eligible employees of 
the Company, 2,000,000 share options were granted to a member of senior management of the Company 
with no performance targets attached. Having considered that (i) the grant of 2,000,000 share options 
to a member of senior management of the Company is a recognition for his/her past contributions to the 
Group; (ii) the grant of share options can bring about an immediate incentivization effect for the grantee, 
which is considered a more attractive motivation to the grantee; and (iii) the grant of share options without 
performance target is consistent with the Company’s customary practice on previous grants of share 
incentives to the Directors, employees of the Company (including members of senior management) and 
service providers, the Board and the Compensation Committee considered that without any performance 
targets, the grant of the 2,000,000 share options to a member of senior management of the Company could 
align the interests of the relevant member of senior management with incentive to the relevant member of 
senior management to work towards the continued success of the Group, and reinforce his/her commitment 
in providing long-term services to the Group, which is in line with the purpose of the Post-IPO ESOP.

Saved as disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated March 28, 2024 and October 18, 2024, no 
other material matters relating to share schemes (as defined under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) required 
the Compensation Committee to review or approve. For details of our emolument policy and remuneration 
of our directors and senior management, please refer to the sections headed “Emolument Policy and 
Directors’ Remuneration” and “Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management”.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with 
the CG Code. The Nomination Committee consists of one non-executive Director, namely, Dr. Wei Li, and 
three INEDs, namely, Dr. Paul Herbert Chew, Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu and Mr. Hongbin Sun. Dr. Wei Li, 
the chairman of the Board, is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, without limitation, reviewing the structure, size, 
composition and diversity of the Board, assessing the independence of INEDs and making recommendations 
to the Board on matters relating to the appointment of Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee scheduled 2 meetings and all the members of 
the Nomination Committee attended the meetings to, among other things, review structure, size and 
composition of the Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes, assess 
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, make recommendation to the Board on the 
re-appointment of the Directors, review the board diversity policy and training and continuing professional 
development for the Directors and senior management of the Company, and consider the appointment of 
Ms. Yip Betty Ho.

The director nomination procedures and process comprises: (a) the Nomination Committee shall first 
review and assess factors relating to the diversity of the Board, including but not limited to professional 
experience, skill, knowledge and length of service, gender, age, cultural and education background, and 
give consideration to the candidate’s willingness to devote adequate time to the Board and independence of 
each INED based on the requirements of the Listing Rules as amended from time to time; (b) the Nomination 
Committee shall then nominate suitable candidates to the Board based on the then-current and anticipated 
future leadership needs of the Company, with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development 
of the Company; and (c) the Nomination Committee shall also monitor and review the implementation of the 
nomination policy, as appropriate from time to time, and will report to the Board annually.

Strategy Committee

The Company has established the Strategy Committee which consists of one executive Director, namely, Dr. 
Jianxin Yang, one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Edward Hu and one INED, namely, Dr. Paul Herbert 
Chew. Dr. Jianxin Yang, our CEO and executive Director, is the chairman of the Strategy Committee.

The primary duties of the Strategy Committee are to review and advise on the Company’s mid to long term 
strategic positioning and development plans and to monitor the implementations of the development plans.

Although no Strategy Committee meeting was held during the Reporting Period, matters relating to long-
term strategic positioning, development and implementation have been discussed in Board meetings.

Investment Committee

The Company has established the Investment Committee which consists of two non-executive Directors, 
namely, Mr. Edward Hu and Mr. Kenneth Walton Hitchner III, and one INED, namely, Mr. Hongbin Sun. Mr. 
Edward Hu is the chairman of the Investment Committee.

The primary duties of the Investment Committee include but are not limited to:

• formation of investment strategy;

• review and authorization of investment related policies and procedures, and ensure policies are strictly 
executed and followed;

• reviewing investment performance and advising the Board on their investment of cash, cash equivalents, 
financial assets, deposits, cash collateral, funds and equity shares (as applicable), taking into account of 
the relevant risks, necessary constraints on the deployment of the various sources and purposes of the 
funds to enhance the Company’s investment returns;
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• discussing, formulating views and advising the Board on asset allocation, selection of external portfolio 
investment advisor/fund manager(s) and quantum to be invested with collective investment schemes/
fund managers and appointment of custodian(s);

• approval of key investment activities and to determine whether such investment is in the interests of 
the Company and the shareholders of the Company as a whole, including acquisition and dispossession 
of investments and material matters in post-investment management;

• monitoring on investment discipline, performance and post-investment management; and

• other responsibilities delegated by the Board.

Although no Investment Committee meeting was held during the Reporting Period, matters relating to 
investment strategy and risks have been discussed in Board meetings.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to capture different talents 
so as to further bolster the Board’s performance. This would also enable the Company in achieving a 
sustainable and balanced development in the long run. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in 
order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain a high standard of corporate governance. 
The Board is committed to promote diversity in the Company to the extent practicable by taking into 
consideration a number of factors in respect of the Company’s corporate governance structure.

Pursuant to the diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration 
of a number of factors, including but not limited to, professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, 
age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length of service. The Board is of the view that the 
Company has achieved these objectives during the Reporting Period, as the Directors have a balanced mix of 
knowledge and skills, including knowledge and experience in the areas of business management, biotech, 
clinical research, life science, finance, investment, auditing and accounting. They obtained degrees in various 
areas including medicine, immunology, chemistry, chemical physics, chemical engineering, pharmaceutical 
analysis, economics and accounting. Furthermore, the Directors range from 50 years old to 73 years old.

As female representation in senior roles throughout the economy and the pool of qualified females keeps 
growing, with the Directors being satisfied with the competence and experience of the relevant candidate 
based on reasonable criteria and having fulfilled their fiduciary duties to act in the best interests of the 
Company and the Shareholders as a whole when considering the appointment, the Company has appointed 
a female independent non-executive Director, Ms. Yip Betty Ho, on December 30, 2024 in compliance with 
the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to be responsible for compliance with relevant codes 
governing board diversity under the CG Code. During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has 
reviewed the diversity of the Board and considered that the Group has achieved the measurable objectives of 
the Diversity Policy in terms of professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age and length of service 
etc. The current Board comprises 1 female member and 8 male members. The Company will continue to put 
effort into developing a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to maintain or achieve gender diversity, 
including but not limited to the Nomination Committee’s periodic review of potential female candidates 
through referrals and recommendation by management, human resources department and external 
independent professionals. The goal will be to maintain at least the current level of female representation 
or improve gender diversity as appropriate. The Nomination Committee will continue to review the board 
diversity policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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The Board is also committed to adopting a similar approach to promote diversity of the management 
(including but not limited to the senior management) of the Company to enhance the effectiveness of 
corporate governance of the Company as a whole. The Board will select potential Board candidates based on 
merit and his/her potential contribution to the Board while taking into account the Board Diversity Policy and 
other factors including but not limited to, his/her integration into our management mindset and business 
model and any specific requirements from time to time.

In recognizing the particular importance of gender diversity and that gender diversity of the workforce 
can be improved, the Company is using its best endeavours to ensure there is gender diversity when 
recruiting staff at a mid to senior level so that it will have a pipeline of female employees (including 
senior management) and engage more resources in training female staff who have extensive and relevant 
experience in its business, with the aim of promoting them to the senior management or directorship of the 
Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group hired 14 full-time employees, of which 4 were male and 10 
were female. As of December 31, 2024, the Group hires 97 female employees and 38 male employees. The 
gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management) was approximately 28% males to 72% females.

Dividend Policy

Subject to the Articles of Association and other applicable laws and regulations, the Company targets to 
formalize its dividend policy once the Group commences to have products approved for commercial sale and 
generate revenue from product sales. Any proposed distribution of dividends will be subject to the discretion 
of the Board and the approval of the Shareholders. Recommendations for distribution of dividends will be 
made after taking into account the results of operations, financial condition, operating requirements, capital 
requirements, Shareholders’ interests and any other conditions that the Board may deem relevant.

As at December 31, 2024, no arrangement was reached pursuant to which the shareholders of the Company 
waived or agreed to waive their dividends.

Corporate Governance Function

As no corporate governance committee has been established, the Board is responsible for, among other 
things, formulating and reviewing the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group and 
making recommendations to the Board, reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices on compliance 
with legal and regulatory requirements, reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional 
development of the Directors and senior management, developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of 
conduct applicable to employees and directors and reviewing the corporate governance compliance with the 
CG Code and the disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Corporate Governance Report has been reviewed by the Board in the discharge of its corporate 
governance function during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for 
the year ended December 31, 2024, and are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the Independent Auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements 
is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report”.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board delegates its powers and authorities from time to time to the Board Committees in order to 
ensure operational efficiency and that specific issues are being handled by personnel with the relevant 
expertise. The segregation of duties and responsibilities between the Board and the management has been 
clearly defined and provided as internal guidelines of the Company.

The types of decisions which are to be taken by the Board include those relating to:

• corporate and capital structure;

• corporate strategy;

• significant policies affecting the Company as a whole and material changes thereof;

• business plan, budgets and any subsequent material changes, material public announcements and 
matters referred to the Board by Board Committees;

• key financial matters;

• appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members, senior management and auditor;

• remuneration of Directors and senior management; and

• communication with key stakeholders, including Shareholders and regulatory bodies.

The types of decisions that the Board has delegated to the management include:

• approving the extension of the Group’s activities not in a material manner into a new geographic 
location or a new business;

• approving assessing and monitoring the performance of all business units and ensuring that all 
necessary corrective actions have been taken;

• approving external payments up to a certain limit;

• conducting investments in line with the investment policy of the Company and under the Investment 
Committee’s instructions;

• approving the entering into of any connected transactions not requiring disclosure under the Listing 
Rules;

• approving the nomination and appointment of personnel other than the member of the Board, senior 
management and auditor;

• approving press release concerning matters decided by the Board;

• approving any matters related to routine matters or day-to-day operation of the Group (including 
the entering into of any transaction not requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules and cessation of 
nonmaterial part of the Group’s business); and

• carrying out any other duties as the Board may delegate from time to time.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous 
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution 
to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, each newly appointed Director should be provided 
with necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the 
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules 
and regulations.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the Directors were regularly briefed on 
the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations.

According to the records provided by the Directors, the training attended by all the Directors for the year 
ended December 31, 2024 is summarized as follows:

Name of Directors Topic of Training Covered

Executive Director
Dr. Jianxin Yang (1), (2)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. Wei Li (1), (2)
Mr. Kenneth Walton Hitchner III (1), (2)
Mr. Xianghong Lin (1), (2)
Mr. Edward Hu (1), (2)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Paul Herbert Chew (1), (2)
Mr. Ting Yuk Anthony Wu (1), (2)
Mr. Hongbin Sun (1), (2)
Ms. Yip Betty Ho (appointed on December 30, 2024) (2), (3)

Notes:

(1) Attending the training for Directors covering a wide range of topics, including but not limited to the management of inside information, 
discloseable transactions and connected transactions, duty of disclosure of interests, the laws applicable to the Company and the 
Company’s continuing compliance obligations.

(2) Reading relevant guideline materials regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations 
applicable to the Directors and duty of disclosure of interests.

(3) Attending induction and provided with information of the Company’s operations and businesses.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board takes overall responsibility for risk management and internal control systems, and is responsible 
for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems, evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the 
risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company 
maintains robust and effective risk management and internal control systems (including reviewing the 
relevant functions), so as to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets. The Company 
has continued to make efforts to strengthen and improve its risk management and internal control systems 
as well as enhance the control procedures, so as to improve operating efficiencies and reduce operating 
risks. The risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatements or loss.

Risk Management

We recognize that risk management is critical to the success of our business operation. Key operational 
risks faced by us include changes in the general market conditions and the regulatory environment of the 
Chinese and global pharmaceutical markets, our ability to develop, manufacture and commercialize our drug 
candidates, and our ability to compete with other pharmaceutical companies. We also face various market 
risks. In particular, we are exposed to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks that arise in the 
normal course of our business.

We have adopted a consolidated set of risk management policies which set out a risk management 
framework to identify, assess, evaluate and monitor key risks associated with our strategic objectives and 
remediation action plans on an on-going basis. The legal and finance departments of the Company will 
conduct independent review on the sufficiency and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 
system. Our Audit Committee, and ultimately our directors, will supervise the implementation of our risk 
management policies from time to time. The monitoring and the internal control measures of management 
at different levels of the Company are the first defence of risk management and internal control; the senior 
management (including risk management and financial control) of the Company is the second defence of risk 
management and internal control; the Audit Committee under the Board and legal and finance department 
are the third defence of risk management and internal control.

The following key principles outline our Group’s approach to risk management and internal control:

Our Audit Committee oversees and manages the overall risks associated with our business operations, 
including (i) reviewing and approving our risk management policy to ensure that it is consistent with our 
corporate objectives; (ii) reviewing and approving our corporate risk tolerance; (iii) monitoring the most 
significant risks associated with our business operations and our management’s handling of such risks; (iv) 
reviewing our corporate risk in the light of our corporate risk tolerance; and (v) monitoring and ensuring the 
appropriate application of our risk management framework across our Group.

Our Chief Financial Officer is responsible for (i) formulating and updating our risk management policy 
and target; (ii) reviewing and approving major risk management issues of our Company; (iii) promulgating 
risk management measures; (iv) providing guidance on our risk management approach to the relevant 
departments in our Company; (v) reviewing the relevant departments’ reporting on key risks and providing 
feedback; (vi) supervising the implementation of our risk management measures by the relevant departments; 
(vii) ensuring that the appropriate structure, processes and competences are in place across our Group; and 
(viii) reporting to our Audit Committee on our material risks.
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The relevant departments in our Company, including the finance department, the legal & compliance 
department and the operations & human resources department, are responsible for implementing our risk 
management policy and carrying out our day-to-day risk management practice. In order to formalize risk 
management across our Group and set a common level of transparency and risk management performance, 
the relevant departments will (i) gather information about the risks relating to their operation or function; 
(ii) conduct risk assessments, which include the identification, prioritization, measurement and categorization 
of all key risks that could potentially affect their objectives; (iii) prepare a risk management report annually 
for our senior management team’s review; (iv) continuously monitor the key risks relating to their operation 
or function; (v) implement appropriate risk responses where necessary; and (vi) develop and maintain an 
appropriate mechanism to facilitate the application of our risk management framework.

In order to further improve the risk management and internal control systems, establish good systems and 
work procedure, execute and implement work monitoring, fulfil a full work flow risk management system 
to achieve early prevention, and better monitor at present and subsequent follow-up and implementation 
of such systems, the Company has organized each functional department to review and update the various 
management systems of the Group from time to time.

Internal Control

Our Board is responsible for establishing our internal control system and reviewing its effectiveness. Our 
Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and overseeing the design, implementation 
and monitoring of the internal control systems.

During the Reporting Period, we conducted two reviews on our internal control system designed to manage 
the risks and uncertainties that may cause the Group’s financial conditions or business performance to 
be materially different from the expected or historical results. Below is a summary of the internal control 
policies, measures and procedures we have implemented:

• We have adopted various measures and procedures regarding each aspect of our business operation, 
such as protection of intellectual property, environmental protection and occupational health and 
safety.

• We have developed standard operating procedures governing our activities including an integrated 
procurement-to-pay process, standardized expense accrual methodology and budgeting and tracking 
mechanism.

• We have established the enterprise resource planning system, an automated and standardized 
procedure to increase transparency and efficiency in monitoring online vendor registration and purchase 
requisition and online contract management.

• We provided our employees with our employee handbook and the code of conduct, as amended from 
time to time. To strengthen compliance awareness, we established the employee orientation program 
and also provide periodic internal and external compliance training to our employees as part of our 
employee training program.

• Our Directors (who are responsible for monitoring the corporate governance of our Group) with help 
from our legal advisors, conduct periodic review of our compliance status with all relevant laws and 
regulations.
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• Our Audit Committee assists the Board to monitor the effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control systems. Our Audit Committee maintains regular dialogue with the Company’s external 
auditors and conducts review of the Company’s financial statements. After completion of its internal 
audit, our Audit Committee made recommendations to our Directors on the appointment and removal 
of external auditors and rendered advice in respect of financial reporting as well as oversee internal 
control procedures of our Group. The Company has established a compliance committee to review 
grants and sponsorships and other compliance initiatives to enhance compliance awareness through 
daily guidance.

• Our Board evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of the internal control systems of the 
Company and did not identify any material weaknesses as a result of the evaluation, except for the 
internal control weaknesses identified by the independent internal control advisor we have engaged, 
which are subject to certain rectification measures.

• We have engaged a PRC law firm to advise us on and keep us abreast with PRC laws and regulations 
on a regular basis (especially for the pharmaceutical and life science sector). We will continue to 
arrange various trainings to be provided by external advisors from time to time when necessary and/
or any appropriate accredited institution to update our Directors, senior management, and relevant 
employees on the latest PRC laws and regulations.

• Our Investment Committee assists the Board to deal with investment related matters, which is 
responsible for approving the Company’s investment strategy, developing investment policies and 
processes, approving investment decisions and reviewing investment performance.

• We have provided trainings to senior management and the accounting and finance personnel, 
in particular, on further strengthening internal financial and accounting policies, preparation 
of comprehensive accounting memo to support the accounting basis for complex or significant 
transactions.

• We have adopted and circulated a detailed guideline relating to notifiable and connected transactions 
under the Listing Rules and arranged trainings provided by our legal advisors to the Directors, 
senior management and accounting and finance personnel on regular basis, on the Listing Rules, 
particularly in relation to the subscription of different types of financial products aiming to strengthen 
their understanding to identify the circumstances which are expected to trigger the announcement 
requirement under the Listing Rules and potential issues at an early stage to avoid the recurrence of 
delay in disclosure for future subscriptions of financial products should such obligations arise.

• We have adopted policies to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules when entering into any relevant 
potential transactions, pursuant to which, we performed and will perform size test analysis with 
accounting and finance personnel and consulted and will consult with the legal department and 
external counsel.
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We have adopted an anti-corruption policy to promote an ethical culture, to minimize the Group’s operation 
risks and to protect our and our Shareholders’ interests as a whole. Such policy encourages all employees 
(including senior management) to report any suspicious fraudulent activities or misconducts through 
relevant procedures in accordance with the policy. For instance, we have established and will continue to 
maintain strict anti-corruption policies among our sales personnel and distributors in our upcoming sales 
and marketing activities. We will also ensure that our sales and marketing personnel comply with applicable 
promotion and advertising requirements, which include restrictions on promoting drugs for unapproved uses 
or patient populations, and limitations on industry sponsored scientific and educational activities.

Our Board and senior management also strive to promote an ethical culture within our Company. We 
also have a whistle blowing policy that serves the purpose of establishing whistleblowing procedures for 
employees and other relevant external parties of our Company, in order to report and escalate any suspicious 
misconducts. In accordance with the policy, we protect all whistleblowers from any kind of retaliation. All 
the information provided by the whistleblowers will be strictly confidential.

Investment Risk Management

We may engage in short-term investments with surplus cash on hand. Our primary objective for short-
term investments is to preserve principal through the minimization of both default and market risk. During 
the Reporting Period, our finance department, under the supervision of our Vice President of Finance, is 
responsible for managing our short-term investment activities. Before making a proposal to invest in wealth 
management products, our finance department must assess our cash flow and operational needs and capital 
expenditures. On May 31, 2022, the Company also established a new Investment Committee which is 
responsible for approving the Company’s investment strategy, developing investment policies and processes, 
approving investment decisions and reviewing investment performance. For details, please refer to the 
section headed “Board Committees – Investment Committee.”

We operate under a Board approved investment policy which governs the investment of our funds and is 
reviewed from time to time by our Board. Our investment policy only allows investment in a specific list 
of instruments for investment, including US government securities, US corporate securities, US municipal 
securities, US money bank obligations and money market funds backed by the above instruments. To ensure 
a diversified portfolio holding, no purchase of any single issuer can represent more than five percent of the 
total portfolio market value at the time of purchase, with the exception of the U.S. government, its agencies, 
or municipals defeased with U.S. government securities for which no limit is imposed.

Our investment strategy strives to minimize risk by reasonably and conservatively matching the maturities of 
the portfolio securities to anticipated operating cash requirements. Our investment decisions are made on 
a case-by-case basis that considers multiple factors, such as general market conditions and the anticipated 
benefit and potential loss of the investment.

Our portfolios to date have been required to hold only instruments with an effective final maturity of 12 
months or less, with effective final maturity being defined either as the obligation of the issuer to repay 
principal and interest or the discretionary ability to put the security back to the issuer. The initial target 
range for the average maturity of our portfolio is 12 months. Our investments to date have been required 
to be denominated and held in U.S. dollars with readily ascertainable market value. We do not invest in any 
derivative securities.
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Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously reviews the risk management and internal 
control systems. The review process comprises, among other things, meetings with management of business 
groups, internal audit team, legal personnel and the external auditors, reviewing the relevant work reports 
and information of key performance indicators, and discussing the major risks with the senior management 
of the Company. During the Reporting Period, among other things, the Board has reviewed the Group’s 
financial operation and compliance controls, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, 
training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, 
and those relating to the Group’s environmental, social and governance performance and reporting. The 
management had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control 
systems of the Group and processes for financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 and considered them effective and adequate.

Furthermore, while the Company does not have an internal audit department, the Company has an 
internal audit function performed by the Board’s audit committee and the senior management. Company 
has engaged external consultant to (i) perform audit on key functions that may impose risks (such as 
procurement and payment), and (ii) review and enhance internal control, risk management on investment, 
payment and bank account management. The Company considers that the above arrangement in place has 
met the requirements for an internal audit function and it will continue to assess whether there is a need 
to set up a standalone internal audit department to further enhance the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal controls. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s internal audit function and the internal 
control systems for the year ended December 31, 2024. A confirmation regarding the effectiveness of these 
systems has been provided to the Board for the year ended December 31, 2024.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting and financial reporting functions have been 
performed by staff of the appropriate qualifications and experience and that such staff receives appropriate 
and sufficient training and development. Through the above-mentioned series of Rectification Measures, 
the Company has been and will be able to achieve an effective and adequate risk management and internal 
control. As part of the Rectification Measures, the Board will provide trainings to senior management 
and the accounting and finance personnel in relation to the investment related policies and the Listing 
Rules, which the Board believes will enable the qualifications and experiences of the staff in the areas of 
accounting, internal audit and the financial reporting functions to be adequate.

Policy on the Disclosure of Inside Information

The Company has put in place an internal policy for the handling and disclosure of inside information in 
compliance with the SFO. The internal policy sets out the procedures and internal controls for the handling 
and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner and provides the Directors, senior management 
and relevant employees a general guide in monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and use of inside 
information are strictly prohibited. The Board is aware of its obligations to announce any inside information 
in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

As at the date of this report, Ms. Mei Yee Yung, a vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong 
Kong) Limited, together with Ms. Weicong Ni, who was the primary contact person whom Ms. Mei Yee Yung 
contacted, serve as the joint company secretaries of the Company, and each of them has taken no less than 
15 hours of relevant professional training during the Reporting Period and has complied with Rule 3.29 of 
the Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated June 18, 2024. Ms. Yin Kwan Ho resigned as a 
joint company secretary of the Company on June 18, 2024.

For more information on Ms. Weicong Ni and Ms. Mei Yee Yung, please refer to the Company’s 
announcement dated June 18, 2024.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors to the Group during the 
Reporting Period was approximately as follows:

Type of Services

Total fees paid
and payable

(RMB’000)

Audit services 1,874
Non-audit services
 Interim review service 986
 Compliance service 185
Total 3,045

Note: The Company appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants as the external auditor for the year ended December 31, 
2024. A statement by Deloitte about their reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is included in the Independent Auditor’s 
Report on pages 92 to 95 of this annual report.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the sixth amended and restated memorandum and articles of association adopted on 
June 18, 2024, which has been effective on the same date. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the said 
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association did not have any change.

With effect from December 31, 2023, the Listing Rules have been amended to expand the paperless listing 
regime. As such, the Board has proposed to amend the existing Articles of Association for the purposes of, 
among others, (i) bringing the Articles of Association in line with amendments made to existing Listing Rules; 
and (ii) making certain consequential and housekeeping amendments to the existing Articles of Association. 
The proposed amendments to the Articles of Association have been presented to the Shareholders as a 
special resolution and approved by the Shareholders at the AGM of the Company held on June 18, 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with Shareholders and Investor Relations

The Company strives to provide ready, equal, regular and timely disclosure of information that is material 
to the investor community. As such, the Company has developed and maintains the Shareholders ’ 
communication policy, which is available on the Company’s website. In accordance with such policy, the 
Company works to maintain effective and on-going communication with Shareholders so that they, along 
with prospective investors, can exercise their rights in an informed manner based on a good understanding 
of the Group’s operations, businesses and financial information. The Company also encourages Shareholders’ 
active participation in annual general meetings and other general meetings or other proper means. To 
safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will be proposed for each issue at general 
meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will 
be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company 
and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each general meeting. The Company also maintains a 
corporate website (www.cstonepharma.com) to keep Shareholders and the investing public posted of the 
Company’s latest business developments, final and interim results announcements, financial reports, public 
announcements, corporate governance policies and practices and other relevant shareholder information.

After the Board has reviewed the afore-mentioned implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ 
Communication Policy including steps taken at the AGM and the handling of queries received (if any) which 
were conducted during the year ended December 31, 2024, we are of the view that the implementation of 
the Shareholders’ communication policy is satisfactory and effective during the Reporting Period.

A summary of the disclosure of interests of the substantial shareholders of the Company is set out in “Report 
of the Directors” of this annual report.

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals

Any one or more members holding as of date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the 
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all 
times have the right, by written requisition, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to 
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. A written requisition 
shall be deposited with our joint company secretaries at the principal place of business of the Company in 
Hong Kong at 40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre, No. 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. 
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting to be held within 
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the 
total voting rights of all of them, may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by 
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the 
Company.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or in the Cayman Companies Act for putting forward 
proposals of new resolutions by Shareholders at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move forward 
a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures 
mentioned above.

As regards to proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures are available on the website of 
the Company.
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Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar 
in Hong Kong, namely, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Shareholders who wish to put enquiries 
to the Board can send their enquiries to the office of the Company at 22/F, New Bund Times Square, No. 
399 West Haiyang Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai, People’s Republic of China or send email to 
ir@cstonepharma.com. Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the 
extent such information is publicly available. Corporate communication of the Company will be provided 
to Shareholders in plain language and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’ 
understanding. Shareholders have the right to choose the means of receipt of the corporate communications 
(in hard copy or through electronic means).
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CSTONE PHARMACEUTICALS
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CStone Pharmaceuticals (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 96 to 171, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group at December 31, 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibil it ies for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on the matter.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Cut-off of research and development expenses

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the 
Group incurred research and development (“R&D”) 
expenses of RMB134,657,000. The recording of 
outsourcing service fees to the appropriate financial 
reporting period and the corresponding accruals at 
the end of the reporting period were based on the 
progress of the R&D projects. Outsourcing service fees 
and corresponding accruals of RMB112,898,000 were 
accrued at December 31, 2024 as set out in note 23 
to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified the cut-off of outsourcing service fees 
and corresponding accruals as a key audit matter due 
to its significant amount and the risk of not accruing 
outsourcing service fees and corresponding accruals 
incurred for services provided by contract research 
organisations, contract manufacturing organisations 
and clinical trial centres (collectively referred to as the 
“Outsourced Service Providers”) in the appropriate 
financial reporting period.

Our procedures in relation to the cut-off of the R&D 
expenses included:

• Obtaining an understanding of key controls of the 
management’s basis and assessment in relation 
to the accrual process of the R&D expenses, 
including service fees paid or payable to the 
Outsourced Service Providers;

• For the expenses accrued in relation to the 
contract research organisations and contract 
manufacturing organisations at December 31, 
2024, checking the respective contract terms and/
or milestones of the relevant agreements and 
evaluating the completion status with reference 
to the progress reported by the representatives 
of the relevant service provider, on a sample 
basis, to determine whether the expenses were 
recorded based on the respective contract terms 
and the progress completed; and

• For the service fees accrued in relation to clinical 
trial centres at December 31, 2024, testing the 
accrual of the clinical trial related costs, on a 
sample basis, with reference to the clinical trial 
data and terms of services.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either 
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, 
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person 
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors of the Company’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 
group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit 
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matter communicated with those charged with governance, we determine the matter that was of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and is therefore 
the key audit matter. We describe the matter in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Chan Chun Kit Tommy.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
March 27, 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

2024 2023
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 5 407,205 463,842
Cost of revenue (167,051) (159,547)

Gross profit 240,154 304,295
Other income 7 27,058 50,608
Other gains and losses 7 2,985 199,544
Research and development expenses (134,657) (527,799)
Selling and marketing expenses (133,778) (199,349)
Administrative expenses (77,802) (182,714)
Finance costs 8 (15,167) (11,819)

Loss for the year 9 (91,207) (367,234)

Other comprehensive income (expense):
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
 Exchange differences arising on translation
  of foreign operations 985 (770)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (90,222) (368,004)

Loss per share 13

– Basic (RMB) (0.07) (0.29)

– Diluted (RMB) (0.07) (0.29)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At December 31, 2024

2024 2023
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 93,218 105,664
Right-of-use assets 15 37,325 47,704
Intangible assets 16 161,366 173,045
Financial assets measured at fair value through  

profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 20 9,032 3,541
Other receivables 19 2,617 2,258

303,558 332,212

Current assets
Account receivables 17 83,929 172,438
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 19 46,946 21,850
Inventories 21 286,096 108,828
Time deposits with original maturity over three months 22 285,000 30,000
Cash and cash equivalents 22 387,937 996,671

1,089,908 1,329,787

Current liabilities
Account and other payables and accrued expenses 23 576,181 681,442
Refund liabilities 24 2,224 22,698
Bank borrowings 25 60,800 105,986
Contract liabilities 26 10,385 6,885
Lease liabilities 27 32,416 33,327

682,006 850,338

Net current assets 407,902 479,449

Total assets less current liabilities 711,460 811,661
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At December 31, 2024

2024 2023
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current liabilities
Account payables 23 – 68,729
Bank borrowings 25 257,400 213,000
Contract liabilities 26 84,832 61,967
Lease liabilities 27 5,357 11,135

347,589 354,831

Net assets 363,871 456,830

Capital and reserves
Share capital 28 860 860
Treasury Shares held in the trust 28 (7) (8)
Reserves 363,018 455,978

 

Total equity 363,871 456,830

The consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 171 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
board of directors of the Company on March 27, 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Jianxin Yang Dr. Wei Li

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Treasury Share- Foreign
shares based currency

Share Share Other held in the payment translation Accumulated
capital premium reserves trust reserve reserve losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note a)

At January 1, 2023 802 8,627,932 (92,738) (2) 568,097 (2,272) (8,652,493) 449,326
Loss for the year – – – – – – (367,234) (367,234)
Other comprehensive expense for the year – – – – – (770) – (770)

Total comprehensive expense for the year – – – – – (770) (367,234) (368,004)
Restricted stock units
 exercised under trust (note 28) – 23,045 6 (6) (23,045) – – –
Recognition of equity-settled
 share-based payment (note 29) – – – – 36,993 – – 36,993
Exercise of share options (note 29) – 3,419 – – (3,025) – – 394
Issue of ordinary shares (note 28) 58 338,063 – – – – – 338,121

At December 31, 2023 860 8,992,459 (92,732) (8) 579,020 (3,042) (9,019,727) 456,830

Loss for the year – – – – – – (91,207) (91,207)
Other comprehensive income for the year – – – – – 985 – 985

        

Total comprehensive income (expense) for 
the year – – – – – 985 (91,207) (90,222)

Restricted stock units
 exercised under trust (note 28) – 10,870 (1) 1 (10,870) – – –
Recognition of equity-settled
 share-based payment (note 29) – – – – (2,811) – – (2,811)
Exercise of share options (note 29) – 630 – – (556) – – 74

        

At December 31, 2024 860 9,003,959 (92,733) (7) 564,783 (2,057) (9,110,934) 363,871
        

Note:

(a) Other reserves included (1) share-based payment expenses recognised as deemed losses to non-controlling shareholders; (2) differences 
between (i) the carrying amounts of net assets attributable to the non-controlling shareholders at the date of subscription of paid in capital 
of 基石藥業(蘇州)有限公司(“CStone Suzhou”), and (ii) fair value of the respective conversion features of preferred shares at the date of 
capital injection and the relevant proceeds received; (3) adjustment to non-controlling interests in CStone Suzhou as a result of additional 
capital injection by the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”); (4) effect of exercise of put option by a non-
controlling shareholder to convert into the equity interests in a subsidiary to the Company’s preferred shares; and (5) restricted stock units 
granted to several employees which were exercised.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax (91,207) (367,234)
Adjustments for:
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,687 5,636
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 36,439 37,999
 Amortisation of intangible assets 11,679 14,555
 Amortisation of payments received for exclusive
  promotion rights granted (8,635) (1,148)
 Net unrealised foreign exchange loss (gain) 5,856 (12,915)
 Net gain on fair value changes of financial assets
  measured at FVTPL (6,005) (59)
 (Reversal of) provision for inventories (2,369) 8,822
 Impairment losses recognised on construction in progress 10,727 26,404
 Share-based payment expenses (2,811) 36,993
 Gain on disposal of an intangible asset – (179,467)
 Net (gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (378) 576
 Impact of lease modification on right-of-use assets 688 –
 Interest income (12,667) (24,886)
 Net gain on fair value of money market funds (352) (242)
 Finance costs 15,167 11,819
 Government grants income related to property,
  plant and equipment – (8,247)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (42,181) (451,394)
Interest received 1,800 2,217
Decrease (increase) in account receivables 48,509 (95,305)
(Increase) decrease in deposits, prepayments and other receivables (20,833) 105,203
Increase in inventories (174,899) (95,462)
Decrease in account and other payables and accrued expenses (170,103) (121,602)
Increase in contract liabilities 35,000 70,000
Decrease in refund liabilities (20,474) (2,500)

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (343,181) (588,843)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 6,045 20,246
Receipt of return from money market funds 352 242
Placement of time deposits with maturity over three months (255,000) (67,778)
Withdrawal of time deposits with maturity over three months – 515,230
Purchase of property, plant and equipment – (15)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 410 114
Proceeds on disposal of financial asset measured at FVTPL 514 –
Purchase of intangible asset – (65,032)
Proceeds on disposal of an intangible asset – 216,598

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (247,679) 619,605
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid (11,895) (10,182)
Proceeds from bills receivables discounted to banks 39,968 –
New bank borrowings raised 278,000 350,000
Repayments of bank borrowings (278,786) (258,567)
Repayments of defer payment arrangement on account payables (7,020) –
Repayments of lease liabilities (33,237) (31,411)
Exercise of share options 74 394
Proceeds on issue of ordinary shares – 341,430
Transaction costs attributable to issue of shares – (3,309)

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (12,896) 388,355

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (603,756) 419,117
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes (4,978) 18,870
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING
 OF THE YEAR 996,671 558,684

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 387,937 996,671
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

CStone Pharmaceuticals (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman 
Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”) since February 26, 2019. The addresses of the registered office and principal place 
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged 
in research and development of highly complex biopharmaceutical products and sale of pharmaceutical 
products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the same as 
the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) for the first time, which are 
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on January 1, 2024 for the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had no 
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
(Continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that 
have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
 and its Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangability2

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement
 of Financial Instruments3

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity3

Amendments to IFRS Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting
 Accounting Standards  Standards – Volume 113

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027

Except for the new IFRS Accounting Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company 
anticipate that the application of all other amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards will have no 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements , which sets out requirements on 
presentation and disclosures in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements . This new IFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the requirements 
in IAS 1, introduces new requirements to present specified categories and defined subtotals in the 
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-defined performance measures in the 
notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be 
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 
and IFRS 7. Minor amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows  and IAS 33 Earnings per Share  are 
also made. IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The application of the new standard is 
expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future 
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of IFRS 18 on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards issued by the IASB. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements, information is considered material if such information is reasonably expected to 
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements 
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The 
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the consolidated financial 
statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the 
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results 
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabil it ies, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to revenue from contracts with 
customers is provided in notes 5 and 26.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under 
IFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and 
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on 
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone 
price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease 
component, and instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease 
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of motor vehicles, 
equipment and off ice premises that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition 
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis 
over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases  (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of the initial measurement of the lease 
liability.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful 
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) and 
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as 
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases  (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at 
the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value 
of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease 
incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease 
payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related 
right-of-use assets) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase 
option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

• the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent 
review in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised 
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate 
lease (see below for the accounting policy for “lease modification”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of 
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more 
underlying assets; and

• the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone 
price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to 
reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the 
lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease 
by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of 
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease l iabil it ies by making corresponding 
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets.

When the modified contract contains one or more additional lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of 
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component. The associated non-lease components are 
included in the respective lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies 
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates 
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of 
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will 
comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in 
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to 
compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should 
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in 
the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic 
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses 
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no 
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. 
Such grants are presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the Group entity can 
no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises any related 
restructuring costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected 
to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are 
recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in 
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual 
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options and restricted share units (“RSUs”) granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees (including directors of the Company) are 
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without 
taking into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis 
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually 
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payment reserve). At the end of each 
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to 
vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision 
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense 
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment 
reserve. For share options and RSUs that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of 
the share options and RSUs granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share-based payment 
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the 
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in 
share-based payment reserve will continue to be held in share-based payment reserve.

When shares and RSUs granted are vested, the amount previously recognised in share-based 
payment reserve will be transferred to share premium.

The payment to the tax authority to settle an employee’s tax obligation is accounted for as a 
deduction from equity, except to the extent that the payment exceeds the fair value at the net 
settlement date of the equity instruments withheld.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss 
before tax because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items 
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in 
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at 
the time of transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax l iabi l it ies are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated 
with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be 
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and 
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognised 
the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax 
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the 
Group applies IAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to the lease liabilities, and the related assets 
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the 
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the research and 
development or for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as described 
below), which are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress is carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any 
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management, including costs of testing whether 
the related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis 
as other property, plant and equipment, commences when the assets are ready for their intended 
use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other than construction in progress 
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised 
in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible 
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, 
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, 
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine 
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible 
assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant 
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or 
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable 
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, 
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of 
cash-generating units.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets 
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have 
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated 
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying 
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate 
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the 
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, 
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets on a pro-rata basis 
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The 
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal 
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss 
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of 
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that 
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the 
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three 
months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are 
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or 
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist 
of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are 
determined on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and 
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases 
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for account 
receivables arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers . Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at 
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and 
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the 
Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be 
measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 117

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets 
measured subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except 
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial 
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the 
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves 
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from 
the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer 
credit impaired.

(ii) Debt instruments as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI 
as a result of interest income calculated using the effective interest method are recognised 
in profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of these debt instruments 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of 
FVTOCI reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding 
adjustment to other comprehensive income without reducing the carrying amounts of these 
debt instruments. When these debt instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or 
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI 
or designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with 
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in 
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included 
in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial 
assets (including account receivables, rental deposits, other receivables and cash at banks) which 
are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after 
the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current conditions at each reporting date as well as the forecast of future 
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for account receivables without significant financing 
component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group 
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on 
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date 
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 
and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit 
risk has increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if 
available) or internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant 
increase in the credit spread, or the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more 
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low 
credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet 
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic 
and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability 
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt 
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of 
“investment grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that 
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount 
becomes past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when 
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor 
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any 
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial 
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a 
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the 
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the 
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, 
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement 
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where 
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. 
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment 
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data and 
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted 
amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the 
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, 
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for the Group’s account receivables are assessed individually.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless 
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on 
amortised cost of the financial asset.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in 
profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured as FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at 
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in 
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of 
the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or 
loss.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of 
the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the 
directors of the Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies 
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Research and development expenses

Development costs incurred on the Group’s drug product pipelines are capitalised and deferred only 
when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that 
it will be available for use or sale, the Group’s intention to complete and the Group’s ability to use 
or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources 
to complete the pipeline and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. 
Development costs which do not meet these criteria are expensed when incurred. Management will 
assess the progress of each of the research and development projects and determine the criteria are 
met for capitalisation. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, all development costs are 
expensed when incurred.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described 
below.

Estimation on refund liabilities arising from sales of pharmaceutical products

In estimating the amount of refund liabilities arising from sales of pharmaceutical products, the 
management of the Group has to make estimation based on its available market information and the 
expiration dates of the pharmaceutical products sold to estimate the number of returns using the 
expected value method. The estimation involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the 
actual return rates are less than expected or more than expected, a material reversal or a material 
provision of refund liabilities may arise accordingly. At December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of 
refund liabilities is RMB2,224,000 (2023: RMB22,698,000).



CSTONE PHARMACEUTICALS124

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and the depreciation method in 
determining the related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets 
and intangible assets. This estimate is referenced to useful lives of property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and intangible assets of similar nature and functions in the industry. Management 
will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are expected to be shorter than expected, 
or will write-off or write-down obsolete assets that have been abandoned or sold. At December 
31, 2024, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible 
assets is RMB93,218,000 (2023: RMB105,664,000), RMB37,325,000 (2023: RMB47,704,000) and 
RMB161,366,000 (2023: RMB173,045,000) as disclosed in notes 14, 15 and 16, respectively.

Estimated impairment of construction in progress

Construction in progress is stated at costs less accumulated impairment, if any. In determining 
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly 
in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; and 
(2) whether the carrying amount of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case 
of fair value less costs of disposal, the fair value estimation of the related construction in progress. 
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the fair value of the related construction in 
progress, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.

At December 31, 2024, the carrying amounts of construction in progress subject to impairment 
assessment is RMB91,209,000 (2023: RMB101,936,000), after taking into account the impairment 
losses of RMB60,543,000 (2023: RMB49,816,000) in respect of construction in progress that have been 
recognised. Details of the impairment of construction in progress are disclosed in note 14.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In 
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make estimation, 
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset 
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the 
case of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the 
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the 
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets belong including allocation of corporate assets 
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable amount 
is determined at the smallest group of cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets 
have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the 
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts. Furthermore, 
the cash flows projections, growth rate and discount rate are subject to greater uncertainties due 
to uncertainty on how the international conflicts and tensions/volatility or disruptions in energy, 
financial, foreign currency or commodity markets may progress and evolve. Details of the impairment of 
intangible assets are disclosed in note 16.

5. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Types of goods or services
Sales of pharmaceutical products 175,100 336,712
License fee income 203,986 95,704
Royalty income 28,119 31,426

407,205 463,842

Timing of revenue recognition
A point in time 407,205 463,842
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

Sales of pharmaceutical products

For the sale of pharmaceutical products, revenue is recognised when control of the goods has been 
transferred, being when the goods have been delivered to the specified location designated by the 
customers. Following delivery, the customers have the primary responsibility when selling the goods 
and bear the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. Account receivables are recognised 
by the Group when the goods are delivered to customers as this represents the point in time at which 
the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required before 
payment is due. The normal credit term is 60 days upon delivery. Based on the Group’s sales contract 
with customers, the customers can request for the return/exchange of pharmaceutical products within 
6 months prior to the expiry of the pharmaceutical products.

License fee income and royalty income

The Group provides license of its patented intellectual property (“IP”) or commercialisation license 
to customers and revenue is recognised when the customers obtain rights to use the underlying IP 
or license as the Group does not require undertaking any activities that significantly affect the IP to 
which the customer has rights nor the rights granted by the license directly expose the customer to any 
positive or negative effects of the Group activities. License fee income is recognised at a point of time 
upon the customer obtains the right to use the IP and license.

The consideration for license comprises a fixed element (and upfront payment) and variable elements 
(including but not limited to development milestones and commercial milestone).

For the variable elements, the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled 
using the most likely amount, which better predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group 
will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent 
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the 
future when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated transaction price (including 
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to represent 
faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in circumstances 
during the reporting period.

Notwithstanding the above criteria, the Group shall recognise revenue for a sales-based or usage-based 
royalty promised in exchange for a licence of IP only when (or as) the later of the following events 
occurs:

• the subsequent sale or usage occurs; and

• the performance obligation to which some or all of the sales-based or usage-based royalty has 
been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).

The Group recognised revenue for a sales-based royalty promised in exchange for a licence of IP when 
the subsequent sale occurs.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has been operating in one reportable segment, being the research and development of 
highly complex biopharmaceutical products, sale of pharmaceutical products and provide license of its 
IP or commercialisation license to customers.

The Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) has been identified as the chief executive officer 
of the Group. For the purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment, the CODM reviews 
the overall results and financial position of the Group prepared based on the same accounting policies 
as set out in note 3 as a whole.

Geographical information

Substantially majority of the Group’s operation and non-current assets are located in the People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The geographical information of the Group’s revenue, determined based 
on geographical location of the registered office of the customers, during the year is as follows:

Geographical markets

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Mainland China 293,355 370,234
Outside Mainland China 113,850 93,608

407,205 463,842

Information about major customers

Revenue from the customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total sales of the 
Group are as follow:

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Customer A 157,956 242,314
Customer B 134,650 67,130
Customer C (note) 82,717
Customer D – 60,000   

Note: The Group carried out transactions with this customer for the year ended December 31, 2024 but the amount of the transaction 
was less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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7. OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Other income

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

 

Bank and other interest income 12,667 24,886
Government grants income (note a) 2,800 17,752
Amortisation of payments received for
 exclusive promotion rights granted (note b) 8,635 1,148
Income from sales of scrap materials 2,922 6,705
Others 34 117

 

27,058 50,608
 

Notes:

a. Government grants include subsidies from the PRC government which are specifically for (i) the capital expenditure incurred for 
plant and machinery and is recognised over the useful life of the respective assets; and (ii) other government grants related to 
income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial 
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

b. The amount represents the amortisation of advance payments received to grant the promotion rights to the independent third 
parties on the pharmaceutical products over the agreed exclusive promotion period as detailed in note 26.

Other gains and losses

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Net gain on fair value changes of financial assets
 measured at FVTPL (note 20) 6,005 59
Net gain on fair value of money market funds (note 22) 352 242
Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 378 (576)
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain (2,803) 20,360
Gain on disposal of an intangible asset (note) – 179,467
Others (947) (8)

2,985 199,544

Note:  During the year ended December 31, 2023, CStone Suzhou entered into an asset purchase agreement with an independent third 
party, pursuant to which, the Group transferred to the independent third party all right, title and interest in IP owned by the Group 
related to Ivosidenib. Details of the terms of the transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement on December 21, 2023.
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8. FINANCE COSTS

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on lease liabilities 1,303 2,337
Interest on bank borrowings 10,592 7,845
Interest on defer payment arrangement on account
 payables (note 23) 3,240 1,637
Interest on discounting bills receivables 32 –

 

15,167 11,819
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9. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Depreciation of
 Property, plant and equipment 1,687 5,636
 Right-of-use assets 36,439 37,999
Amortisation of intangible assets 11,679 14,555

Total depreciation and amortisation charged to profit or loss 49,805 58,190

Directors’ emoluments (note 10) 31,055 59,498
Other staff costs:
 Salaries and other allowances, including redundancy cost of
  RMB3,059,000 (2023: RMB30,957,000) 93,269 235,870
 Performance related bonus 9,869 9,828
 Retirement benefit scheme contributions 21,324 46,498
 Share-based payment expenses (25,048) (14,109)

99,414 278,087

130,469 337,585

Auditor’s remuneration 1,874 2,214
Impairment losses recognised on construction in progress
 (included in research and development expenses) 10,727 26,404
(Reversal of) write-down of inventories (recognised in
 cost of revenue of RMB29,632,000 (2023: RMB8,822,000)
 and reversed in research and development expenses
 RMB32,001,000 (2023: nil)) (2,369) 8,822
Cost of inventories recognised as cost of revenue 63,329 60,599
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments paid or payable by the entities comprising the Group to the directors and 
chief executive officer of the Company (including emoluments for services as employee/directors of 
the group entities prior to becoming the directors of the Company) for their services during the year, 
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2024

Non-cash Retirement
Performance share-based benefit

related payment scheme
Fee Salaries bonus expenses contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive director:
Jianxin Yang (“Dr. Yang”) – 5,051 2,136 21,250 64 28,501

Non-executive directors:
Wei Li – – – 459 – 459
Xianghong Lin – – – – – –
Kenneth Walton Hitchner III 285 – – 69 – 354
Edward Hu – – – 459 – 459

Independent non-executive directors:
Paul Herbert Chew 285 – – – – 285
Ting Yuk Anthony Wu 712 – – – – 712
Hongbin Sun 285 – – – – 285
Yip Betty Ho (note a) – – – – – –

1,567 5,051 2,136 22,237 64 31,055
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2023

Non-cash Retirement
Performance share-based benefit

related payment scheme
Fee Salaries bonus expenses contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive director:
Dr. Yang – 4,789 2,046 50,973 – 57,808

Non-executive directors:
Wei Li – – – – – –
Yanling Cao (note b) – – – – – –
Xianghong Lin – – – – – –
Kenneth Walton Hitchner III 286 – – 129 – 415
Edward Hu – – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors:
Paul Herbert Chew 282 – – – – 282
Ting Yuk Anthony Wu 711 – – – – 711
Hongbin Sun 282 – – – – 282

1,561 4,789 2,046 51,102 – 59,498

Notes:

a. Yip Betty Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on December 30, 2024.

b. Yanling Cao resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on January 18, 2023.
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2023 (Continued)

The executive director’s emolument shown above was for his services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors 
of the Company.

There were no arrangements under which a director of the Company or the chief executive officer 
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during both years.

During both years, there are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors of the 
Company, their controlled bodies corporate and connected entities.

There are no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s business 
to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of both years or at any time during the reporting 
periods.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, no consideration was provided to or receivable 
by third parties for making available service of directors of the Company.
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group included one (2023: one) director of the Company for 
the year ended December 31, 2024 with details of their emoluments set out above. The emoluments of 
the remaining four (2023: four) employees are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other allowances 7,911 10,116
Performance related bonus 2,999 4,717
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 637 544

 

Total cash compensation 11,547 15,377
Non-cash share-based payment expenses 7,585 24,288

 

19,132 39,665
 

The emoluments for the five highest paid individuals (including share-based payment expenses) are 
within the following bands:

Number of individuals

Emolument bands (Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”)) 2024 2023

4,000,001 to 4,500,000 1 –
5,000,001 to 5,500,000 2 –
5,500,001 to 6,000,000 – 1
6,000,001 to 6,500,000 1 –
7,500,001 to 8,000,000 – 1
9,500,001 to 10,000,000 – 1
20,000,001 to 20,500,000 – 1
31,000,001 to 31,500,000 1 –
63,500,001 to 64,000,000 – 1

5 5
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employees (Continued)

Performance related bonus is determined by reference to the duties and responsibilities of the relevant 
individual within the Group and the Group’s performance.

Certain employees and directors of the Company were granted share options or RSUs in respect of their 
services to the Group. Details of the share-based payment transactions are set out in note 29.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company or the five highest paid 
individuals for both years as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for 
loss of office.

11. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period.

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Company is tax exempt under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the Group’s income is not derived from 
Hong Kong.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and implementation regulations of 
the EIT Law, the statutory tax rate of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

CStone Suzhou has been accredited as a “High and New Technology Enterprise” by the Science and 
Technology Bureau of Jiangsu Province and relevant authorities, and has been registered with the local 
tax authorities for enjoying the reduced 15% Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) rate from 2022 to 2025.

Under the Treasury Law Amendment (Enterprise Tax Plan Base Rate Entities) Bill 2017 of Australia, 
corporate entities who qualify a small business entity are eligible for the lower corporate tax rate at 
27.5%. CStone Pharmaceuticals Australia Pty, Ltd. (“CStone Australia”) is qualified as small business 
entity and is subject to a corporate tax rate of 27.5% for both years.

Under the US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the US corporate income tax rate has charged at flat rate of 21%.

Under the Income Tax Act 1947 of Singapore, Singapore profits tax is charged at the rate of 17% on 
the estimated assessable profits.

Under the Income Basic Tax Act of Taiwan, Taiwan profits tax is charged at the rate of 20% on the 
estimated assessable profits above Taiwan New Dollars 120,000.
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss before tax (91,207) (367,234)

Tax charge at the PRC EIT rate of 25% (22,802) (91,808)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 6,583 67,745
Effect of research and development expenses that
 are additionally deducted (note) (8,363) (40,594)
Tax effect of non-taxable income (5,951) (6,079)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 31,935 72,900
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised – (9,389)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not recognised 3,981 6,113
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating
 in other jurisdictions (5,383) 1,112

– –

Note:  Pursuant to the State Administration of Taxation Announcement No. 7, 2023, CStone Suzhou enjoyed super deduction of 200% on 
qualifying research and development expenditures for both years.

A t  December  31,  2024,  the Group has  unused tax  lo s ses  o f  RMB4,835,644,000 (2023: 
RMB4,696,514,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been 
recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The unused tax losses will be expired as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

2026 23,709 23,709
2027 26,982 26,982
2028 121,364 121,364
2029 1,032,064 974,383
2030 1,490,960 1,490,960
2031 1,308,814 1,308,814
2032 191,835 191,835
2033 399,867 399,867
2034 71,242 –
Indefinite (note) 168,807 158,600

4,835,644 4,696,514

Note:  At December 31, 2024, tax losses of RMB168,807,000 (2023: RMB158,600,000) is subjected to confirmation by the relevant tax 
authorities.

At December 31, 2024, the Group has deductible temporary differences of RMB149,261,000 (2023: 
RMB167,961,000), mainly arising from the impairment of construction in progress, write-down of 
inventories, deferred income and lease liabilities, available to offset against future profits. Deferred tax 
assets in respect of deductible temporary differences, arising from lease liabilities have been recognised 
of RMB37,131,000 (2023: RMB44,462,000). There were no other significant unrecognised temporary 
differences at the end of each reporting period.
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13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share for the year is as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023

Loss (RMB’000)
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
 for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share (91,207) (367,234)

Number of shares (’000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
 the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share 1,276,198 1,263,073

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share for both years has excluded the treasury Shares held 
in the trust of the Company (note 28).

Diluted loss per share for both years did not assume the exercise of share options awarded under 
the employee stock option and the vesting of unvested RSUs (note 29) as their inclusion would be 
anti-dilutive.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Construction

improvements machinery equipment in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST
At January 1, 2023 21,275 9,875 9,229 151,762 192,141
Additions – – 15 – 15
Disposal – – (5,021) – (5,021)
Transfer – – 10 (10) –

At December 31, 2023 21,275 9,875 4,233 151,752 187,135
Disposal – – (316) – (316)

At December 31, 2024 21,275 9,875 3,917 151,752 186,819

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At January 1, 2023 16,742 7,142 6,466 23,412 53,762
Provided for the year 3,882 843 911 – 5,636
Eliminated on disposals – – (4,331) – (4,331)
Impairment loss recognised
 in profit or loss – – – 26,404 26,404

At December 31, 2023 20,624 7,985 3,046 49,816 81,471
Provided for the year 651 592 444 – 1,687
Eliminated on disposals – – (284) – (284)
Impairment loss recognised
 in profit or loss – – – 10,727 10,727

At December 31, 2024 21,275 8,577 3,206 60,543 93,601

CARRYING VALUES
At December 31, 2024 – 1,298 711 91,209 93,218

At December 31, 2023 651 1,890 1,187 101,936 105,664
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for construction in progress, after taking 
into account the residual values, if any, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates 
per annum:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or 33.3%
Plant and machinery 18%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9% – 30%

In 2024, in view that CStone Suzhou Factory (the “Facilities”) remained temporary suspension of the 
operation, the directors of the Company have performed an impairment assessment of the Facilities 
and consequently determined an impairment of the related construction in progress amounting to 
RMB10,727,000 (2023: RMB26,404,000). The impairment loss has been included in profit or loss in 
the research and development expenses line item. The directors of the Company have estimated the 
recoverable amount of the construction in progress using the fair value less costs of disposal.

If the fair value less costs of disposal of the abovementioned construction in progress is reduced by 
10%, the recoverable amount of the construction in progress and the amount of impairment loss would 
be further reduced/increased by RMB9,121,000 (2023: RMB10,194,000).

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Office
Premises Vehicles Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying Amounts
At January 1, 2023 68,187 – 68,187
Additions 17,086 430 17,516
Depreciation charge for the year (37,945) (54) (37,999)

At December 31, 2023 47,328 376 47,704
Additions and lease modification 26,060 – 26,060
Depreciation charge for the year (36,224) (215) (36,439)

At December 31, 2024 37,164 161 37,325
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Expense relating to short-term leases 575 252
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets,
 excluding short-term leases of low value assets 36 250
Total cash outflow for leases 35,151 34,250

For both years, the Group leases various office premises and vehicles for its operations. Lease 
contracts are entered into for fixed term of 12 to 37 months (2023: 12 to 37 months). Lease terms 
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In 
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies 
the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises and vehicles. At December 31, 
2023 and 2024, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to 
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group entered into new leases and lease modification 
with lease liabilities amounted to RMB26,548,000 (2023: RMB17,136,000) which were non-cash 
transactions of the Group.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB37,773,000 are recognised with related right-of-use assets of 
RMB37,325,000 at December 31, 2024 (2023: lease liabilities of RMB44,462,000 are recognised with 
related right-of-use assets of RMB47,704,000). The lease agreements do not impose any covenants 
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not 
be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer
software In-licenses Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At January 1, 2023 9,954 171,397 181,351
Additions – 65,032 65,032
Disposals – (44,557) (44,557)

At December 31, 2023 and 2024 9,954 191,872 201,826

AMORTISATION
At January 1, 2023 8,349 13,303 21,652
Provided for the year 1,265 13,290 14,555
Eliminated on disposals – (7,426) (7,426)

At December 31, 2023 9,614 19,167 28,781
Provided for the year 70 11,609 11,679

At December 31, 2024 9,684 30,776 40,460

CARRYING VALUES
At December 31, 2024 270 161,096 161,366

At December 31, 2023 340 172,705 173,045

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight-line basis as follows:

Computer software 10% – 33% per annum
In-licenses 7% – 9% per annum

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group capitalised milestone payments from the license 
in arrangements with independent third party partners amounted to USD9,000,000 (equivalent to 
RMB65,032,000).

At December 31, 2024, out of the in-licenses capitalised as intangible assets, USD5,000,000 (equivalent 
to RMB35,413,000) relates to a research milestone payment made which is still in the early research 
stage and thus such amount had yet to commence amortisation.
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The management of the Group conducted impairment assessment on the Group’s capitalised in-licenses 
costs. The recoverable amounts have been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash 
flow projections which are based on financial forecasts approved by the directors of the Company 
at December 31, 2024. The management of the Group did not assume any growth to the cash flows 
subsequent to the forecast period. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 9% 
(2023:11%) per annum and reference to the average discount rate with similar business risk and after 
taking into account the risk premium in connection with the related research and development efforts. 
Apart from the discount rate as stated above, the estimation of cash inflows/outflows include budgeted 
sales and gross margin which are based on management’s expectation for the market development. 
The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount of the Group’s capitalised in-licenses 
costs. The management of the Group believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these 
assumptions would not result in impairment.

17. ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Account receivables 83,929 172,438

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days to its customers.

The following is an aged analysis of account receivables presented based on invoice dates at the end of 
the reporting period:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

0 – 60 days 48,688 28,447
61 – 90 days – 20
Over 90 days 35,241 143,971

83,929 172,438

At December 31, 2024, included in the Group’s account receivables balance are debtors with aggregate 
carrying amount of RMB35,241,000 (2023: RMB143,991,000) which are past due as at the reporting 
date. Out of the past due balances and except for account receivables with corresponding refund 
liabilities recognised, RMB33,017,000 (2023: RMB121,273,000) has been past due 90 days or more and 
is not considered as in default as they are due from counterparties with good reputation and lower risk 
of default. Details of impairment assessment of account receivables are set out in note 33b.
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18. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

At December 31, 2024, the Group had derecognised bills discounted to banks on a full recourse basis 
amounting to RMB40,000,000 (2023: nil). These bills were issued or guaranteed by reputable PRC 
banks with high credit ratings, therefore the directors of the Company considered the substantial risks 
in relation to these bills were interest risk as the credit risk arising from these bills were minimal, the 
Group had transferred substantially all the risks of these bills to relevant banks. However, if the bills 
cannot be accepted at maturity, the banks have the right to require the Group pay off the outstanding 
balance. Therefore, the Group continued involve in them. Such bills are matured and settled in January 
2025.

19. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Rental deposits 9,587 9,542
Prepayments 2,374 3,751
Value-added tax recoverable 2,442 457
Reimbursement from licensor (note) 21,364 –
Interest receivables 10,358 5,536
Others 3,438 4,822

49,563 24,108

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Analysed as:
 Non-current 2,617 2,258
 Current 46,946 21,850

49,563 24,108

Note:  The Group entered into an agreement with the licensor and its authorised manufacturer. Amounts represented the balance in which 
the Group is entitled to receive from the licensor pursuant to which the licensor will reimburse to the Group for part of the Group’s 
cost of purchase from the authorised manufacturer. Such amounts are expected to be settled within 1 year.
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVTPL

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted equity investment 4,868 3,541
Listed equity investment 4,164 –

9,032 3,541

Note:  At December 31, 2023 and 2024, the Group held 1,000,000 and 500,000, respectively, Class X units of a private equity after 
the redemption of the fund linked note as detailed in Note 19 of the Group’s 2022 annual report. Pursuant to the amended 
agreement of a private equity, the distribution of class B shares of an unlisted entity are made to the holders of Class X units 
while class B shares of the unlisted entity are automatically converted into the class A shares of the unlisted entity upon the 
completion of business combination. During the year ended December 31, 2024, upon completion of the business combination, 
the unlisted entity’s shares become publicly tradeable on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations, and 
the Group’s 500,000 (2023: nil) Class X units of the private equity had been transferred into such tradable class A shares which is 
included in “listed equity investment”. During the year ended December 31,2024, the Group disposed of 54,360 class A shares. 
As at December 31, 2024, the Group remained to hold 500,000 Class X units of the private equity yet to be transferred into such 
tradable class A shares. The management of the Group assessed its fair value of Class X units of the private equity is nil for both 
years, after considering the expected return of the underlying investments.

21. INVENTORIES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 30,814 –
Work-in-progress 8,261 –
Finished goods 247,021 108,828

286,096 108,828
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME DEPOSITS

Time deposits with original maturity over three months

At December 31, 2024, the Group held time deposits of RMB285,000,000 (2023: RMB30,000,000) with 
original maturity of 3 years which carried effective interest rate ranging from 2.15% to 3.10% (2023: 
3.10%) per annum. The management intends to hold such time deposits within a business model 
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at banks 381,501 683,771
Cash on hand 71 71
Cash equivalents
– Money market funds (note) 6,365 5,960
– Time deposits with original maturity less than three months – 306,869

 

387,937 996,671
 

Note:  Amounts represents investments money market funds with low volatility.

Cash and cash equivalents include time deposits with original maturity less than three months and cash 
at banks for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short-term cash commitments, which carry interests at 
market rates per annum ranging as follows:

2024 2023

Time deposits N/A 1.40% – 5.36%
Cash at banks 0.00% – 4.31% 0.00% – 0.20%

The Group’s time deposits and cash and cash equivalents denominated in currencies other than 
functional currencies of the relevant group entities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

USD 136,854 554,125
HK$ 4,655 8,072

Details of impairment assessment of time deposits, cash at banks and investments in money market 
funds are set out in note 33b.
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23. ACCOUNT AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Account payables (note b) 338,029 315,106

Accrued expenses
 – Research and development (note a) 112,898 271,653
 – Royalty fees 19,797 3,818
 – Selling and marketing 31,354 21,475
 – Legal and professional fees 882 2,108
 – Others 1,985 8,457
Staff payroll payables 28,314 64,768
Other tax payable 1,774 17,660
Other payables 41,148 45,126

238,152 435,065

576,181 750,171

Analysed as:
Non-current (note b) – 68,729
Current 576,181 681,442

576,181 750,171

Notes:

(a) Amount mainly included accrued service fees to outsourced service providers including contract research organisations, contract 
manufactory organisations and clinical trial centres.

(b) In 2023, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement with the vendors, pursuant to which both parties agreed to defer an 
amount of RMB24,987,000 and US$7,945,000. Such amounts are carried at a fixed interest rate of 4% per annum. Pursuant to the 
supplemental agreement, the repayment schedule is US$1,000,000 to be settled in the first quarter of 2024, and US$3,000,000 
in total to be settled in the third quarter of 2024 and the first quarter of 2025, the remaining principal and interest to be settled 
in the third quarter of 2025. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group settled RMB7,020,000 and the vendor waived 
RMB4,639,000. As at December 31, 2024, outstanding balance of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB7,188,000) were due, and 
US$2,000,000 (equivalent to RMB14,377,000) and RMB53,789,000 were to be settled in the first and third quarter of 2025, 
respectively.
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23. ACCOUNT AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued)

The credit period on account payables is ranged from 0 to 90 days except for these set out in above 
mentioned in note (b). The following is an aged analysis of account payables based on invoice dates at 
the end of the reporting period.

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

0 – 30 days 74,545 171,216
31 – 60 days 142,635 24,520
61 – 90 days 24,848 39,850
Over 90 days 96,001 79,520

338,029 315,106

24. REFUND LIABILITIES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Refund liabilities arising from the sales of  
pharmaceutical products 2,224 22,698

The refund liabilities relate to customers’ right to return/exchange products within 6 months prior 
to expiry of the pharmaceutical products. At the point of sale, a refund liability and a corresponding 
adjustment to revenue is recognised for those products expected to be returned/exchanged. The Group 
based on its available market information and the expiration dates of the pharmaceutical products sold 
to estimate the number of exchanges using the expected value method.
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25. BANK BORROWINGS

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Unsecured and unguaranteed (note a) 318,200 200,000
Secured and unguaranteed (note b) – 118,986

318,200 318,986

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

The carrying amounts of the above bank borrowings are
 analysed based on contractual repayment date as follows:
Within one year 60,800 105,986
Within a period of more than one year  

but not exceeding two years 257,400 157,000
Within a period of more than two years  

but not exceeding five years – 56,000

318,200 318,986

Less: Amounts due within 12 months shown under
 current liabilities (60,800) (105,986)

Amounts show under non-current liabilities 257,400 213,000

Notes:

a. At December 31, 2024, the Group drawn down RMB268,200,000 (2023: RMB170,000,000) bank borrowings which are unsecured, 
unguaranteed and carried at variable interest rate (also being the effective interest rate) ranging from Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) less 
45 (2023: 45) basis points per annum to LPR plus 30 basis points per annum, for the purpose of working capital. At December 31, 
2024, the Group also drawn down RMB50,000,000 (2023: RMB30,000,000) bank borrowings which are unsecured, unguaranteed 
and carried at fixed rate 2.85% (2023: 3.30%) per annum for the purpose of working capital.

b. At December 31, 2023, the Group drawn down RMB68,986,000 and RMB50,000,000 bank borrowings which are secured, 
unguaranteed and carried at fixed rate 4.80% and at LPR less 45 basis points per annum, respectively, for the purpose of working 
capital. Such bank borrowing is secured by the Facilities. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group fully repaid fixed-
rate bank borrowing of RMB68,986,000, while the security for variable-rate bank borrowing of RMB50,000,000 was released and 
the outstanding balance of such bank borrowing as at December 31, 2024 became unguaranteed and unsecured.
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26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Advance from the customers for exclusive promotion rights 95,217 68,852

Analysed as:
Non-current 84,832 61,967
Current 10,385 6,885

95,217 68,852

In 2023, the Group entered into an exclusive promotion service agreement with an independent third 
party pursuant to which the Group is entitled to receive an upfront payment and additional milestone 
payments, while the counterparty receives the exclusive rights to commercialise the Group’s pralsetinib 
pharmaceutical product in China and receives tiered service fee based on the net sales. In 2023, the 
Group received a non-refundable upfront payment amounting to RMB74,200,000. The VAT-excluded 
amount was recognised in contract liabilities amounted to RMB70,000,000 and will be amortised over 
the agreed exclusive promotion period.

In 2024, the Group entered into an exclusive promotion service agreement with another independent 
third party pursuant to which the Group is entitled to receive an upfront payment and additional 
milestone payments, while the counterparty receives the exclusive rights to commercialise the Group’s 
avapritinib pharmaceutical product in China and receives tiered service fee based on the net sales. 
In 2024, the Group received a non-refundable upfront payment amounting to RMB37,100,000. The 
VAT-excluded amount was recognised in contract liabilities amounted to RMB35,000,000 and will be 
amortised over the agreed exclusive promotion period.
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27. LEASE LIABILITIES

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year 32,416 33,327
Within a period of more than one year
 but not exceeding two years 5,357 5,778
Within a period of more than two years
 but not exceeding five years – 5,357

37,773 44,462
Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 months
 shown under current liabilities (32,416) (33,327)

Amounts due for settlement after 12 months
 shown under non-current liabilities 5,357 11,135

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities is 5.34% per annum for 
both the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.
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28. SHARE CAPITAL/TREASURY SHARES HELD IN THE TRUST

Number of Share
shares capital

US$’000

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares of USD0.0001 each

Authorised
At January 1, 2023, and December 31, 2023 and 2024 2,000,000,000 200

Equivalent
amount of

Number of ordinary
shares Amount shares

USD’000 RMB’000

Issued and fully paid
At January 1, 2023 1,198,744,012 121 802
Exercise of share options 619,987 – * – *
Issuance of ordinary shares 84,800,000 8 58

At December 31, 2023 1,284,163,999 129 860
Exercise of share options 73,213 – * – *

At December 31, 2024 1,284,237,212 129 860

* Amount less than USD1,000 or RMB1,000.
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28. SHARE CAPITAL/TREASURY SHARES HELD IN THE TRUST (Continued)

Treasury Shares held in the trust:

Equivalent
amount of

Number of treasury
treasury Shares Amount shares

USD’000 RMB’000

At January 1, 2023 665,070 – * 2
RSUs exercised under the trust (2,972,906) – * (2)
Recycled to the trust 11,155,122 1 8

At December 31, 2023 8,847,286 1 8
RSUs exercised under the trust (1,532,912) – * (1)

At December 31, 2024 7,314,374 1 7

* Amount less than USD1,000

In July 2019, the Company and Computershare Hong Kong Trustees Limited (the “Computershare 
Trustees”), an independent third party, set up the 2019 CStone Share Incentivisation Trust for 
Non-Connected Persons which entered into a trust deed pursuant to which the Computershare Trustees 
has agreed to act as the trustee to administer the Post-IPO RSUs Plan (as defined in note 29(b)) and to 
hold the ordinary shares under the Post-IPO RSUs Plan through the Computershare Trustees. Since the 
Company has control over the trust, the shares held in the trust are accounted for as treasury Shares of 
the Company.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(a) Employee stock option plan (“ESOP”)

The Pre-IPO ESOP

In 2016, the Group granted share options under its employee stock option plan (the “Pre-IPO 
ESOP”) for the purpose of incentivising, retaining and rewarding certain employees and board 
members of the Company or its subsidiaries (“Eligible Persons”) for their contributions to the 
Group’s business, and to align their interests with those of the Group.

The directors of the Company adopted and approved such Pre-IPO ESOP on July 7, 2017, with 
the intent at that time that the directors of the Company delegated full authority to the then 
executive director of the Company to grant option awards in accordance with the Pre-IPO ESOP 
before Pre-IPO ESOP was approved and adopted by the directors of the Company. The overall 
limit on the number of underlying shares which may be delivered under the plan was 24,010,293 
shares of the Company, subject to any adjustments for other dilutive issuances.

Except as provided otherwise in the grant letter or offer in any other form by the directors 
of the Company, the vesting schedule of the share options shall be a sixty months vesting 
schedule consisting of a cliff vesting of twenty percent after twelve months from the vesting 
commencement date and, thereafter, monthly vesting of equal instalments over the remaining 
forty-eight months.

On August 3, 2018, the board of directors of the Company resolved to adopt and approved the 
amended and restated employee equity plan (the “Pre-IPO Incentivisation Plan”) for the purpose 
of granting RSUs and other equity incentive permitted by the Pre-IPO Incentivisation Plan to the 
employees, directors of the Company, consultants and advisors of the Company. Further on 
August 14, 2018, the board of directors of the Company resolved the change of vesting schedule 
and updated the outstanding options and RSUs with the new vesting schedule under the Pre-IPO 
Incentivisation Plan, whereas 25% of the shares will be vested on the first anniversary of the 
original vesting commencement date, and the remaining shares will be vested with equal monthly 
instalments over the following thirty-six months.

The share options and RSUs shall be restricted to the eligible employees, directors of the 
Company, consultants and advisors of the Company and shall not be assignable to other person. 
No eligible employee shall in any way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any 
interest (legal or beneficial) in favour of any third party over or in relation to any share option and 
RSUs or attempt to do so.

The overall limit on the number of underlying shares which may be delivered under the Pre-IPO 
Incentivisation Plan for both employees stock option plan and the RSUs is 130,831,252 shares of 
the Company.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Employee stock option plan (“ESOP”) (Continued)

The Pre-IPO ESOP (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s Pre-IPO ESOP held by grantees during 
the year:

Outstanding at Outstanding at Outstanding at
Option type 1/1/2023 Forfeited Exercised 31/12/2023 Forfeited Exercised 31/12/2024

Pre-IPO ESOP 5,685,139 (75,614) (619,987) 4,989,538 (213,838) (73,213) 4,702,487

Exerciseable 52,161 4,989,538 4,702,487

Weighted average 
exercise price USD0.57 USD0.37 USD0.14 USD0.11

The Post-IPO ESOP

Pursuant to a resolution passed on January 30, 2019, the directors of the Company further 
adopted an employee equity plan (the “Post-IPO ESOP”) to grant option awards to any 
employee, officer, director, contractor, advisor or consultant of the Group by reason of his or 
her contribution to the Group. The Post-IPO ESOP shall be valid and effective for a period of ten 
years commencing on February 26, 2019 (“the Listing Date”). Options granted must be taken 
up within the period specified in the letter containing the offer of the grant of the options. The 
total number of shares in respect of share options may be granted under the Post-IPO ESOP is not 
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue immediately after completion 
of the IPO and as at the Listing Date (i.e. 98,405,153 shares), without prior approval from the 
shareholders of the Company.

Unless otherwise approved by the directors of the Company and set forth in an offer letter, the 
vesting schedule should be forty-eight months consisting of a cliff vesting of twenty five percent 
on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date and, thereafter, monthly vesting of 
equal instalments over the following thirty-six months, provided that the grantee continues to be 
an eligible employee (as described under the Post-IPO ESOP) as of each such vesting date.

On January 6, 2023, the Group cancelled 6,200,000 and 9,964,460 share options of Dr. Yang and 
employees, respectively, pursuant to the terms of the Post-IPO ESOP and re-granted 4,340,000 
and 7,116,419 new share options to Dr. Yang and employees (“Existing Grantees”), respectively. 
In March 2023, the shareholders of the Company approved the proposed cancellation and re-grant 
of options under the Post-IPO ESOP in the Company’s extraordinary general meeting.

On October 18, 2024, the Company granted 6,280,000 share options to the employees of the 
Company of which 4,000,000 share options are performance-based share options which each 
batch of share options shall vest and become exerciseable on the first, second, third and fourth 
anniversary of the date of satisfaction of the respective performance target milestone, and the 
remaining 2,280,000 share options are time-based share options.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Employee stock option plan (“ESOP”) (Continued)

The Post-IPO ESOP (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s Post-IPO ESOP held by grantees during 
the year:

Outstanding at Outstanding at
Option type 1/1/2024 Granted Cancelled Forfeited 31/12/2024

Post-IPO ESOP 73,147,494 17,482,900 – (8,083,239) 82,547,155

Exerciseable 10,528,601 20,776,651

Weighted average exercise price HK$1.73 HK$4.50

Outstanding at Outstanding at
Option type 1/1/2023 Granted Cancelled Forfeited 31/12/2023

Post-IPO ESOP 86,236,090 39,777,539 (16,164,460) (36,701,675) 73,147,494

Exerciseable 30,670,993 10,528,601

Weighted average exercise price HK$4.27 HK$11.74 HK$9.18

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the weighted average fair value of the Post-IPO ESOP 
granted is HK$0.45 to HK$1.16 per share.

The fair value was calculated using Option Pricing Model (“OPM”) and Monte Carlo Simulation for 
the year ended December 31, 2024 while using OPM for the year ended December 31, 2023. The 
key assumptions, such as risk-free interest rate and volatility, are required to be determined by the 
directors of the Company with best estimate.

The key inputs into the model for the grants during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024 
were as follows:

2024 2023

Exercise price HK$0.94 – HK$2.35 HK$3.77 – HK$4.90
Expected volatility 56.8% – 61.7% 71.0% – 71.4%
Expected life 10 years 10 years
Risk-free rate 3.11% – 3.76% 3.0% – 3.6%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Employee stock option plan (“ESOP”) (Continued)

The Post-IPO ESOP (Continued)

The directors of the Company estimated the risk-free interest rate based on the yield of the 
Hong Kong Government Bonds with a maturity life close to the option life of the Post-IPO 
ESOP. Volatility was estimated at the grant date based on average of historical volatilities of the 
comparable companies with length commensurable to the time to maturity of the share options. 
Dividend yield is based on management estimation at the grant date.

(b) RSUs

The Pre-IPO RSUs Plan

Prior to the listing, the Group granted in total 18,079,665 RSUs of the Company at nil 
consideration to the grantees in accordance with Pre-IPO Incentivisation Plan.

On August 14, 2018, the directors of the Company, resolved and approved the vesting schedule 
of the RSUs with 25% of the shares to be vested on the first anniversary of the vesting 
commencement date, and the remaining shares to be vested with equal monthly instalments over 
the following thirty-six months. The aforesaid arrangement has been accounted for as share-based 
payment transactions. Accordingly, the Group measured the fair value of the RSUs as of the grant 
date and recognised the amount as compensation expenses over the vesting period for each 
separate vesting portion of the RSUs.

The following table summarised the Group’s Pre-IPO RSUs movement during the years:

Number of RSUs

Outstanding at January 1, 2023 192,470
Vested during the year (192,470)

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 2024 –
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) RSUs (Continued)

The Post-IPO RSUs Plan

A restricted share award scheme (the “Post-IPO RSUs Plan”) was approved and adopted pursuant 
to a resolution passed on March 22, 2019. The directors of the Company may, from time to time, 
at its absolute discretion grant RSUs to an eligible person in accordance with the Post-IPO RSUs 
Plan. The overall limit on the number of RSUs under the Post-IPO RSUs Plan is 7,650,000 shares 
and the maximum number of shares which may be awarded to any eligible person under the 
Post-IPO RSUs Plan shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company at March 22, 
2019.

On January 31, 2020, an amendment to the Post-IPO RSUs Plan was approved and adopted to 
increase maximum total number of RSUs, pursuant to which the maximum total number of RSUs 
that may be granted under the Post-IPO RSUs Plan in aggregate (excluding the RSUs that have 
lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the plan) was increased from 7,650,000 
shares to 38,010,316 shares, representing approximately 3.70% of the issued share capital of the 
Company at January 31, 2020.

The vesting of the Post-IPO RSUs granted is subject to the eligible person remaining at all times 
after the date of granting and on the vesting date an eligible person of the Post-IPO RSUs Plan. 
RSUs granted under the Post-IPO RSUs Plan shall have a contractual term of 10 years and generally 
vest over a four-year period, with 25% of total RSUs vesting on the anniversary date one year 
after the vesting commencement date and the remaining 75% vesting subsequently in 36 equal 
monthly instalments or with 25%, 25%, 25% and 25% of total RSUs vesting on the first, second, 
third and fourth anniversary date one year after the vesting commencement date.

The grantees may not have any interest or right in the RSUs granted until such Post-IPO RSUs have 
been vested.

The RSUs granted to the eligible person under the Post-IPO RSUs Plan shall be restricted to eligible 
person only and shall not be assignable to other person. No eligible person may in any way sell, 
transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest in favour of any third party over or in 
relation to the award. The Post-IPO RSUs Plan will be expired on March 23, 2029.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) RSUs (Continued)

The Post-IPO RSUs Plan (Continued)

The following table summarised the Group’s Post-IPO RSUs and movement during the year:

Number of Post-IPO RSUs

2024 2023

At January 1, 4,586,778 6,480,851
Granted 11,397,900 3,379,180
Forfeited (1,764,384) (2,492,817)
Vested (1,532,912) (2,780,436)

At December 31, 12,687,382 4,586,778

The fair value of the Post-IPO RSUs granted during the current year was from HK$0.94 to HK$1.76 
per Post-IPO RSU which was determined by the observable market price at grant date.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group’s total share-based in relation to payment 
expenses granted recognised in the consol idated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income by the Company is income of RMB2,811,000 (2023: expense of 
RMB36,993,000).

30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The PRC

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement 
benefit scheme operated by the relevant local government authority in the PRC. The subsidiaries 
are required to contribute, based on a certain percentage of the payroll costs of its employees, to 
the retirement benefit scheme and has no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or 
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. The total amount provided by the Group to 
the scheme in the PRC and charged to profit or loss are approximately RMB21,388,000 for the year 
ended December 31, 2024 (2023: RMB46,498,000).
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31. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group also entered into the 
following transactions during the year with certain related parties.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members of key management were as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Short term benefits 23,463 31,767
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 1,020 1,087

Total cash compensation 24,483 32,854
Non-cash share-based payment expenses 31,598 81,185

56,081 114,039

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the directors of the Company having 
regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to its stakeholders and maintaining an adequate capital structure. 
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes bank borrowings and lease 
liabilities set out in notes 25 and 27, respectively, cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and equity 
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued ordinary share capital and reserves.

The management of the Group regularly reviews the capital structure on a continuous basis taking 
into account the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of the capital. The Group will 
balance its overall capital structure through the new shares issues as well as the issue of new debt.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

33a Categories of financial instruments

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets
Amortised cost 510,248 1,183,049
Cash equivalents at FVTPL 6,365 5,960
Financial assets measured at FVTPL 9,032 3,541
Financial asset at FVTOCI 285,000 30,000

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 697,377 679,218

33b Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include account receivables, rental deposits and other 
receivables, financial assets measured at FVTPL, time deposits with original maturity over three 
months measured at FVTOCI, cash and cash equivalents, account and other payables, and bank 
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.

The risks associated with the Group’s financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate 
these risks are set out below. The management of the Group manages and monitors these 
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

Certain time deposits, cash and cash equivalents, financial assets measured at FVTPL, account 
and other receivables, and account and other payables are denominated in foreign currencies 
of the respective group entities which are exposed to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the 
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging of 
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2024 2023 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

US$ 146,601 561,466 221,228 248,951
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

33b Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase in RMB against the 
relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used which represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency 
rates. A positive (negative) number below indicates increase (decrease) in post-tax loss where 
RMB strengthens 5% against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 5% weakening of RMB 
against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss.

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

US$ (2,922) 13,070

The directors of the Company considered the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the 
inherent foreign exchange risk as the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not 
reflect the exposure during the year.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate time deposits 
(note 22), bank borrowings (note 25) and lease liabilities (note 27). The Group is also 
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable rate bank borrowings (note 25). 
The Group currently does not enter into any hedging instrument for fair value or cash flow 
interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest 
rates at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial 
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the 
whole year. A 50 basis point (2023: 50 basis point) increase or decrease in variable-rate 
bank borrowings are used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
interest rates.

If the interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower at December 31, 2024 and all 
other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended December 31, 2024 
would increase by RMB1,341,000 (2023: RMB1,595,000) or decrease by RMB1,341,000 
(2023: RMB1,595,000).
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

33b Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the Group.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its finance team to develop and maintain 
the Group’s credit risk gradings to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of 
default. Management uses publicly available financial information and the Group’s own historical 
repayment records to rate other debtors and other debt instruments issuers. The Group’s exposure 
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of 
transactions concluded is spread amongst counterparties.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

Account Other financial
Categories Description receivables assets/items

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default Life time ECL- 12m ECL
 and does not have any past due amounts  not credit impaired

Doubtful Amount is >30 days past due or there has Life time ECL- Life-time ECL-
 been a significant increase in credit risk  not credit impaired  not credit-impaired
 since initial recognition

In default Amount is >90 days past due or there is Life time ECL- Life-time ECL-
 evidence indicating the asset is  credit impaired  credit-impaired
 credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is write-off Amount is write-off
 debtor is in severe financial difficulty
 and the Group has no realistic prospect
 of recovery

For the purpose of impairment assessment for account receivables, with a total gross carrying 
amount of RMB83,929,000 (2023: RMB172,438,000), the loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to life time ECL. For the purpose of impairment assessment for other receivables 
with a total gross carrying amount of RMB44,747,000 (2023: RMB19,900,000), the loss allowance 
is measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL. In determining the ECL for these financial assets, 
the directors of the Company have taken into account the credit rating of the counterparties in 
estimating the probability of default of each of the account receivables and other receivables 
occurring within their respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default 
in each case. The directors of the Company considered that the amount of ECL provision is 
insignificant.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

33b Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

At December 31, 2024, the Group has concentration of credit risk as 84% (2023: 74%) of the 
total account receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer.

In order to minimise the credit risk with customers, the management of the Group has delegated 
its finance team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit approvals. Before 
accepting any new customers, the Group uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the 
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Other monitoring 
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances 
individually. No loss allowance was recognised during the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: 
nil).

The credit risk on time deposits, cash at banks, investments in money market funds of the 
Group is limited because the counterparties are banks, bond issuers, government and financial 
institutions with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the management of the Group monitors and maintains a 
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s 
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group issues shares as a 
significant source of liquidity.

The directors of the Company are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial resource to 
meet its financial obligation as they fall due for the foreseeable future after taking into account 
of the aforesaid proceeds from the shares issuance and the expected working capital requirements 
for the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

The following table details remaining contractual maturity of the Group for the payables which 
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows based on the earliest date on which the 
Group can be required to pay.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

33b Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Weighted Repayable More than 1 More than 2
average on demand year but not year but not Total Total

effective or less than more than more than undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At December 31, 2024
Bank borrowings 3.34 62,349 266,475 – 328,824 318,200
Account and other payables – 303,823 – – 303,823 303,823
Defer payment arrangement
 on account payables 4.00 81,473 – – 81,473 75,354
Lease liabilities 5.34 33,115 5,468 – 38,583 37,773

480,760 271,943 – 752,703 735,150

Weighted Repayable More than 1 More than 2
average on demand year but not year but not Total Total

effective or less than more than more than undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At December 31, 2023
Bank borrowings 3.97 109,319 164,141 60,438 333,898 318,986
Account and other payables – 277,337 – – 277,337 277,337
Defer payment arrangement
 on account payables 4.00 16,838 70,754 – 87,592 82,895
Lease liabilities 5.34 34,625 6,167 5,468 46,260 44,462

438,119 241,062 65,906 745,087 723,680
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

33c Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting 
period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial 
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is 
available. For instruments with significant unobservable inputs under Level 3, the Chief 
Financial Officer establishes the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model 
and reports any findings to the directors of the Company.

Fair value at
December 31,

Fair value Valuation techniques
Financial assets hierarchy and key inputs

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted equity investment 4,868 3,541 Level 2 Recent transaction price

Listed equity investment 4,164 – Level 1 Quoted closing prices in an 
active market

Money market funds 6,365 5,960 Level 2 Based on the net asset values 
of the funds, which are 
determined with reference 
to observable and quoted 
prices of underlying 
investment portfolio and 
adjustments of related 
expenses.

Time deposits with original 
maturity over three months 
measured at FV

285,000 30,000 Level 2 Discounted cash flows key 
inputs are:

(1) Expected yield of debt 
instruments invested by 
bank

(2) A discount rate that 
reflects the credit risk of 
the bank
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

33c Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

The following table presents the reconciliation of Level 3 measurements of financial assets 
measured at FVTPL during the years:

RMB’000

At January 1, 2023 and December 31, 2023 –
Fair value changes of financial assets measured at FVTPL 4,543
Transfers out of level 3 (note) (4,543)

At December 31, 2024 –

Note:  During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group has also transferred its unlisted equity investments from level 
3 to level 1, as the valuation technique of the investment is changed from Black-Scholes model to quoted closing 
prices in an active market.

(iii) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair 
value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amount of the Group’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial 
statements approximate their fair values.
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34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash 
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows 
as cash flows from financing activities.

Bills
receivables

Bank Lease Account discounted
borrowings liabilities payables to banks Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At January 1, 2023 227,553 58,737 – – 286,290
Financing cash flows 83,588 (33,748) – – 49,840
Non-cash changes:
 New leases entered – 17,136 – – 17,136
 Defer payment arrangement
  on account payables (note 23) – – 81,258 – 81,258
 Finance costs 7,845 2,337 1,637 – 11,819

At December 31, 2023 318,986 44,462 82,895 – 446,343

Financing cash flows (11,378) (34,540) (7,020) 39,968 (12,970)
Non-cash changes:
 New leases entered – 26,548 – – 26,548
 Derecognised bills receivables
  discounted to banks (note 18) – – – (40,000) (40,000)
 Waiver from a vendor – – (4,639) – (4,639)
 Foreign exchange translation – – 878 – 878
 Finance costs 10,592 1,303 3,240 32 15,167

     

At December 31, 2024 318,200 37,773 75,354 – 431,327
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35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

General information of subsidiaries

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are set out below:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
operations

Issued and fully paid share
capital/registered capital

Shareholding/equity interest
attributable to the Company Principal activities

2024 2023

Directly held
CStone HK Hong Kong Issued and paid-up capital of HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding and 

Commercialisation

CStone Australia Australia Registered and paid-up capital
 of AUD19,000,000

100% 100% Research and development

CStone Pharmaceuticals
 Corporation

USA Registered and paid-up capital of USD1 100% 100% Investment holding

CStone Pharmaceuticals
 Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Singapore Registered capital of USD1
 and paid-up capital of nil

100% 100% Investment holding

CStone Medicine (BVI) Limited BVI Nil 100% 100% Investment holding

台灣基石藥業有限公司 Taiwan Registered and paid-up capital
 of TWD55,990,000

100% 100% Commercialisation

Indirectly held:
CStone Suzhou The PRC (note) Registered and paid-up capital

 of USD197,761,000
100% 100% Research and development 

and Commercialisation

拓石藥業(上海)有限公司 The PRC (note) Registered capital of RMB24,080,000
 and paid-up capital of RMB24,012,000

100% 100% Research and development

創石(北京)醫藥科技有限公司 The PRC (note) Registered capital of RMB10,000,000
 and paid-up capital of RMB1,050,000

100% 100% Research and development

申石生物醫藥(上海)有限公司 The PRC (note) Registered and paid-up capital
 of USD20,000,000

100% 100% Commercialisation

樂石生物醫藥(海南)有限公司 The PRC (note) Registered capital of USD10,000,000
 and paid-up capital of USD1,000,000

100% 100% Commercialisation

基石藥業商貿(蘇州)有限公司 The PRC (note) Registered capital of RMB10,000,000
 and paid-up capital of RMB500,000

100% 100% Commercialisation

CStone Pharmaceuticals 
 Ireland Limited

Ireland Registered capital of EUR1 100% N/A Commercialisation

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of both years.

Note:  CStone Suzhou, 申石生物醫藥(上海)有限公司 and 樂石生物醫藥(海南)有限公司 are foreign invested limited liability companies. 拓石
藥業(上海)有限公司, 創石(北京)醫藥科技有限公司 and 基石藥業商貿(蘇州)有限公司 are domestic owned limited liability companies.
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 279,196 283,673
Financial assets measured at FVTPL 4,868 3,541
Intangible assets 151,943 162,761

436,007 449,975

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 152,844 517,105
Inventories 32,230 –
Other receivables 3,758 23,825
Cash and cash equivalents 82,938 153,493

271,770 694,423

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued expenses 87,712 120,142
Amounts due to subsidiaries 114,336 205,816
Account payables 53,361 –

255,409 325,958

Net current assets 16,361 368,465

Total assets less current liabilities 452,368 818,440

Non-current liabilities
Account payables – 50,325
Borrowings 50,000 –

Net assets 402,368 768,115

Capital and reserves
Share capital 860 860
Reserves 401,508 767,255

Total equity 402,368 768,115
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The movement of the reserves of the Company is as follows:

Treasury Share-based
Share Other shares held in payment Accumulated

premium reserves the trust reserve losses Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At January 1, 2023 8,627,932 67,232 (2) 568,097 (2,884,422) 6,378,837
Loss and total comprehensive
 expense for the year – – – – (5,987,032) (5,987,032)
Restricted stock units exercised
 under the trust (note 28) 23,045 6 (6) (23,045) – –
Recognition of equity-settled
 share-based payment (note 29) – – – 36,993 – 36,993
Exercise of share options (note 29) 3,419 – – (3,025) – 394
Issue of ordinary shares (note 28) 338,063 – – – – 338,063

At December 31, 2023 8,992,459 67,238 (8) 579,020 (8,871,454) 767,255

Loss and total comprehensive
 expense for the year – – – – (363,010) (363,010)
Restricted stock units exercised
 under the trust (note 28) 10,870 (1) 1 (10,870) – –
Recognition of equity-settled
 share-based payment (note 29) – – – (2,811) – (2,811)
Exercise of share options (note 29) 630 – – (556) – 74

      

At December 31, 2024 9,003,959 67,237 (7) 564,783 (9,234,464) 401,508
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In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms have the following meanings. These 
terms and their definitions may not correspond to any industry standard definitions, and may not be directly 
comparable to similarly titled terms adopted by other companies operating in the same industries as our 
Company.

“AGM” means annual general meeting of the Company

“Amendment Date” means March 7, 2023, being the date on which the amendments of the Post-
IPO ESOP and the Post-IPO RSU Scheme are conditionally approved by 
resolutions of the Company in its general meeting

“Articles” or  
“Articles of Association”

means the sixth amended and restated articles of association of the Company 
adopted on June 18, 2024 with effect from Listing, as amended, 
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee of the Board

“Board”, “our Board” or 
“Board of Directors”

means the board of Directors

“Board Committees” means the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Compensation 
Committee, the Strategy Committee and the Investment Committee

“CAGR” means compound annual growth rate

“CEO” means chief executive officer of the Company

“CG Code” means the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing 
Rules

“Chairman” means the chairman of the Board

“China” or “PRC” means the People’s Republic of China, for the purposes of this report only, 
excluding Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Region and 
Taiwan

“Companies Ordinance” means the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as 
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Company”, “CStone” or  
“our Company”

means CStone Pharmaceuticals (stock code: 2616), an exempted company with 
limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 
December 2, 2015, the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of 
the Stock Exchange

“Compensation Committee” means the compensation committee of the Board
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“Consolidated Financial 
Statements”

means the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group

“Corporate Governance 
Report”

means the corporate governance report of the Group for the year ended 
December 31, 2024

“CRO(s)” means contract research organization, a company that provides support to the 
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and medical device industries in the 
form of research services outsourced on a contract basis

“CStone Suzhou” means CStone Pharmaceuticals (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (基石藥業(蘇州)有限公司), a 
company established under the laws of the PRC on April 21, 2016 and 
one of the Company’s subsidiaries

“CTA” means clinical trial agreement

“Director(s)” means the director(s) of our Company

“GIST” means gastrointestinal stromal tumor, a type of tumor that occurs in the 
gastrointestinal tract, most commonly in the stomach or small intestine

“Global Offering” means the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the 
Shares

“Group”, “our Group”, 
“the Group”, “we”, “us”, 
or “our”

means the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

“HCC” means hepatocellular carcinoma, a type of cancer arising from hepatocytes in 
predominantly cirrhotic liver

“HKD” or “HK$” or 
“HK dollars”

means Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong” or “HK” means the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“IND” means investigational new drug or investigational new drug application, also 
known as clinical trial application in China or clinical trial notification in 
Australia

“Independent Auditor” 
or “Deloitte”

means Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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“INED(s)” means the independent non-executive Director(s)

“Investment Committee” means the investment committee of the Board

“IO” means immuno-oncology

“IPO” means the initial public offering of the Company on the Stock Exchange

“Listing” means the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

“Listing Date” means February 26, 2019, being the date on which the Shares were listed on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

“Listing Rules” means the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified 
from time to time

“Main Board” means the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the 
Stock Exchange, which is independent from and operated in parallel 
with the GEM of the Stock Exchange. For the avoidance of doubt, the 
Main Board excludes the GEM

“Memorandum” or 
“Memorandum of 
Association”

means the sixth amended and restated memorandum of association of the 
Company adopted on June 18, 2024, as amended, supplemented or 
otherwise modified from time to time

“Model Code” means the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

“NDA” means new drug application

“NMPA” means National Medical Products Administration (國家藥品監督管理局) and its 
predecessor, the China Food and Drug Administration (國家食品藥品監
督管理總局)

“Nomination Committee” means the nomination committee of the Board

“Pfizer” means Pfizer Inc., a company incorporated in Delaware and listed on the New 
York Stock Exchange (NYSE: PFE)

“Pfizer Corporation” means Pfizer Corporation Hong Kong Limited, a company incorporated in 
Hong Kong with limited liability, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Pfizer

“Post-IPO ESOP” means the Company’s post-IPO employee share option plan
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“Post-IPO RSU Scheme” means the Company’s post-IPO restricted share award scheme

“Preferred Share(s)” means preferred share(s) in the share capital of the Company prior to the 
Listing

“Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan” means the Company’s pre-IPO employee equity plan

“Prospectus” means the prospectus of the Company, dated February 14, 2019, in relation 
to the Global Offering

“Reporting Period” means the one-year period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024

“RET” means rearranged during transfection

“RMB” or “Renminbi” means Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of China

“RSU(s)” means restricted share unit(s)

“Securities Transactions 
Code”

means the code of conduct of the Company regarding Directors’ securities 
transactions, namely the Pol icy on Management of Securit ies 
Transactions by Directors

“SFO” means the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to 
time

“Share(s)” means ordinary share(s) of US$0.0001 each in the issued share capital of our 
Company

“Share Incentivization 
Schemes”

means the Pre-IPO Incentivization Plan, Post-IPO ESOP and Post-IPO RSU 
Scheme

“Shareholder(s)” means holder(s) of Shares

“SM” means systemic mastocytosis, a form of mastocytosis, in which mast cells 
accumulate in internal tissues and organs such as the liver, spleen, 
bone marrow, and small intestines

“Stock Exchange” means The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Strategy Committee” means the strategy committee of the Board

“treasury Share(s)” means has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules



CSTONE PHARMACEUTICALS176

De�nitions

“U.S.” means United States of America

“U.S. FDA” or “FDA” means U.S. Food and Drug Administration

“USD” or “US$” or 
“US dollars”

means United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of 
America

“%” means per cent.

In this report, unless otherwise indicated, the terms “associate”, “associated corporation”, “connected 
person”, “controlling shareholder”, “subsidiary” and “substantial shareholder” shall have the meanings 
given to such terms in the Listing Rules.
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